Preventing Infection in Total Knee Arthroplasty

Intraosseous Administration of Prophylactic Antibiotics

Simon W Young

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Medicine

The University of Auckland

June 2017

This thesis is for examination purposes only and is confidential to

the examination process

Abstract

Aims

The aim of the research underpinning this thesis was to investigate the use of prophylactic antibiotics by intraosseous regional administration (IORA) in total knee arthroplasty (TKA) patients . The research aimed to identify which organisms cause periprosthetic joint infection (PJI), the relative importance of PJI as a failure mechanism in TKA, compared the tissue concentrations of cefazolin and vancomycin achieved via the IORA route versus systemic administration in primary and revision TKA, and whether IORA provides more effective prophylaxis in a murine model of TKA.

Methods

Six studies are presented. Two studies retrospectively reviewed patients who underwent TKA across three public hospitals in Auckland to identify the mechanisms of TKA failure and the causative organisms in PJI. Three prospective randomised clinical trials compared tissue concentrations of cefazolin and vancomycin achieved with IORA versus systemic administration in both primary and revision TKA. Antibiotic prophylaxis by IORA is given as a bolus injection into a tibial intraosseous cannula below an inflated thigh tourniquet, immediately before skin incision. Subcutaneous fat and bone samples were taken during the procedure and antibiotic concentrations were measured using high-performance liquid chromatography. Finally, the effectiveness of antibiotic prophylaxis delivered by IORA was investigated in a mouse model of TKA.

Findings

The most common reason for revision following TKA over 15 years was PJI, and the most common infecting organisms were coagulase-negative staphylococci (CoNS). Ninety-two percent of CoNS strains were resistant to cefazolin, the antibiotic typically used for prophylaxis in TKA. The mean tissue concentrations of antibiotics in subcutaneous fat and bone were 4–10 times higher with IORA than with systemic administration in both primary and revision TKA. These differences were consistent across all sample time points. In the murine model of TKA, vancomycin delivered via IORA afforded the most effective prophylaxis against PJI.

Conclusions

PJI is the dominant cause of failure in modern TKA, and most infections are caused by bacteria resistant to commonly used prophylactic agents. When antibiotic prophylaxis is delivered via IORA, markedly higher tissue antibiotic concentrations are achieved. IORA has the potential to enhance the effectiveness of prophylaxis to prevent PJI in TKA.

Dedication

For Maria, Emi, and Clara

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Irene Zeng for her superb assistance with the statistical analysis and Grant Moore and Mei Zhang for their tireless analysis of the laboratory data. I also thank the Centre for Clinical Research and effective practice (CCRep) and Te Whanau Awhina Charitable Trust for their funding support and Vidicare (San Antonio, TX, USA) for supplying the intraosseous needles and support without charge for all the studies included in this thesis and its funding support for the revision TKA study.

I am profoundly grateful to my supervisor, Rocco Pitto, who first encouraged my interest in this research topic, and to my colleagues who assisted with the studies, including John Mutu-Grigg, Paul Pavlou, and Brendan Coleman. I also thank Mark Clatworthy and Andrew Williams, two dedicated surgeons whom I worked for as a junior doctor and who inspired me to choose knee surgery as a speciality.

I would particularly like to acknowledge Kelly Vince, whose encouragement when I suggested the idea of IORA provided the impetus for the first study in this thesis, and whose generous invitation to a closed meeting of the North American Knee Society provided the inspiration to further the project. I am also grateful to Mark Spangehl and Henry Clarke at the Mayo Clinic for agreeing to a rather unlikely project before I had even arrived for my fellowship and for driving it forward.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents Anthony and Carol for their love and support, and my wife Maria and children Emilia and Clara, who forgave the hours needed to complete this project, and to whom it is dedicated.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Dedication	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	viii
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xiii
Abbreviations	xiv
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Deep infection in arthroplasty	
1.1.1 Classification of deep infection	
1.1.2 Origin of deep infection	
1.2 Intraoperative contamination	<u>م</u>
1.2 Decrement of the second se	
1.3 Prevention of deep infection	0 7
1.3.1 Reducing containination	
1.4 Effectiveness of prophylactic antibiotics	······9
1.4.1 Choice of prophylactic antibiotic merapy	
1.4.2 Thinling of antibiotic prophylaxis	10
1.4.5 Duration of antibiotic prophylaxis	14
1.5 Improving the effectiveness of prophylactic antibiotics	10
1.5.1 Tissue antibiotic concentrations	
1.5.2 Problem of increasing antibiotic resistance	
1.6 Regional administration of antibiotic prophylaxis	
1.6.1 Studies of intravenous regional antibiotic prophylaxis	
1.6.2 Potential advantages of regional administration	
1.6.3 Regional prophylaxis via the intraosseous route	
1.0.4 Safety of the intraosseous route	
1.0.5 Fat embolus following intraosseous injection	
1.7 Study aims	
1.8 Thesis structure	
Chapter 2 Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional proph total know onthronlosty	ylaxis in
2 1 Profess	
	······································
2.2 Higher cetazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxi	IS IN TKA30
2.2.1 Three page	
2.2.2 AUSUAU	
2.2.3 Introduction	
2.2.4 I auchis and memous	
2.2.5 Results	
	······································

2.2.7 Acknowledgments	46
2.3 Discussion of article	47
2.3.1 Contribution and significance	47
2.3.2 Effect of high cefazolin concentrations on efficacy	48
2.3.3 Antibiotic resistance	51
Chapter 3 Antibiotic resistance in early periprosthetic joint infection in the Aucklan	nd
region and its implications for prophylaxis	52
3.1 Introduction	52
3.2 Methods	53
3.3 Results	55
3.4 Discussion	58
3.4.1 Contribution and significance	58
3.4.2 Limitations	59
3.4.3 Implications for prophylaxis	60
3.4.4 Tissue concentrations of vancomycin and bacterial killing	61
3.4.5 Problems with systemic vancomycin prophylaxis	63
3.4.6 Vancomycin prophylaxis using IORA	65
Chapter 4 Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous	
regional versus systemic prophylaxis in total knee arthroplasty	66
4.1 Preface	66
4.2 Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous region	ıal
versus systemic prophylaxis in TKA	67
4.2.1 Title page	67
4.2.2 Abstract	68
4.2.3 Introduction	70
4.2.4 Patients and methods	71
4.2.5 Results	78
4.2.6 Discussion	83
4.2.7 Acknowledgments	88
4.3 Discussion of article	88
4.3.1 Contribution and significance	88
4.3.2 Vancomycin and red man syndrome	88
4.3.3 Efficacy of vancomycin administered by IORA	89
Chapter 5 Regional intraosseous administration of prophylactic antibiotics is more	
effective than systemic administration in a mouse model of TKA	92
5.1 Preface	92
5.2 Published article	92
5.2.1 Title page	92
5.2.2 Abstract	94
5.2.3 Introduction	95
5.2.4 Materials and methods	97
5.2.5 Kesults	105
5.2.6 Discussion	113
5.2./ Acknowledgements	117
5.3 Discussion of article	117
5.3.1 Contribution and significance	117

5.3.2 Relationship to clinical practice and potential negatives of IORA antibiotic	c
prophylaxis in TKA	
5.3.2.1 Needle cost	
5.3.2.2 Additional tourniquet time	
5.3.2.3 Potential complications	
5.3.2.4 Vancomycin resistance and antibiotic stewardship	
5.5.5 Selective use of IORA	
Chapter 6 Importance of periprosthetic joint infection as a failure mechanism modern knee arthroplasty	i in 123
6.1 Introduction	
6.2 Methods	
6.3 Results	
6.4 Discussion	
6.4.1 Contribution and significance	
6.4.2 Limitations	136
6.4.3 Importance of PJI as a failure mechanism	137
6.4.4 Importance of prophylaxis	139
6.4.5 Conclusion	
Chapter 7 Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with intraosseous region	onal
prophylaxis in revision TKA: a randomised trial	
7.1 Preface	
7.2 Manuscript in Press	141
7.2 Manuscript in Press	 141 141
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 	 141 141 142
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Matheda 	141 141 142 144
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Pagulta 	141 141 142 144 145 151
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 	141 141 142 144 145 151 154
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 	141 141 142 144 145 151 154
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 7.3 Discussion 7.3 1 Contribution and significance 	141 141 142 144 151 154 159 159
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 7.3 Discussion 7.3.1 Contribution and significance 7.3.2 Further antibiotic doses 	141 141 142 144 151 154 159 159 160
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract. 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 7.3 Discussion 7.3.1 Contribution and significance. 7.3.2 Further antibiotic doses 	141 142142144145151154 159 159160 162
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 7.3 Discussion 7.3.1 Contribution and significance 7.3.2 Further antibiotic doses 	
 7.2 Manuscript in Press	
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 7.3 Discussion 7.3.1 Contribution and significance 7.3.2 Further antibiotic doses Chapter 8 Conclusion 8.1 Summary 8.2 Contribution of this thesis 8.3 Pacagnitian of the work in this thesis 	
 7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 7.3 Discussion 7.3.1 Contribution and significance 7.3.2 Further antibiotic doses Chapter 8 Conclusion 8.1 Summary 8.2 Contribution of this thesis 8.3 Recognition of the work in this thesis 	
 7.2 Manuscript in Press	141 141 142 144 145 151 154 159 160 162 162 162 162 162 162 162 162 164
7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 7.3 Discussion 7.3.1 Contribution and significance 7.3.2 Further antibiotic doses Chapter 8 Conclusion 8.1 Summary 8.2 Contribution of this thesis 8.3 Recognition of the work in this thesis 8.4 Future directions References	141 142 144 145 151 154 159 160 162 162 162 162 164 164
7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 7.3 Discussion 7.3.1 Contribution and significance 7.3.2 Further antibiotic doses Chapter 8 Conclusion 8.1 Summary 8.2 Contribution of this thesis 8.3 Recognition of the work in this thesis 8.4 Future directions 8.4 Future directions References Appendix 1 ICD-9 and ICD-10 procedure codes searched in Chapter 2	141 142 144 145 151 154 159 160 162 162 162 162 162 164 196
7.2 Manuscript in Press 7.2.1 Title page 7.2.2 Abstract 7.2.3 Introduction 7.2.4 Methods 7.2.5 Results 7.2.6 Discussion 7.3 Discussion 7.3.1 Contribution and significance 7.3.2 Further antibiotic doses Chapter 8 Conclusion 8.1 Summary 8.2 Contribution of this thesis 8.3 Recognition of the work in this thesis 8.4 Future directions References Appendix 1 ICD-9 and ICD-10 procedure codes searched in Chapter 2 Appendix 2 Editorial by Charalampos G. Zalavras MD, PhD 'CORR Insights	141 141 142 144 145 151 154 159 159 160 162 162 162 162 164 196 '

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 <i>Projected number of revision total hip and knee arthroplasties in the USA fr</i> 2005 to 2030.	<i>om</i> 1
Figure 1.2 The risk of postoperative infection can be conceptualised as a balance betwee number of bacteria contaminating the surgical site and the ability of the host to eradicat them	en the te 6
Figure 1.3 Surgical wound infection rate according to the temporal relationship betwee prophylactic antibiotic administration and start of surgery	n 11
Figure 1.4 <i>Risk of surgical site infection based on timing of the perioperative antibiotic (omitting vancomycin and fluoroquinolones).</i>	<i>dose</i> 12
Figure 1.5 Association between timing of administration of prophylaxis and incidence of following total hip arthroplasty.	f SSI 13
Figure 1.6 The 'Bier's block' technique used to provide anaesthesia to a limb	19
Figure 2.1 Tissue concentrations of cefazolin in subcutaneous fat for each sample	42
Figure 2.2 Tissue concentrations of cefazolin in femoral bone for each sample	42
Figure 2.3 <i>Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of antibiotics on a concentration time curve and the three parameters (circled) associated with bacterial killing</i>	<i>versus</i> 49
Figure 3.1 Flow chart showing the number of cases enrolled after the exclusion criteria applied	<i>were</i> 54
Figure 4.1 (A) Insertion of the intraosseous needle using a sterilised driver and (B) the needle in situ allowing injection of the antibiotic after tourniquet inflation and prior to s incision.	kin 75
Figure 4.2 Tissue concentrations of vancomycin in subcutaneous fat at each sample point	nt 79
Figure 4.3 Tissue concentrations of vancomycin in bone at each sample point	80
Figure 4.4 Loess graph showing the systemic blood concentrations of vancomycin with predicted confidence intervals in the three intervention groups	81
Figure 4.5 Placement of K-wire implant	91
Figure 5.1 Schematic of the experimental design used in this study	99
Figure 5.2 Bioluminescence from Staphylococcus aureus Xen36 was assessed after surg anesthetised animals.	ery in 103
Figure 5.3 <i>Quantification of bioluminescence from Staphylococcus aureus Xen36 in anesthetised animals after surgery.</i>	103
Figure 5.4 Area under the curve values (summation during entire test period) from bioluminescent signals obtained throughout the experiment	104
Figure 5.5 Quantification of viable Staphylococcus aureus Xen36 after surgery	111
Figure 5.6 Effect of route used to deliver antibiotic prophylaxis on survival of Staphyloc aureus Xen36.	<i>coccus</i> 113
Figure 6.1 Cumulative incidence of death and revision total knee arthroplasty.	128

Figure 6.2 Cumulative incidence of the five most common reasons for revision total knee arthroplasty	. 133
Figure 6.3 Annual incidence of periprosthetic joint infection against aseptic loosening an polyethylene wear	d 134
Figure 7.1 Intraosseous injection performed after tourniquet inflation.	147
Figure 7.2 Scatterplots showing concentration of vancomycin	153
Figure 7.3 <i>Graph showing the intra-articular concentration of vancomycin in drain fluid drawn the morning following surgery.</i>	. 154

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Papers investigating regional administration of prophylactic antibiotics in TKA35
Table 2.2 Patient demographic and procedural characteristics 37
Table 2.3 Mean tissue concentrations of cefazolin at each sample point
Table 3.1 Patient demographic and clinical characteristics 56
Table 3.2 Microbiological findings 57
Table 3.3 Susceptibility of organisms to cefazolin (n=38) 58
Table 3.4 Pharmacodynamic parameters and correlation with clinical efficacy and bacterial eradication. 63
Table 4.1 Patient demographic characteristics 72
Table 4.2 Mean tissue concentrations of vancomycin at each sample point
Table 4.3 Median systemic blood concentrations of vancomycin at each sample point. 82
Table 5.1 Bioluminescence in Staphylococcus aureus bacteria exposed or not to antibiotics on postoperative day 1 107
Table 5.2 Bioluminescence in Staphylococcus aureus bacteria exposed or not to antibiotics on postoperative day 4 108
Table 5.3 Bioluminescence in Staphylococcus aureus bacteria exposed or not to antibiotics: area under the curve values over 4 days. 109
Table 5.4 Colony-forming units of <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> bacteria exposed or not toantibiotics recovered from implant 4 days postoperatively110
Table 5.5 Colony-forming units of <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> bacteria exposed or not toantibiotics recovered from periprosthetic tissue 4 days postoperatively112
Table 6.1 Demographic and clinical data for primary TKA patients and those who underwentsubsequent revision TKA
Table 6.2 Incidence of revision total knee arthroplasty and mortality rate
Table 6.3 Adjusted cumulative incidence (%) of reasons for revision total knee arthroplastyduring 15 years of follow-up
Table 7.1 Patient demographic and clinical data
Table 7.2 Mean tissue concentrations of vancomycin at each sample point

Abbreviations

- ASA American Society of Anesthesiologists
- AUC area under the concentration-time curve
- BMI body mass index
- CFU colony forming units
- CI confidence interval
- Cmax maximum serum concentration
- CoNS coagulase-negative staphylococci
- CTD connective tissue disease
- CV coefficient of variation
- HPLC high-performance liquid chromatography
- IORA intraosseous regional administration
- IV intravenous
- IVRA intravenous regional administration
- LS-MS/MS liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry
- MIC minimum inhibitory concentration
- MRSA methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
- MSSA methicillin-sensitive Staphylococcus aureus
- NZJR New Zealand Joint Registry
- PJI periprosthetic joint infection
- RCT randomised controlled trial
- SD standard deviation
- THA total hip arthroplasty
- TKA total knee arthroplasty
- VRE vancomycin-resistant enterococci



Co-AATAHthership Form

Graduate Centre Graduate Centre 22 Princes Street, Auckland Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 81321 Fax: +64 9 373 7610 Email: postgraduate@auckland.ac.nz

This form is to accompany the submission of any PhD that contains published or unpublished co-authored work. **Please include one copy of this form for each co-authored work**. Completed forms should be included in all copies of your thesis submitted for examination and library deposit (including digital deposit), following your thesis Acknowledgements. Co-authored works may be included in a thesis if the candidate has written all or the majority of the text and had their contribution confirmed by all co-authors as not less than 65%.

Please indicate the chapter/section/pages of this thesis that are extracted from a co-authored work and give the title Please indicate the chapter/section/pages of slib thesis that are extracted from a co-authored work and give the title and publication details or details of submission of the co-authored work.

Chapter 2 - Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA', published in 2013 in Chapter 2 - Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA', published in 2013 in Chapter 2 - Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA', published in 2013 in Chapter 2 - Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA', published in 2013 in Chapter 2 - Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA', published in 2013 in Chapter 2 - Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA', published in 2013 in Chapter 2 - Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA', published in 2013 in Chapter 2 - Higher 2 -

Nature by PhD	Nature of contribution of contribution by PhD candidateConcer candidate	First and Lead author, Concept and Study design, protocol development, conduct of clinical transferred study design, protocol development, conduct of clinical trial, data analysis, trial, data analysis, manuscript preparation
Extent by PhD	Extent of contribution of contribution by Philip candidates (%)	80%

<u>CO-A</u>	CO-AUTHORS			
	Name Name	Nature of Contribution		
Mei Zh	Mei Zhang ang Sampl	Sample processing and analysis, manuscript review		
Brenda	Brendan Coleman n Coleman Protoc	Protocol review, conduct of clincial trial, manuscript review		
Kelly V	Kelly Vince	Protocol review, Manuscript review		
, Joshua	Joshua Freeman Freeman Protoc	Protocol review, Manuscript review		

Certification by Co-Authors

The undersigned hereby certify that:

- the above statement correctly reflects the nature and extent of the PhD candidate's contribution to this work, and the nature of the contribution of each of the co-authors; and
- that the candidate wrote all or the majority of the text.

	Name Name	Signature Signature	Date Date
Mei Zh	ang Zhang	Mei zhe J	22 June 2017
Brenda	n BCeledaa rColeman	Ba	22 June 2017
Mei Zh	akteglly Vince	(aph-	26 June 2017
Joshua	BoostmarFreeman	Areman	26 June 2017
Kelly V	ince		
Brenda	n Coleman		



Co-Authorship Form

Graduate Centre The ClockTower – East Wing 22 Princes Street, Auckland Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 81321 Fax: +64 9 373 7610 Email: postgraduate@auckland.ac.nz www.postgrad.auckland.ac.nz

This form is to accompany the submission of any PhD that contains published or unpublished co-authored work. **Please include one copy of this form for each co-authored work**. Completed forms should be included in all copies of your thesis submitted for examination and library deposit (including digital deposit), following your thesis Acknowledgements. Co-authored works may be included in a thesis if the candidate has written all or the majority of the text and had their contribution confirmed by all co-authors as not less than 65%.

Please indicate the chapter/section/pages of this thesis that are extracted from a co-authored work and give the title and publication details or details of submission of the co-authored work.

Chapter 3 - 'Antibiotic resistance in early periprosthetic joint infection in the Auckland region and its implications for prophylaxis', aspects of which are presented in an article entitled 'Antibiotic Resistance in Early Periprosthetic Joint Infection' by Ravi S, Zhu M, Luey C, and Young SW and published in the Australian and New Zealand Journal of Surgery in December 2016 (volume 12, pp 1014–1018) Note the % contribution below relates to the published article rather than the thesis chapter.

Nature of contribution by PhD candidate	Senior ar manuscri	Senior and lead author, concept and Study design, protocol development, data analysis, manuscript preparation	
Extent of contribution by PhD candidate (%)	40%		

CO-AUTHORS

Name	Nature of Contribution	
Saiprasad Ravi	First author, Data collection and analysis, manuscript preparation	
Mark Zhu	Protocol review, data analysis, manuscript review	
Christopher Luey	Sample processing and analysis, manuscript review	

Certification by Co-Authors

The undersigned hereby certify that:

- the above statement correctly reflects the nature and extent of the PhD candidate's contribution to this work, and the nature of the contribution of each of the co-authors; and
- that the candidate wrote all or the majority of the text.

Name	Signature	Date
Saiprasad Ravi	Man	26 June 2017
Mark Zhu	ite	25 June 2017
Christopher Luey	C. huy	27 June 2017



Co-Authorship Form

Graduate Centre The ClockTower – East Wing 22 Princes Street, Auckland Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 81321 Fax: +64 9 373 7610 Email: postgraduate@auckland.ac.nz www.postgrad.auckland.ac.nz

This form is to accompany the submission of any PhD that contains published or unpublished co-authored work. **Please include one copy of this form for each co-authored work**. Completed forms should be included in all copies of your thesis submitted for examination and library deposit (including digital deposit), following your thesis Acknowledgements. Co-authored works may be included in a thesis if the candidate has written all or the majority of the text and had their contribution confirmed by all co-authors as not less than 65%.

Please indicate the chapter/section/pages of this thesis that are extracted from a co-authored work and give the title and publication details or details of submission of the co-authored work.

Chapter 4 - 'Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous regional versus systemic prophylaxis in total knee arthroplasty'. This chapter contains a modified version of an article entitled 'The Mark Coventry Award: Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous regional versus systemic prophylaxis in TKA' published in 2014 in Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research (volume 472, pages 57–65). published in 2013 in Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research (volume 471, pages 244–249).

 Nature of contribution by PhD candidate
 First and Lead author, Concept and Study design, protocol development, conduct of clinical trial, data analysis, manuscript preparation

 Extent of contribution by PhD candidate (%)
 80%

CO-AUTHORS

Name	Nature of Contribution
John Mutu-Grigg	Conduct of Clinicial trial, manuscript review
Paul Pavlou	Conduct of clincial trial, manuscript review
Mei Zhang	Sample processing and analysis, manuscript review
Joshua Freeman	Protocol review, Manuscript review
Grant Moore	Sample processing and analysis, manuscript review

Certification by Co-Authors

The undersigned hereby certify that:

- the above statement correctly reflects the nature and extent of the PhD candidate's contribution to this work, and the nature of the contribution of each of the co-authors; and
- that the candidate wrote all or the majority of the text.

Name	Signature	Date
John Mutu-Grigg	Sollar &	22-June-2017
Paul Pavlou	7.2	25-June-2017
Mei Zhang	Mei Zhang	22 June 2017
Joshua Freeman	Freeman	26 June 2017
Grant Moore	Sembore	26 June 2017

Last updated: 19 October 2015



Co-Authorthopshophorm

Graduate Ce**ûtra**duate Centre The ClockTower – East Wing 22 Princes Street, Auckland Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 81321 Fax: +64 9 373 7610 Email: postgr**āduaite@sigktatuāte@a**uckland.ac.nz

This form is to accompany the submission of any PhD that contains published or unpublished co-authored work. **Please include one copy of this form for each co-authored work**. Completed forms should be included in all copies of your thesis submitted for examination and library deposit (including digital deposit), following your thesis Acknowledgements. Co-authored works may be included in a thesis if the candidate has written all or the majority of the text and had their contribution confirmed by all co-authors as not less than 65%.

Please indicate indicate the sector for the sector of the sister of the sector of the

CO-A	LITHOPS		
	by PhD candidate (%)	0370	
by PhD	Externate (Sentribution	65%	
Extent	of contribution	developm	ent, data analysis, manuscript preparation
	by PhD candidate	"Hirst and	ead author, concept and study design, funding application, protocol
by PhL	Nature of contribution	cript prepar	ation
Nature	ዋኯ6ፀetroputka publisher	higr2035.in	Clinical Orthopaedics and Belated Research (volume 423, pages 3573-3584).
	intraosseous administra	tion of prop	phylactic antibiotics is more effective than systemic administration in a mouse
Clinica	I Offhopisefficio and Related	a Résearch	(Voluments f, pages 2211 args) modified version of an article entitled Regional
Chapte	r 2 ¹ ª Pligher celazuin doll	teanstons	

CO-/	AUT	HO	RS	

	CO-AUTHORS		
	Name Name		Nature of Contribution Nature of Contribution
Mei Zh	and Roberts S	Sample	Protossing and analysis conduction and the state of the second se
Brenda	n G Galagian Wiles F	rotoco	။ Pevievology version of the second states and second s
Kelly V	Sarah Johnson	rotoco	l review, Manuscript review Sample processing and analysis, manuscript review
Joshua	Freeman James Dalton	rotoco	Protocol review, Conduct of experiments, manuscript review
	Brendan Coleman		Protocol review, manuscript review

Certification by Co-Authors

The undersigned hereby certify that:

- the above statement correctly reflects the nature and extent of the PhD candidate's contribution to this work, and the nature of the contribution of each of the co-authors; and
- that the candidate wrote all or the majority of the text.

	Name Name	Signature	Date Date
Mei Zh	alīgn Roberts	Junkabents.	23-Jun 2017
Brenda	ar B Cehetaa r Coleman	Ba	22-Jun 2017
Mei Zh	aĥguxsie Wiles	C .	24-Jun-17
Joshua	Bæneræ⊅alton	joes seller	22-Jun-17
Kelly V	íi®ærah Johnson	S	21-Jun-17

Brendan Coleman



Co-Authorship Form

Graduate Centre The ClockTower – East Wing 22 Princes Street, Auckland Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 81321 Fax: +64 9 373 7610 Email: postgraduate@auckland.ac.nz www.postgrad.auckland.ac.nz

This form is to accompany the submission of any PhD that contains published or unpublished co-authored work. **Please include one copy of this form for each co-authored work**. Completed forms should be included in all copies of your thesis submitted for examination and library deposit (including digital deposit), following your thesis Acknowledgements. Co-authored works may be included in a thesis if the candidate has written all or the majority of the text and had their contribution confirmed by all co-authors as not less than 65%.

Please indicate the chapter/section/pages of this thesis that are extracted from a co-authored work and give the title and publication details or details of submission of the co-authored work.

Chapter 6 - 'The importance of periprosthetic joint infection as a failure mechanism in modern knee arthroplasty ', aspects of which are presented in an article entitled 'Periprosthetic joint infection is the main cause of failure of modern knee arthroplasty: an analysis of 11,134 knees' published in Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research in June 2017. Note the % contribution below relates to the published article rather than the thesis chapter.

 Nature of contribution by PhD candidate
 Senior and lead author, concept and study design, protocol development, data analysis, manuscript preparation

 Extent of contribution by PhD candidate
 45%

by PhD candidate (%)

CO-AUTHORS

Name	Nature of Contribution	
Chuan Kong Koh	Data collection and analysis, manuscript preparation, first author	
Irene Zeng	Statistical analysis	
Kelly Vince	Protocol review, Manuscript review	
Mark Zhu	Protocol review, Manuscript review	
Saiprasad Ravi	Data collection and analysis, manuscript review	

Certification by Co-Authors

The undersigned hereby certify that:

 the above statement correctly reflects the nature and extent of the PhD candidate's contribution to this work, and the nature of the contribution of each of the co-authors; and

that the candidate wrote all or the majority of the text.

Name	Signature	Date
Chuan Kong Koh	Ry	25 June 2017
Irene Zeng	Suilonlong	26 June 2017
Kelly Vince	(a.n_	26 June 2017
Mark Zhu	it.	25 June 2017
Saiprasad Ravi	Mm	26 June 2017



Co-Authorship Form

Graduate Centre The ClockTower – East Wing 22 Princes Street, Auckland Phone: +64 9 373 7599 ext 81321 Fax: +64 9 373 7610 Email: postgraduate@auckland.ac.nz www.postgrad.auckland.ac.nz

This form is to accompany the submission of any PhD that contains published or unpublished co-authored work. **Please include one copy of this form for each co-authored work**. Completed forms should be included in all copies of your thesis submitted for examination and library deposit (including digital deposit), following your thesis Acknowledgements. Co-authored works may be included in a thesis if the candidate has written all or the majority of the text and had their contribution confirmed by all co-authors as not less than 65%.

Please indicate the chapter/section/pages of this thesis that are extracted from a co-authored work and give the title and publication details or details of submission of the co-authored work.

Chapter 7 'Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in revision TKA: a randomized trial.' contains a reproduction of an article entitled 'The John Insall Award: Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in revision TKA - a randomized trial', accepted for publication in Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research in June 2017.

Nature of contribution by PhD candidate	Frist and lead author, concept and Study design, funding application, protocol development, conduct of clinical trial, data analysis, manuscript preparation
Extent of contribution by PhD candidate (%)	65%

CO-AUTHORS

Name	Nature of Contribution	
Mark Spangehl	Protocol development, funding app, conduct of clinicial trial, manuscript review	
Henry Clarke	Protocol development, funding app, conduct of clinicial trial, manuscript review	
Mei Zhang	Sample processing and analysis, manuscript review	
Rocco Pitto	Protocol review, Manuscript review	
Grant Moore	Sample processing and analysis, manuscript review	

Certification by Co-Authors

The undersigned hereby certify that:

the above statement correctly reflects the nature and extent of the PhD candidate's contribution to this work, and the nature of the contribution of each of the co-authors; and

that the candidate wrote all or the majority of the text.

Name	Signature	Date
Mark Spangehl	MAA	21 June 2017
Henry Clarke	Ha V-Cle	21 June 2017
Mei Zhang	Mei Zhe J	22 June 2017
Rocco Pitto	EHC.	25 June 2017
Grant Moore	Semore	25 June 2017

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Deep infection in arthroplasty

Total knee arthroplasty (TKA) remains one of the most successful interventions in medicine. Patients who are facing lifelong crippling pain due to knee arthritis now have the opportunity to return to near normal function. Recognising the effectiveness of TKA and its positive impact on people's lives, the New Zealand government instigated a "Government Joint Initiative Scheme" in 2004 to increase funding for District Health Boards and to reduce waiting times. Approximately 6000 knee replacements are performed each year in New Zealand, and this number is expected to increase with the continuing aging of our population (Figure 1.1).¹⁻³



Figure 1.1 Projected number of revision total hip and knee arthroplasties in the USA from 2005 to 2030. Reproduced from Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, Mowat F, Halpern M. Projections of primary and revision hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007;89(4):780-5.²

Despite the success of total knee replacement surgery, deep infection remains the most feared complication for both patient and surgeon. A joint prosthesis acts as a

foreign body when infection is present, allowing bacteria to form a 'biofilm' on its surface.⁴ This biofilm 'shields' the bacteria both from the body's immune system and from antibiotic therapy, making an infection extremely difficult to treat. On average, a patient with a deep infection following a knee replacement spends an extra 21 days in hospital, undergoes an additional five operations, receives prolonged (>6 weeks) intravenous antibiotic therapy, and may eventually require removal of the prosthesis in order to eradicate the infection.^{5,6} When compared with a non-infected TKA procedure, deep infection increases the readmission rate by four-fold, the mean hospital stay by six-fold, and increases the cost per patient by five-fold.⁶ Overall, the total cost of treating a knee periprosthetic joint infection (PJI) has been estimated to be at least \$NZ 130,000^{6,7}, and even after successful treatment the patient is often left with residual pain and compromised function.

When arthroplasty procedures were first developed in the 1960s, infection rates in the range of 9.5% to 11% were reported.^{8,9} Five decades on, despite concerted efforts, infections after primary TKA continue to be reported at a rate of 0.86% to 2.5%.¹⁰⁻¹³ Further, there is evidence that the incidence of infection after TKA and total hip replacement have been increasing in recent decades.^{7,14}

1.1.1 Classification of deep infection

In 1975, Coventry¹⁵ proposed a classification system for periprosthetic infections of the hip that was later refined by Fitzgerald et al¹⁶. This system has been extended to TKA and remains in regular use.¹³ An infection occurring within 3 months of surgery is considered 'acute' and one arising within 3 months to 2 years is considered 'delayed', and both are considered likely to be caused by intraoperative

contamination. Deep infection occurring after 2 years is classified as 'late' and the infecting organisms likely reach the knee joint via haematogenous spread.

Most infections are classified as early or delayed. In a series of 71 infected arthroplasties, 29% of the infections arose early (within the first 3 months), 52% were delayed (3 months to 2 years), and only 19% occurred after 2 years.¹³ In the delayed group, 26 of 39 (67%) infections arose between 3 and 12 months after surgery. Such classification is arbitrary, given that not all haematogenous infections present late and not all infections due to intraoperative contamination present early. Tsukayama et al proposed an alternative system¹⁷ that categorises deep infection as: class A ('acute'), an infection occurring within 4 weeks after the index operation; class B ('chronic'), an infection occurring more than 4 weeks postoperatively; or class C ('haematogenous'), an infection considered to be of haematogenous origin due to confirmed or suspected seeding of the implant from a remote site.

1.1.2 Origin of deep infection

Bacterial seeding of a knee arthroplasty can occur during the surgical procedure or later via haematogenous spread from a distant site. It is often difficult to definitively identify the origin of the bacteria causing an infection, but the majority of early and delayed infections after TKA are believed to be due to bacterial contamination at the time of surgery.¹⁸ Many authors also argue that late infections arising more than 2 years after surgery are not necessarily haematogenous in origin, and may be due to intraoperative contamination. *Staphylococcus aureus* can invade intracellularly, and can lie dormant inside osteoblasts and cause late reactivation of infection.¹⁹ Additionally, low-virulence organisms, such as coagulase-negative staphylococci (CoNS), can cause subclinical low-grade periprosthetic infection, which may be

diagnosed late. In a 15-year prospective review of experience at a specialist orthopaedic hospital, Phillips et al found that seven (26%) of 27 cases of deep infection due to CoNS first manifested more than 2 years after surgery.¹³ This finding, together with the observation that most deep infections occur soon after surgery, suggests that intraoperative contamination is a major cause of deep infection following TKA.

1.2 Intraoperative contamination

Even with strict sterile surgical technique, 23% to 63% of joint replacement procedures show bacterial contamination within the operative field.²⁰⁻²² Further, intraoperative contamination has been associated with subsequent deep infection. In a study where four intraoperative cultures were taken from instruments and bone samples during 100 total hip arthroplasty (THA) procedures, Knobben et al identified bacterial contamination in 36% of cases and found an association between bacterial contamination and subsequent deep infection.²³ Seventeen percent of patients (6/36) with intraoperative contamination developed deep infection compared with 1.5% (1/64) without contamination (p=0.008).

This finding is supported by animal studies. Craig et al investigated the effect of contamination by *S. aureus* on the risk of subsequent deep infection in a rabbit model of total knee replacement.²⁴ In their study, 10 knees each were inoculated with 0, 10^2 , 10^3 , or 10^4 colony-forming units (CFU) of *S. aureus* and 10 knees were injected with saline. Deep infection developed in 4/10 knees when 10^2 CFU of *S. aureus* were introduced and in 7/10 knees when 10^3 or 10^4 CFU of *S. aureus* were introduced. No evidence of deep infection was found in the knees injected with saline. These findings

suggest that there is a dose-response relationship between bacterial contamination and subsequent deep infection after TKA.

CoNS are the organisms most commonly identified in studies of intraoperative contamination, followed by *S. aureus*. Using bacterial swabs, Jonsson et al measured contamination rates in 90 THA and TKA procedures and found that 28 operations (31%) were contaminated by CoNS, 9 (10%) by *S. aureus*, and 4 (4%) by other species.²¹ In a similar study, Byrne et al reported a contamination rate of 23% in 80 primary TKA and total hip replacement procedures and that 71% of positive swabs grew CoNS.²² Further, Davis et al reported finding contamination in the operative field in 63% of 100 primary TKA and THA procedures, with CoNS identified as the contaminating organism in 76% of specimens.²⁰

The above findings correspond with clinical data showing staphylococcal species (CoNS and *S. aureus*) to be the most common causative organisms associated with deep infection in arthroplasty procedures. In a series of 121 infected TKA procedures, Nickinson et al reported the most frequent organisms to be CoNS (49%) and *S. aureus* (13%).¹² Similarly, in a study of 71 infected TKA and THA procedures, Phillips et al reported that the causative organism was CoNS in 36% of infections and *S. aureus* in 25%.¹³ Further, in a series of 70 patients with infected TKA or THA, Kilgus et al grew CoNS from 26 joints (37%) and *S. aureus* from 32 joints (45%).²⁵ The observation that the organisms causing intraoperative contamination are also the ones that most commonly cause deep infection provides further evidence of causality, and it seems clear that contamination is a prerequisite for subsequent deep infection.

1.3 Prevention of deep infection

Deep infection following arthroplasty can be thought of as a balance between the number of bacteria contaminating the wound during surgery and the body's ability to eradicate these organisms before infection occurs (Figure 1.2). Therefore, factors that increase the risk of contamination, such as a prolonged operating time²⁶⁻³⁰, can be expected to increase the risk of infection. Similarly, factors that impair the host immune system, such as diabetes mellitus and other medical comorbidities, also increase the risk of deep infection.^{26,27,31} With this concept in mind, surgeons use two main strategies to minimise the risk of infection following arthroplasty, i.e., reducing bacterial contamination intraoperatively with measures such as laminar flow ventilation and wearing of body exhaust gowns, and protecting the patient should contamination occur, mainly by use of prophylactic antibiotics.



Figure 1.2 *The risk of postoperative infection can be conceptualised as a balance between the number of bacteria contaminating the surgical site and the ability of the host to eradicate them.*

1.3.1 Reducing contamination

Following development of the 'germ theory' by Louis Pasteur, Joseph Lister introduced the concept of antisepsis in surgery.³² In a 1867 paper, he reported that careful cleaning and decontamination of the operating room environment and surgical instruments using carbolic acid decreased the mortality rate following limb amputation from 45% to 15%. Throughout the remainder of the 19th century and the early 20th century, a number of improvements on Lister's practices were introduced, including heat sterilisation of instruments, wearing of sterile gowns, caps, and gloves, and use of surgical masks.³³ All these practices aimed to reduce the number of bacteria contaminating the wound.

Development of hip arthroplasty in the 1960s by John Charnley saw a further doubling of efforts to reduce contamination. A prosthesis implanted in a joint cavity acts as a foreign body to which contaminating bacteria can adhere, so the threshold at which contamination of the wound site can produce a clinical infection is lower. In his early series, Charnley reported deep infection rates as high as 9.5%.⁹ Infecting bacteria formed a biofilm on the surface of the prosthesis and were very difficult to eradicate unless the implant was removed, leaving the patient with a non-functional joint. Thus, the presence of a prosthesis in arthroplasty surgery was associated with higher infection rates and more severe clinical consequences. Charnley introduced two measures in an effort to reduce the risk of contamination, i.e., a 'clean-air operating enclosure' and wearing of body exhaust suits by surgeons in the operating room.³⁴

The clean-air operating enclosure incorporates a laminar flow system that ventilates the operating theatre using filtered air in an effort to reduce the risk of contamination from air passing over the wound. The body exhaust suit uses intake and outtake tubing to create negative pressure inside the surgeon's gown, which removes shed skin particles (and the bacteria they contain) from the operative area.³⁴⁻³⁶ A large randomised trial in the 1980s found that use of a clean-air enclosure and body exhaust gowns reduced deep infection rates to less than 1%.³⁷ Modern versions of laminar flow ventilation and body exhaust suits remain in use in arthroplasty surgery today.³⁸

1.3.2 Prophylactic antibiotics

Despite the above measures, some degree of contamination occurs during most if not all arthroplasty procedures.²⁰⁻²² The second strategy used to prevent such contamination leading to clinical infection is antibiotic prophylaxis.

The concept of preoperative antibiotic prophylaxis was pioneered by John Burke in 1961.³⁹ In a landmark study, Burke performed a series of experiments in guinea pigs to investigate the prophylactic effect of timing of antibiotic administration on surgical incisions contaminated by *S. aureus*. When prophylactic antibiotics were given within one hour before bacterial inoculation of the wound, no inflammatory response occurred. These wounds were not clinically or microscopically different from wounds inoculated with dead bacteria. This observation suggested that prophylactic antibiotics aid in the killing of contaminating bacteria, preventing progression of contamination to clinical infection. Burke also found that an inflammatory response occurred when antibiotics were administered one hour after inoculation and that the inflammatory response was identical to that in an untreated control group when antibiotics were administered more than 3 hours after inoculation. Burke concluded that prophylactic antibiotics were administered in the tissues at an adequate concentration from

the time of incision until the time of closure, i.e., when wound contamination was occurring.

1.4 Effectiveness of prophylactic antibiotics

Subsequent clinical studies in orthopaedic patients demonstrating that prophylactic antibiotics dramatically reduced infection rates in arthroplasty supported Burke's findings. In 1977, Ericson et al randomised 118 patients undergoing THA to receive preoperative cloxacillin or placebo and reported infection rates of 0% in the group receiving antibiotics and 14% in the control group.⁴⁰ In a subsequent multicentre randomised trial of 2137 patients undergoing THA, Hill et al reported an infection rate of 3.3% in patients who received placebo compared with 0.9% when prophylactic cefazolin was used.⁴¹ Other randomised trials in a variety of orthopaedic procedures demonstrated conclusively that prophylactic antibiotics reduce the incidence of surgical site infection.^{42,45}

It should be emphasised that the aim of prophylactic antibiotics is not to sterilise already contaminated tissues, but to act as an adjunct to modulate bacterial contamination to a level that will not overwhelm host immune defences. Thus, adequate concentrations of antibiotic need to be present in the tissues for the entire period the wound is open and at risk of contamination.

1.4.1 Choice of prophylactic antibiotic therapy

Prophylactic antibiotics need to be effective against the bacteria most likely to cause contamination during surgery. As shown in the studies discussed in Section 1.2.1, contaminants during arthroplasty procedures are typically Gram-positive cocci such as *S. aureus* and CoNS.

A first-generation or second-generation cephalosporin such as cefazolin or cefuroxime has a suitable spectrum of activity that includes cover for staphylococci and other Gram-positive bacteria. These agents have also been shown to penetrate tissue at the operative site, including bone, soon after intravenous administration.^{46,47} In addition, the cost of the early-generation cephalosporins is low and adverse effects are rare, so they have become the recommended prophylactic antibiotic agents for arthroplasty procedures.^{45,48} Vancomycin is recommended as an alternative in cases of cephalosporin allergy because its spectrum of activity includes Gram-positive cocci.⁴⁸

1.4.2 Timing of antibiotic prophylaxis

Burke's original animal experiments suggested that antibiotics were most effective when administered immediately prior to surgery.³⁹ This has been proven in subsequent clinical studies. In 1992, Classen et al investigated 2847 patients undergoing elective surgical procedures and found that infection rates were lowest in patients who received antibiotics in the 2 hours prior to incision (Figure 1.3).⁴⁹ Higher rates of infection were seen in patients who received antibiotics more than 2 hours before incision (relative risk 6.7), within 3 hours after incision (relative risk 2.4), or more than 3 hours after incision (relative risk 5.8).



Figure 1.3 Surgical wound infection rate according to the temporal relationship between prophylactic antibiotic administration and start of surgery. The number of infections and the number of patients appear as the numerator and denominator, respectively. Reproduced from Classen DC, Evans RS, Pestotnik SL, Horn SD, Menlove RL, Burke JP. The timing of prophylactic administration of antibiotics and the risk of surgical-wound infection. N Engl J Med. 1992;326(5):281-6.⁴⁹

More recently, Steinberg et al reported on 113 surgical site infections in 4472 randomly selected cardiac, hip/knee arthroplasty, and hysterectomy cases performed at 29 hospitals.⁵⁰ When antibiotics requiring long infusion times (such as vancomycin) were excluded, the infection rate was 1.6% if prophylactic antibiotics were administered within 30 minutes prior to incision and 2.4% if administered 31 to 60 minutes prior to incision (odds ratio 1.74). They found that the risk of infection increased as the time interval between preoperative administration of prophylactic antibiotics and incision increased and when the antibiotic was first administered after incision (Figure 1.4).



Minutes before or after surgical incision

Figure 1.4 *Risk of surgical site infection based on timing of the perioperative antibiotic dose (omitting vancomycin and fluoroquinolones). Annotation shows the numbers of infections/operations for each time interval. Reproduced from Steinberg JP, Braun BI, Hellinger WC, Kusek L, Bozikis MR, Bush AJ, et al; Trial to Reduce Antimicrobial Prophylaxis Errors (TRAPE) Study Group. Timing of antimicrobial prophylaxis and the risk of surgical site infections: results from the Trial to Reduce Antimicrobial Prophylaxis Errors. Ann Surg 2009;250(1):10–16.*⁵⁰

Similar findings have been reported in patients undergoing THA. Van Kasteren et al investigated 1922 patients undergoing THA at any one of 11 hospitals participating in the Dutch Surgical Prophylaxis and Surveillance project and found an overall rate of infection (superficial and deep) of 2.6%.⁵¹ Patients receiving prophylaxis within 30 minutes before surgery had the lowest risk of surgical site infection. The highest risk of infection was found in patients who received prophylaxis after the incision (odds ratio 2.8, p=0.07; Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5 Association between timing of administration of prophylaxis and incidence of SSI following total hip arthroplasty. Abbreviation: SSI, surgical site infection. Reproduced from van Kasteren ME, Manniën J, Ott A, Kullberg BJ, de Boer AS, Gyssens IC. Antibiotic prophylaxis and the risk of surgical site infections following total hip arthroplasty: timely administration is the most important factor. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;44(7):921-7.⁵¹

Based on these findings and those of other studies, the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, Centers for Disease Control, and Surgical Care Improvement guidelines recommend that prophylactic antibiotics be infused completely within one hour before the surgical incision.⁴⁸ In view of the extended infusion time required, vancomycin should be started within 2 hours before incision.

The findings of these studies support Burke's original hypothesis that, to be effective, prophylactic antibiotics should be present in the tissue at adequate concentrations when contamination is occurring, i.e., from the time of the surgical incision until the time of closure. If antibiotics are administered too early, tissue concentrations may have fallen to levels that are no longer protective when the risk of contamination is

highest. If administered too late, bacterial adhesion may already have occurred, and antibiotics are less able to modulate contamination to a level that does not overwhelm host immune defences.

1.4.3 Duration of antibiotic prophylaxis

Many studies have investigated duration of treatment with prophylactic antibiotics across surgical specialties and two consistent findings are reported. First, the preoperative dose appears to be the most important in reducing infection rates. Second, extending the duration of treatment beyond 24 hours postoperatively does not confer any additional benefit in terms of reducing the risk of infection and may in fact promote resistance.⁵² The current American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons guidelines state that 'prophylactic antibiotics should be discontinued within 24 hours of surgery'.⁵³

In a 1998 meta-analysis of randomised trials comparing single-dose versus multipledose prophylaxis in major surgery, McDonald et al found no advantage of multiple doses over a single-dose regimen (odds ratio 1.04; 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.86– 1.25).⁵⁴ Similarly, in a 2007 study, Slobogean et al pooled the results of seven randomised controlled trials involving 3808 patients with closed fractures undergoing surgical fixation or arthroplasty.⁵⁵ When compared with multiple doses of prophylactic antibiotics, administration of a single preoperative dose did not increase the risk of infection (risk ratio 1.24, 95% CI 0.60–2.60; pooled risk difference 0.005, 95% CI 20.011–0.021).

Similar findings have been reported in patients undergoing arthroplasty. In a prospective, double-blind, randomised controlled trial, Mauerhan et al compared rates

of deep wound infection in 1354 patients undergoing primary THA or TKA in whom prophylactic antibiotics were continued for 24 hours or 3 days.⁵⁶ In the THA group, the prevalence of deep wound infection was 0.5% (1/187) in those treated with antibiotics for 24 hours and 1.2% (2/168) in those receiving the 3-day regimen; in the TKA group, the rates were 0.6% (1/178) and 1.4% (3/207), respectively. The authors concluded that there was no significant difference between the two regimens.

The above findings emphasise the importance of the preoperative dose of antibiotics, which again supports Burke's original theory that the key to effective prophylaxis is adequate antibiotic concentrations in the tissues from the time of incision until the time of closure, i.e., while contamination is occurring. An extended duration of antibiotic prophylaxis does not appear to improve efficacy, and may in fact cause harm by promoting development of resistant organisms.⁵⁷

1.4.4 Antibiotics for prophylaxis versus treatment of infection

Use of antibiotics for prophylaxis should be distinguished from their use for treatment of an established infection. The skin is an important barrier against bacteria, and during surgery this barrier is compromised until the wound is closed. Prophylactic antibiotics support the body's innate (non-specific) immune system to prevent bacterial colonisation, i.e., before bacterial adhesion and other virulence factors can overcome these initial immune defences and cause infection.⁴⁵ Once an infection is established, antibiotics act instead to assist the body's adaptive (antigen-specific) immune response to eradicate the infection. This difference explains the clinical finding that a well-timed preoperative antibiotic dose is most important for prophylaxis whereas a prolonged duration of antibiotic therapy is required when treating an infection.

1.5 Improving the effectiveness of prophylactic antibiotics

Despite the use of prophylactic antibiotics, infection rates following primary TKA continue to be reported at a rate of 0.86%–2.5%.¹⁰⁻¹³ As outlined in Section 1.4.2, prophylactic antibiotics are less effective if administered more than one hour before the surgical incision, suggesting that they afford the most effective prophylaxis when the tissue concentration is maximal. Typically, the maximum dose of an antibiotic is limited by the risk of systemic side effects.

1.5.1 Tissue antibiotic concentrations

Quintiliani and Nightingale proposed that, for effective prophylaxis, tissue antibiotic concentrations of at least 4–5 times the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) for a bacterial strain should be achieved in a patient with normal host defences.⁵⁸ In animal models of infection, saturation of the killing rate when using a cephalosporin occurs at around 5 times the MIC.⁵⁹ However, studies using animal models of treatment of established infection and higher multiples (64 times the MIC) are known to lead to earlier initiation of bacterial killing, which may be more important in prophylaxis where the goal is to prevent initial bacterial adhesion and colonisation.^{59,60}

Studies using systemic prophylactic cefazolin in TKA have reported concentrations of 4.7–16.1 μ g/g in bone tissue samples.^{46,61-63} When prophylactic antibiotics were introduced in the 1970s, typical MIC₉₀ levels for CoNS species were 0.5–1.0 μ g/mL.^{47,64} In the early studies, the measured tissue concentrations of prophylactic
antibiotics were well in excess of these MIC_{90} levels, indicating that systemic cephalosporins provide adequate prophylaxis.^{47,62,63}

1.5.2 Problem of increasing antibiotic resistance

In a 2011 report, Yamada found that MIC_{90} levels for cefazolin were higher than 100 μ g/mL for over half of reported CoNS species.⁶¹ This led to concern that tissue concentrations of antibiotics administered systemically may no longer be adequate to cover CoNS. By definition, the highest MIC_{90} for cefazolin-sensitive CoNS is 8 μ g/mL. Moller compared hospital CoNS isolates from 1964 to 1986, and found the percentage of methicillin-resistant (and therefore also cefazolin-resistant) isolates increased from 2% to 58% over this 22-year period. More recent studies show that 60% to 90% of CoNS isolates currently causing orthopaedic infections are resistant to cephalosporins.^{12,61,65}

The rate of methicillin resistance in *S. aureus* species has also increased. Data from intensive care units in the USA for 1992 to 2003 show that the proportion of methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* infections increased from 35.9% to 64.4%, representing an increase of 3.1% per year.⁶⁶ Similar findings have been reported for arthroplasty infections. Bjerke-Kroll et al retrospectively reviewed all hip and knee arthroplasty infections performed at their institution over a 14-year period and found a statistically significant increase in the proportion of methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* infections from 11% in 1998 to 48% in 2010 (incidence rate ratio 1.11, p=0.019).⁶⁷ Similarly, in a study of 898 cases of infected TKA and THA from the ENDO-Klinik in Germany and 772 cases from the Rothman Institute in the USA, Aggarwal et al reported that the causative organism was CoNS in 39.3% and 20.2% of cases, respectively, and *S. aureus* in 13% and 31% of cases.⁶⁸ The incidence of methicillin-resistant *S. aureus*

was 12.8% in the European centre and 48.1% in the US centre (odds ratio 6.27, 95% CI 3.39–12.31; p<0.0001).

Although regional variation exists, cephalosporin resistance has increased markedly in the two bacterial strains most likely to cause infection in TKA. This has implications for both the choice of prophylactic agent and the clinical outcome, given that infections in TKA caused by resistant organisms are associated with higher rates of treatment failure and reinfection.^{69,70}

1.6 Regional administration of antibiotic prophylaxis

Prophylactic antibiotics are typically given systemically via the intravenous route. The antibiotic distributes throughout the systemic circulation, including the tissues around the surgical site. Tissue concentrations achieved at the surgical site are a function of the antibiotic dose and the total volume of distribution in the body.

Prophylactic antibiotics can also be administered 'regionally'. Regional administration involves intravenous injection of a drug below an inflated tourniquet. The tourniquet interrupts circulation to the limb, so that the distribution of a medication injected below the tourniquet is restricted to that limb. Gustav Bier pioneered this technique in the early 1900s as a means of administering local anaesthetic agents to provide regional anaesthesia to the limb, allowing procedures to be carried out with the patient awake and leaving the major organs unaffected.⁷¹ This technique was largely forgotten until a publication by Charles Holmes, a New Zealand anaesthetist, in *The Lancet* in 1963, which revived worldwide interest.^{72,73} The 'Bier's block' remains in widespread use today, particularly in closed reduction of wrist fractures⁷² (Figure 1.6).

TKA is routinely performed using a tourniquet, which reduces blood loss and improves visualisation for the surgeon. While typically used to administer local anaesthetic agents, the regional route can be used to administer any medication, including prophylactic antibiotics. Four previous studies have investigated 'regional' administration of antibiotics during TKA, injecting the antibiotic into a foot vein after the tourniquet is inflated.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁷ Using this method, tissue concentrations of antibiotic in the knee were 10 times higher than those achieved by systemic administration and without increased risk of systemic side effects.



Figure 1.6 The 'Bier's block' technique used to provide anaesthesia to a limb. A tourniquet is inflated around the upper arm and an intravenous cannula is inserted into the hand. A local anaesthetic agent is then injected into the cannula, which is prevented from entering the systemic circulation by the inflated tourniquet. Image of regional intravenous anaesthesia courtesy of Mr Arifnajafov. (https://commons.wikimedia.org/w/index.php?curid=14837004)

1.6.1 Studies of intravenous regional antibiotic prophylaxis

Intravenous regional administration (IVRA) of prophylactic antibiotics in TKA involves cannulation of a foot vein to obtain venous access below the tourniquet. Using this method, Hoddinott et al compared 750 mg of intravenous regional cefuroxime with 1 g of systemic cefamandole and reported that the mean levels of cefuroxime in bone (133.1 μ g/mL) and fat (88.4 μ g/mL) were significantly higher following regional administration than those of cefamandole (9.1 μ g/mL and 9.8 μ g/mL, respectively) following systemic dosing (p<0.001).⁷⁷

In a series of three studies, de Lalla et al investigated IVRA for antibiotic prophylaxis with teicoplanin in TKA. Teicoplanin is a glycopeptide antibiotic similar to vancomycin and is approved for use in Europe and New Zealand but not in the USA. These investigators first performed a randomised controlled trial in which 24 patients undergoing TKA were randomised to receive 800 mg of systemic intravenous teicoplanin or 400 mg of IVRA teicoplanin via a foot vein 2.5 hours preoperatively.⁷⁶ Teicoplanin concentrations in tissue samples (skin, subcutaneous tissue, bone, synovium) were 2–10 times higher with the IVRA route than with the systemic intravenous route.

In a subsequent clinical study by de Lalla et al, no deep infections occurred during 2 years of follow-up in 161 patients undergoing TKA who received 400 mg of teicoplanin via the IVRA route.⁷⁵ In the final study by this group, patients undergoing TKA received 800 mg of systemic intravenous teicoplanin (n=5) or 200 mg of teicoplanin via the IVRA route (n=15) 2.5 hours preoperatively.⁷⁴ Teicoplanin concentrations in tissue samples (skin, subcutaneous tissue, bone, synovium) were found to be two times higher in the patients treated via the IVRA route. The authors

pointed out that these higher concentrations were achieved despite a much lower IVRA dose, thus protecting the patient from systemic side effects, in particular renal toxicity.

Miller et al subsequently explored IVRA of prophylactic antibiotics during elbow surgery.⁷⁸ Using an arm tourniquet, they injected prophylactic antibiotics into a hand vein, comparing 1 g of cefazolin injected systemically with 1 g of cefazolin given by IVRA 20 minutes before surgical incision. The cefazolin concentrations achieved in bone were 41 times higher and those achieved in fat were 133 times higher in the IVRA group when compared with the systemic group (1484 μ g/g versus 35.8 μ g/g in bone and 1422.7 μ g/g versus 10.7 μ g/g in fat; p<0.05). The extremely large differences in tissue concentrations seen in this study reflect the smaller regional volume of distribution in the upper limb.

1.6.2 Potential advantages of regional administration

IVRA has a number of potential advantages when administering prophylactic antibiotics in patients undergoing TKA. First, far higher tissue concentrations can be reached at the site of the open surgical wound, which maximises the effectiveness of antibiotic prophylaxis. In contrast, the tissue antibiotic concentrations that can be achieved via the systemic route are limited by dose-dependent toxicity to major organs. While the possibility of local toxic effects on osteocytes and other cells must be considered^{79,80}, regionally administered prophylaxis can maximise local tissue concentrations while limiting systemic toxicity.⁸¹ Second, regional administration may make surgeons more comfortable with single-dose prophylaxis, given that concentrations greater than the MIC have been reported in drain fluid for up to 21 hours following a surgical procedure.⁷⁷ This is presumably secondary to the depot

effect of the high initial tissue concentrations achieved using this route. While it is known that prolonging antibiotic treatment for many days confers no additional benefit⁸², many surgeons continue administration of antibiotics for 24 hours following surgery^{18,82,83}. Single-dose prophylaxis confers significant economic benefit, with savings of up to \$U\$7.7 million per 100,000 patients reported.⁸⁴

Finally, by requiring injection following preparation and draping, optimal timing of prophylactic antibiotic administration is ensured, which, as outlined above, is important for efficacy. In a study of 34,133 Medicare surgical inpatients, Bratzler et al found that only 55.7% of eligible patients received prophylactic antibiotics within one hour prior to incision.⁸⁵ In patients undergoing hip or knee arthroplasty, Rosenberg et al reported that optimum timing of prophylactic antibiotic administration was achieved on only 65% of occasions.⁸⁶ Achieving optimum timing is even more difficult with antibiotics such as vancomycin or teicoplanin that require prolonged infusion times. In a study of 1610 surgical patients given vancomycin as prophylaxis, Bull et al reported appropriate timing of administration in just 22% of cases.⁸⁷

1.6.3 Regional prophylaxis via the intraosseous route

Studies of regional administration of antibiotic prophylaxis in the lower limb have required cannulation of a foot vein to deliver the antibiotics to the vascular system below the level of the thigh tourniquet. Cannulating a foot vein is difficult, time-consuming, and often unsuccessful, particularly in obese patients, so the uptake of IVRA in clinical practice has been limited.⁷⁴ The skin of the foot is also known to have higher bacterial skin counts than other parts of the body⁸⁸, and is normally covered in sterile drapes during TKA.

Intraosseous administration offers an alternative to intravenous cannulation. The metaphysis of a long bone contains 'venous sinusoids' that form a honeycomb-like structure containing a dense network of blood vessels.⁸⁹ Unlike veins in the skin, the blood vessel walls at these sites are supported by bone, so are not prone to collapse. The contents of an injection into this area of bone travel directly to the circulation, as would those of an injection into a vein. Commonly used in children, this technique has become popular in adults in recent years as a reliable method of achieving rapid access to the circulation in emergency and intensive care settings.⁹⁰⁻⁹⁴ The intraosseous injection route is effective in adults and children⁹⁵, and both fluids and medications can be given using this method. The pharmacokinetics of agents injected via the intraosseous route are similar to those achieved by peripheral or central intravenous administration.⁹⁶ The intraosseous route is particularly popular in the military setting, where rapid and reliable access to the systemic circulation in the field is paramount.^{90,93}

Regional anaesthesia via the intraosseous route has also been reported to be effective in orthopaedic surgery⁹⁷, and regional administration of antibiotics by this route is a well validated method of treating limb infection in horses⁹⁸⁻¹⁰². However, prior to the research underpinning this thesis, intraosseous regional administration (IORA) of prophylactic antibiotics in TKA had not been reported.

1.6.4 Safety of the intraosseous route

Use of the intraosseous route for administration of fluids and medications is well established. In 1947, Heinild et al investigated the intraosseous route in over 1000 paediatric patients and reporting a 95% success rate in administering fluids, blood products, and a variety of medications.¹⁰³ The technique has been particularly popular

in paediatric patients, in whom intravenous access is more difficult, but is as effective as the intravenous route in adult patients.⁹⁶

Three papers have investigated regional (with tourniquet) intraosseous administration of antibiotics in horses to treat limb infections. Scheuch et al compared intraosseous versus intravenous infusion of the antibiotic amikacin in 21 horses, and found similar tissue levels using these two routes.¹⁰⁴ Mattson et al found effective tissue concentrations of gentamicin after IORA in 12 horses, and recommended this as a form of treatment for infection.¹⁰⁵ Similarly, Rubio-Martínez et al compared regional intravenous versus intraosseous administration of vancomycin in 12 horses and found equivalent tissue concentrations using these routes.¹⁰¹ None of the above studies reported any complications using the intraosseous route.

Regional (with tourniquet) intraosseous infusion of local anaesthetic agents has also been investigated in humans, and is a variation of the well-known 'Bier's block' that uses intravenous access. Waisman et al reported on 109 patients who received local anaesthetic agents in an upper or lower limb via IORA to allow surgical procedures to be performed on the limb with the patient awake.⁹⁷ The procedure was successful in 106 of 109 patients. The three failures included incorrectly positioning of the needle in one patient and inadequate anaesthesia in two patients (the latter attributed by the authors to infusion of an insufficient volume of medication). No other complications were reported. This study provided evidence of the safety of intraosseous injection below a tourniquet (i.e., regional administration using the intraosseous route) in a large number of patients.

Four main complications of intraosseous infusion have been reported in adults⁹⁶, all of which relate to technical error or prolonged infusion in an emergent setting:

1) Extravasation of fluid

This complication occurs when infusion of fluid or medication is commenced with the needle not placed correctly (i.e., placed outside the bone). With modern intraosseous needles, the risk of this complication is reduced by monitoring the patient closely, particularly at the intraosseous needle insertion site, and using intraosseous needles of an appropriate length to prevent overpenetration of the bone. The reported success rates for insertion of modern intraosseous kits range from 94% to 100%.^{90,94,106}

2) Compartment syndrome

Compartment syndrome associated with incorrect needle placement has occasionally been described following intraosseous infusion in case reports.^{107–110} Compartment syndrome occurs if the tip of the needle is placed into soft tissue rather than into bone and a prolonged infusion of fluids is commenced. Large published series of intraosseous infusions have not reported this complication, suggesting that it is very rare.⁹⁶

3) Fracture

There have been isolated reports in the literature of bone fracture following intraosseous needle placement.^{96,111} This is thought to relate to use of excessive force with manual needle placement in paediatric patients, and has not been reported with modern powered needle drivers.⁹⁶

4) Infection/osteomyelitis

Infection following intraosseous needle placement is rare. A meta-analysis of 4359 intraosseous needle insertion attempts reported a 0.6% incidence of infection.¹¹² It is recommended that needles be removed after 24 hours to reduce the risk of this

complication⁹⁶. However, in the setting of IORA for antibiotic prophylaxis, the intraosseous needle is removed immediately following injection.

1.6.5 Fat embolus following intraosseous injection

A theoretical risk of intraosseous injection is embolisation of bone marrow fat caused by the increased intraosseous pressures during injection. This is a concern when considering IORA antibiotics in TKA, considering that patients are often elderly with limited cardiopulmonary reserve. However, there have been no recorded clinical cases of fat emboli following intraosseous injection in adults or children.⁹⁶

The risk of fat embolisation has been evaluated in animal studies. In 1942, Wile and Schamberg reported fat emboli in the pulmonary arterioles in five of seven rabbits that received repeated intraosseous infusions over 5 days.¹¹³ Fat embolism was thought to be responsible for the sudden death of one of these animals. In contrast, Plewa et al found no fat emboli following intraosseous infusion in a study performed in 16 piglets.¹¹⁴ The animals were bled slowly (20 mL/kg over 20 minutes) and the blood was reinfused via the intraosseous route 10 minutes later. After 48 hours, lung samples were examined histologically and no fat or inflammation was found. However, given that the samples were examined 48 hours after intraosseous infusion, it is possible that fat emboli in these healthy animals may have cleared by that stage.¹¹⁵

Orlowski et al used a canine model to investigate the risk of fat emboli after intraosseous infusion of medications in dogs via the distal femur.¹¹⁶ The dogs received various medications, including epinephrine, atropine, and lidocaine, or normal saline (controls), in ten groups each containing three dogs. The animals were sacrificed 4 hours following intraosseous infusion for examination of lung tissue. Fat and bone marrow emboli were found in all lung sections, varying in mean number from 0.9 emboli per mm² of lung in dogs receiving the medications to 0.3 emboli per mm² of lung in the controls. There was no significant difference in the number of emboli between the dogs that received medication and the controls (p=0.07). Despite the presence of fat emboli, the authors found no clinical effect on the ventilation-perfusion relationship when evaluating arterial blood gases. They concluded that although fat emboli are common following intraosseous infusion, they are not of any immediate clinical importance and do not result in adult respiratory distress syndrome.

Hasan et al investigated the effects of volume, pressure, and rate of administration of intraosseous fluid on fat emboli in 30 piglets.¹¹⁵ Group 1 received a fluid bolus under 300 mmHg of pressure, group 2 received the same bolus of fluid by free flow under gravity, group 3 received fluid over 20 minutes, and group 4 received fluid over 7 minutes. Histological examination of lung specimens from the upper and lower lobes revealed fat emboli (1–3 per high-power field) in approximately 30% of samples. There was no statistically significant difference in frequency of emboli between the four groups. The authors concluded that fat embolism is common; however, the method of intraosseous fluid administration did not influence the number of emboli, and the clinical relevance of such emboli is unclear.

In a well-designed animal study, Fiallos et al assessed the incidence of fat emboli after cardiopulmonary resuscitation and intraosseous infusion of resuscitation drugs in 33 mixed-breed piglets¹¹⁷. Hypoxic cardiac arrest was induced and followed by chest compressions and mechanical ventilation for a minimum of 30 minutes. The animals were divided into five groups and subjected to hypoxemic arrest, cardiopulmonary resuscitation, and intraosseous administration of resuscitation drugs and fluid. Lung samples were compared with those in a control group in which no intraosseous infusion was administered. Histological analysis showed no difference in the number or distribution of fat emboli between any of the experimental groups and the control group. The authors concluded that intraosseous infusion during cardiopulmonary resuscitation did not increase the incidence of fat or bone marrow emboli.

In summary, animal studies have yielded conflicting findings but it appears that subclinical fat emboli may occur following intraosseous infusion. However, there have been no documented cases of the clinical syndrome of fat embolism after intraosseous infusions in infants or children.⁹⁶ Further, two studies of intraosseous infusion involving 150 adult patients did not report fat embolism as a complication^{95,97}. This suggests that, if present, the risk of clinically significant fat embolus following IORA antibiotics is low.

1.7 Study aims

The aims of the research underpinning this thesis were:

- To compare the tissue concentrations of a standard antibiotic (cefazolin) achieved via the IORA route with those achieved via systemic administration of the same dose of cefazolin as antibiotic prophylaxis in patients undergoing TKA
- To identify the organisms causing deep PJI in the Auckland region and their antibiotic sensitivities

- To compare the tissue concentrations of a more systemically toxic antibiotic (vancomycin) delivered by low-dose IORA with those achieved by standard-dose systemic administration in TKA
- To assess whether either of these strategies might provide more effective prophylaxis using a murine model of TKA
- To identify the causes of failure in modern TKA and the relative importance of infection as a mechanism
- To investigate delivery of antibiotic prophylaxis by IORA in patients undergoing revision TKA and at high risk of infection

1.8 Thesis structure

This thesis has been formatted to include published work in accordance with the 2011 University of Auckland PhD thesis regulations. Chapter 1 of the thesis is the present introductory chapter, which provides the context for the subsequent work. Chapters 2–7 report results and each comprises the following:

- A brief introduction
- Results in the form of either a published article or a manuscript for submission
- A discussion providing critical evaluation of the work and a perspective on the impact of the work since publication (where applicable).

Chapter 8 is an overall summary of the research and includes a discussion of future directions and perspectives on how this research may influence clinical practice in the future. Chapter 9 contains appendices and Chapter 10 contains the references used in the preceding chapters.

Chapter 2 Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in total knee arthroplasty

2.1 Preface

Regional administration of prophylactic antibiotics in total knee arthroplasty (TKA) via the intravenous route in a foot vein was first reported by Hoddinott et al in 1993.⁷⁷ While the intraosseous route is well established for administration of fluids and medication, use of this route for regional delivery of prophylactic antibiotics in TKA has not been previously reported.

The following section contains a modified version of a manuscript entitled 'Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA', published in 2013 in *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* (volume 471, pages 244–249). *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* has a 2016 impact factor of 3.127.

The paper was presented at the 2011 closed meeting of the Knee Society in London, ON, Canada, and was published as part of the Knee Society Symposium. The paper also received the 2011 Royal Australasian College of Surgeons Louis Barnett Prize and the Auckland Orthopaedic Society Research Award in November 2010.

2.2 Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA2.2.1 Title page

Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA

Simon W. Young FRACS, Mei Zhang PhD, Joshua T. Freeman FRCPA, Kelly G. Vince MD, Brendon Coleman FRACS

S. W. Young, B. Coleman

Department of Orthopaedics, Middlemore Hospital, Auckland, New Zealand

K.G. Vince

Department of Orthopaedics, Whangarei Hospital, Whangarei, New Zealand

M. Zhang

Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Medicine, University of Otago–Christchurch, Christchurch, New Zealand

J. T. Freeman

Clinical Microbiology, Auckland City Hospital, Auckland, New Zealand

The institution of one of the authors (MZ) received funding from the Centre for Clinical Research and effective practice (CCRep), a charitable trust with no relationship to the subject of this article.

All ICMJE Conflict of Interest Forms for authors and *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* editors and board members are on file with the publication and can be viewed on request.

Each author certifies that his or her institution approved the human protocol for this investigation, that all investigations were conducted in conformity with ethical

principles of research, and that informed consent was obtained from all patients included in the study.

Procedures and sample collection were performed at Middlemore Hospital. Samples were analysed at Canterbury Health Laboratories.

Correspondence to: S. W. Young Orthopaedic Consultant, Department of Orthopaedics, Middlemore Hospital, Private Bag 93311, Otahuhu, Auckland 1640, New Zealand E-mail: <u>simonwyoung@gmail.com</u>

2.2.2 Abstract

Background Prophylactic antibiotics reduce the risk of deep infection after primary total knee arthroplasty. However, conventional systemic dosing may not provide adequate tissue concentrations against more resistant organisms, such as coagulasenegative staphylococci. Regional intravenous administration of antibiotics after tourniquet inflation achieves far higher tissue concentrations but requires cannulation of a foot vein. The intraosseous route may offer a rapid and reliable method of regional administration.

Purpose To compared tissue concentrations of cefazolin achieved with systemic versus regional intraosseous administration.

Methods Twenty-two patients undergoing primary total knee arthroplasty were randomised into two groups. Group 1 received 1 g of cefazolin systemically 10 minutes before tourniquet inflation. Group 2 received 1 g of cefazolin via the intraosseous route in 200 mL of normal saline through a tibial cannula after tourniquet inflation and before skin incision. Subcutaneous fat and femoral bone samples were taken at set intervals during the procedure and antibiotic concentrations were measured using a validated technique involving high-performance liquid chromatography.

Results The overall mean tissue concentration of cefazolin in subcutaneous fat was $186 \mu g/g$ in the intraosseous group and $11 \mu g/g$ in the systemic group. The mean tissue concentration in bone was $130 \mu g/g$ in the intraosseous group and $11 \mu g/g$ in the systemic group. These differences were consistent across all sample time points throughout the procedure.

Conclusions Intraosseous regional administration can achieve concentrations of antibiotic in tissue an order of magnitude higher than systemic administration. Further work is required to determine if this translates into increased efficacy in preventing infection, particularly against coagulase-negative staphylococci.

Level of Evidence Level I; prospective randomised study

2.2.3 Introduction

Periprosthetic joint infection (PJI) is one of the most devastating complications of total knee arthroplasty (TKA). Despite concerted efforts to reduce infection rates, the reported incidence of PJI after primary TKA continues to be between 0.86% and 2.5%¹⁰⁻¹³. Coagulase-negative staphylococci (CoNS) cause up to 49% of PJI, and there is evidence showing that the causative role of these organisms is increasing¹⁰⁻¹³.

The majority of early postoperative infections result from intraoperative contamination of the surgical site.¹⁸ Even with strict aseptic technique, bacterial contamination occurs in most if not all arthroplasty procedures.²⁰ Prophylactic antibiotics reduce the risk of contamination progressing to overt clinical infection and their efficacy in orthopaedic surgery is well established.^{41,82,118} For antibiotic prophylaxis to be effective, the concentration of antibiotic in the tissues must exceed the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) for organisms that commonly cause infection during the period between skin incision and wound closure.³⁹ The MICs of cephalosporins are relatively high for CoNS, which are one of the most common causes of infection post TKA.⁶¹ Conventional systemic dosing of prophylactic cephalosporins may not provide adequate tissue concentrations against these organisms.^{61,76}

Regional administration of medication using a tourniquet achieves higher tissue concentrations than systemic administration by limiting distribution of the drug to the targeted limb. Some authors have used a foot vein to administer prophylactic antibiotics in TKA. With this approach, substantially higher tissue concentrations of antibiotic can be achieved at the surgical site without systemic side effects.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁷ (Table 2.1) However, cannulation of a foot vein is difficult, time-consuming, and may compromise sterility. An alternative means of regional administration is intraosseous cannulation. Since its first reported use over 70 years ago⁸⁹, the intraosseous route has gained popularity as a rapid and reliable method of accessing the circulation⁹⁶. The aim of this study was to compare tissue concentrations of cefazolin achieved by the regional intraosseous route with those achieved by the systemic route in patients undergoing primary TKA.

Reference	Comparison	Outcomes		
Hoddinott et al ⁷⁷	Compared 1000 mg IV cefamandole versus 750 mg regional	Mean concentrations of cefuroxime in bone (133		
	cefuroxime through a foot vein in the same 5 patients	mg/L) and fat (88 mg/L) were higher than those of		
		cefamandole in bone (9 mg/L) and fat (10 mg/L);		
		p<0.001		
de Lalla et al ⁷⁶	RCT in 24 patients comparing 800 mg IV teicoplanin 2.5	Tissue samples (skin, subcutaneous tissue, bone,		
	hours preoperatively versus 400 mg teicoplanin through a foot	synovium) 2–10 times higher through the regional		
	vein	route		
de Lalla et al ⁷⁵	Clinical study of 160 patients (205 knees) undergoing TKA,	One superficial infection; no deep infections at 2-		
	400 mg teicoplanin through a foot vein	year follow-up		
Lazzarini et al ⁷⁴	5 patients with 800 mg IV teicoplanin 2.5 hours	Tissue samples (skin, subcutaneous tissue, bone,		
	preoperatively versus 15 patients with 200 mg teicoplanin	synovium) 2 times higher through the regional route		
	through a foot vein			

Table 2.1 Papers investigating regional administration of prophylactic antibiotics in TKA.

Abbreviations: IV, intravenous; RCT, randomised controlled trial; TKA, total knee arthroplasty

Patients undergoing primary TKA at a single institution were eligible for enrolment in this prospective, randomised controlled trial. The inclusion criteria were age 55–85 years and a primary diagnosis of osteoarthritis. We excluded patients with previous compartment syndrome, allergy to an antibiotic used in the study, abnormal renal or liver function, recent antibiotic treatment (within the past week), or a body mass index $(BMI) > 35 \text{ kg/m}^2$.

From March to August 2010, we considered 32 patients undergoing primary TKA for osteoarthritis for enrolment in this trial. Ten patients were excluded (eight with a BMI >35 kg/m², one who refused to provide consent, and one on oral antibiotics for a recent nasal infection), leaving 22 patients who were randomised to a systemic group or an intraosseous group using computer-generated random allocations placed in numbered, opaque, sealed envelopes (Table 2.2). We randomised patients in the preoperative area to allow appropriate setup in the operating room.

Variable	Intraosseous group (n=11)	Systemic group (n=11)
Sex		
Male	6	4
Female	5	7
Age, years	71.8 (56–87)	65.3 (48–83)
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	27.7 (22.1–35)	29.1 (23.1–35)
Tourniquet time (minutes)	84 (44–135)	82 (43–113)
Procedure length (minutes skin to skin)	74 (37–122)	76 (39–110)
American Society of Anesthesiologists score	2.2	2.1

 Table 2.2 Patient demographic and procedural characteristics

The data are shown as the mean with range in parentheses.

Based on the data published by Hoddinott et al⁷⁷ showing a mean (± standard deviation) cephalosporin concentration in fat tissue across 5 time points of 88 ± 88 μ g/mL with regional administration versus 11 ± 9 μ g/mL with systemic administration, an a priori power analysis calculated that 11 patients in each arm would provide more than 80% statistical power to detect the expected difference of 77 μ g/mL in subcutaneous fat concentrations between two groups at the 5% significance level. This sample size also provided adequate statistical power (>90%) to detect a difference in mean bone concentrations between the two groups, assuming the mean (± standard deviation) bone concentrations to be 133 ± 101 μ g/mL and 11 ± 9 μ g/mL for regional and systemic administration, respectively. As discussed later, it is difficult to quantify what clinical effect such a difference would have on infection

rates. However, antibiotic concentrations below the MIC for a particular organism are unlikely to provide effective prophylaxis against that organism³⁹. CoNS causes up to 49% of TKA infections¹², and the MIC of cefazolin is >32 μ g/mL for at least 68% of CoNS isolates at our institution. Assuming a tissue concentration distribution similar to that of the cephalosporins used in the study by Hoddinott et al⁷⁷, such isolates would not be covered by the tissue concentrations seen with systemic dosing (11 μ g/mL); however, tissue concentrations with regional dosing (88–133 μ g/mL) would provide effective prophylaxis against such isolates, suggesting the differences used in our power analysis are clinically relevant.

Patients in both groups received 1 g of systemic cefuroxime 10–30 minutes before tourniquet inflation. All patients underwent limb exsanguination and tourniquet inflation to 300 mmHg before routine preparation and draping. The tourniquet remained inflated for the entire procedure. Patients in the systemic group received 1 g of cefazolin systemically through a forearm vein 10–30 minutes before tourniquet inflation. Patients in the intraosseous group received 1 g of cefazolin through an EZ-IO intraosseous cannula (Vidacare, San Antonio, TX, USA; FDA-approved) placed in the medial aspect of the proximal tibia after draping and before skin incision. The cefazolin was administered as a bolus in 200 mL of normal saline following the recommendations of Waisman et al⁹⁷. In the intraosseous group, the incision was made immediately (within 1 minute) following antibiotic injection.

We took samples of subcutaneous fat and femoral cancellous bone at four stages during the procedure. The first subcutaneous fat sample was taken immediately after skin incision, and both bone and fat samples were taken at the time of the distal femoral cut, trialling of components, and immediately before closure. Times were recorded for each sample (Table 2.3), which were approximately 0.5–1 cm² in size.

We rinsed the samples in normal saline to remove excess blood and stored them at -90°C until analysis. Bone samples were crushed with pliers, finely cut further with a scalpel, weighed, and then immersed in phosphate-buffered saline (pH 7.3) for 15 hours at 4°C. The fat samples were finely cut with a scalpel and then treated in the same way as the bone samples. The immersed bone or fat tissue suspension was vortexed for 30 seconds and centrifuged at 15,000 g for 10 minutes. We transferred the supernatant to a clean tube and perchloric acid was added to precipitate the proteins. After centrifugation at 15,000 g for 5 minutes, 50 μ L of clear supernatant was injected into the high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system. A validation study of the extraction and HPLC technique was carried out using bone and tissue samples spiked with known concentrations of cefazolin. We analysed all samples in duplicate.

Means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence limits were calculated for the cefazolin concentrations in the different tissue samples. The tissue samples were pooled according to the surgical steps at which they were taken. Coefficients of variation (CVs) for concentration levels were also summarised at each surgical step for the comparison between the two drug administration routes. We used repeated measures analysis of covariance to compare the average level of cefazolin across time between groups adjusted by BMI, age, and length of the surgical procedure. The Shapiro-Wilk test was applied to assess the normality of the residuals.

	Intraosseous			Systemic		
Sampling point	Time (minutes)	Concentration (µg/g)	95% CI	Time (minutes)	Concentration (µg/g)	95% CI
Subcutaneous fat 1	1.2 (0.6)	175.3 (110)	102–250	1.3 (0.4)	7.2 (4.3)	4.2–10.3
Subcutaneous fat 2	11 (5.1)	193.0 (79.8)	140–247	14 (6.6)	12.8 (6.6)	8.4–17.2
Subcutaneous fat 3	30 (11.1)	206.3 (127)	121–292	35 (12.3)	11.2 (4.1)	8.4–14.0
Subcutaneous fat 4	56 (23.2)	169.1 (120)	88–250	54 (17.3)	11.3 (6.2)	7.1–15.4
Bone 1	11 (5.1)	75.4 (74.2)	26–125	14 (6.6)	9.2 (2.6)	7.4–10.9
Bone 2	30 (11.1)	165.6 (216)	21–311	35 (12.3)	14.1 (8.2)	8.6–19.6
Bone 3	56 (23.2)	148.8 (105)	79–219	54 (17.3)	10.8 (4.6)	7.7–13.8

Table 2.3 Mean tissue concentrations of cefazolin at each sample point

The data are shown as the mean with the standard deviation in parentheses. Time is given as minutes after the surgical incision. Differences in mean tissue concentrations between the two groups were statistically significant (p<0.001) for all comparison points. Abbreviation: CI, confidence interval

2.2.5 Results

The mean tissue concentration of cefazolin in subcutaneous fat at the different collection points ranged from $175 \pm 110 \,\mu g/g$ to $206 \pm 127 \,\mu g/g$ in the intraosseous group and from $7.2 \pm 4.3 \,\mu g/g$ to $12.8 \pm 6.6 \,\mu g/g$ in the systemic group (Figure 2.1, Table 2.3). The mean tissue concentration in bone ranged from $75 \pm 74 \,\mu g/g$ to $165.6 \pm 216 \,\mu g/g$ in the intraosseous group and from $9.2 \pm 2.6 \,\mu g/g$ to $14.1 \pm 8.2 \,\mu g/g$ in the systemic group (Figure 2.2). The overall mean tissue concentration of cefazolin in subcutaneous fat was $186 \,\mu g/g$ in the intraosseous group and $10.6 \,\mu g/g$ in the systemic group (p<0.01). The mean tissue concentration in bone was $130 \,\mu g/g$ in the intraosseous group and $11.4 \,\mu g/g$ in the systemic group (p<0.01). The concentration was noted to be more variable with the intraosseous route for both subcutaneous fat samples (CV 0.62-0.71 versus 0.37-0.56) and bone samples (CV 0.7-1.0 versus 0.3-0.6). Repeated measures analysis of covariance showed no association between tissue concentrations and age, BMI, sex, or length of the surgical procedure. No complications were seen in either group during the early postoperative period or at one-year follow-up.



Figure 2.1 Tissue concentrations of cefazolin in subcutaneous fat for each sample.



Figure 2.2 *Tissue concentrations of cefazolin in femoral bone for each sample.*

2.2.6 Discussion

Early studies of systemic cefazolin for surgical prophylaxis reported bone and soft tissue concentrations that were adequate to prevent infection^{46,47,62} and assumed MIC₉₀ levels of 0.5–1.0 μ g/mL for CoNS. However, over recent decades, resistance of CoNS to cephalosporins has increased markedly, and current MIC₉₀ values for these agents are as high as 100 μ g/mL for half of reported species⁶¹. This increase in resistance coincides with clinical data reporting a rise in the number of CoNS causing deep prosthetic infections¹². Regional delivery of antibiotics may offer better protection against CoNS by achieving higher tissue concentrations (Table 2.1); however, cannulation of a foot vein is difficult, time-consuming, and may compromise sterility. This study demonstrates that the more convenient intraosseous route is an effective alternative for regional delivery of antibiotic prophylaxis.

There are a number of limitations to this study. Firstly, while fluids and medications administered via the intraosseous route are reported to have pharmacokinetics similar to those of intravenous administration⁹⁶, use of this route for regional administration is not as well studied. However, the tissue concentrations of cephalosporins in our study are comparable with those seen with intravenous regional administration⁷⁷, suggesting the effectiveness of the two routes are similar. Secondly, we excluded patients with a high BMI to minimise the effect of this variable and because many authors recommend a higher systemic cefazolin dose in heavier patients⁶¹. We used a relatively high BMI cut-off of >35, so some of the patients in our systemic group may have been underdosed. However, Yamada et al⁶¹ found a mean bone concentration of only 16 μ g/g in TKA patients with a mean BMI of 25 given 2 g of cefazolin systemically, suggesting that a higher systemic dose would be unlikely to alter our

findings. A higher intraosseous dose could be considered for obese patients, but given the much smaller volume of distribution in regional administration, 1 g of cefazolin is still likely to provide extremely high tissue levels. Finally, although we saw no complications with this technique in our study, the number of study participants was small. Potential complications with intraosseous infusions include fluid extravasation with compartment syndrome related to incorrect needle placement in emergency situations⁹⁶. Needle site infection has been reported rarely⁹⁶, and correlates with the length of time the needle is left in situ. Subclinical fat emboli have been seen histologically in animal studies¹¹⁵, but no cases of fat embolism after intraosseous infusion have been reported in humans.

We found that intraosseous regional administration of prophylactic antibiotics in TKA provides tissue concentrations 10–15 times higher than those achieved by systemic administration. Our findings are similar to those of previous studies in TKA that used intravenous regional administration of other cephalosporins (Table 2.1). Hoddinott et al⁷⁷ compared 1 g of intravenous regional cefuroxime with 1 g of systemic cefamandole and found tissue concentrations 5–30 times higher with regional administration. During elbow surgery, Miller et al reported bone cefazolin concentrations 41 times higher and fat concentrations 133 times higher than those achieved by systemic dosing, reflecting the smaller regional volume of distribution in the upper limb⁷⁸.

Do such high levels lead to increased efficacy? Nickinson et al reported that 49% of TKA infections were due to CoNS and that over 55% of CoNS strains were methicillin-resistant¹². In 1990, Friedman et al⁴⁶ reported that the MIC₉₀ of cefazolin for resistant strains of CoNS was 64 μ g/mL, and in 2011 Yamada et al⁶¹ reported an

MIC₉₀ of 100 μ g/mL. Similar to previous studies^{46,47,62}, we found systemic dosing provided tissue concentrations of cefazolin (mean 10.6 μ g/g in fat, 11.4 μ g/g in bone) that were well below these levels. In contrast, the regional intraosseous route provided mean cefazolin concentrations of 185.9 μ g/g in fat and 129.9 μ g/g in bone. Such levels have a plausible theoretical advantage by providing greater activity against organisms such as CoNS for which the MICs of cefazolin are typically high.

Whether such high cefazolin levels improve efficacy against more sensitive (lower MIC) bacterial strains is less clear. While antibiotics such as aminoglycosides and fluoroquinolones exhibit concentration-dependent killing, for beta-lactam antibiotics such as cefazolin 'time above MIC' is the most important factor. Animal models of infection suggest that saturation of the killing rate occurs at cephalosporin concentrations 4–5 times the MIC⁵⁹. By definition, the highest MIC₉₀ for cefazolin-sensitive CoNS is 8 μ g/g⁶¹, so while the intraosseous regional route will ensure tissue concentrations are at least 5 times this level, any clinical advantage may well be small. However, higher beta-lactam concentrations (64 times MIC) are known to promote earlier initiation of bacterial killing⁵⁹, which may be more important in prophylaxis, where the goal is to prevent the initial bacterial adherence and colonisation.

Regional intraosseous antibiotic administration is used in the treatment of equine limb infection^{101,104,105}; however, only one study has investigated the use of regional intraosseous medications in humans. Waisman et al⁹⁷ reported on 109 patients given local anaesthetic in 140 mL of saline via the regional intraosseous route before upper or lower limb surgery. Two patients had inadequate anaesthesia, which the authors attributed to an insufficient volume (80 mL) infused in these patients. In our study, we

chose a higher volume of 200 mL because during regional administration the circulation has effectively ceased and distribution relies on the volume of fluid to 'push' the medication through the vasculature of the limb. We felt this volume would ensure the antibiotic is present in the tissues at incision, which occurs immediately after intraosseous injection. Our data showed very high antibiotic levels in the first tissue sample, and it is possible a smaller volume may be adequate.

For regional delivery of antibiotics in TKA, the main advantages of intraosseous over foot vein cannulation are reliability and speed. The proximal tibia is already exposed during TKA, and modern intraosseous cannulation system kits offer rapid access⁹⁴. The average time for cannulation and injection in this study was under 2 minutes, so the difference in overall tourniquet time between the two groups was minimal.

In summary, we have developed a technique for administering intraosseous regional antimicrobial prophylaxis prior to TKA that can achieve tissue levels an order of magnitude higher than with systemic administration. Further work is required to confirm whether this translates into increased efficacy in preventing infection, particularly if caused by CoNS.

2.2.7 Acknowledgments

We thank Irene Zeng MSc (Hons) for her assistance with the statistical analysis, Grant Moore BSc (Hons) for his assistance with the laboratory analysis, and the charitable trust Clinical Research and effective practice (CCRep) for its funding support. We also thank Vidicare (San Antonio, TX, USA) for supplying the intraosseous needles without charge.

2.3 Discussion of article

2.3.1 Contribution and significance

The primary finding of this paper was that the intraosseous route could be used effectively to deliver regional antibiotic prophylaxis in TKA. Insertion of an intraosseous needle was simple, rapid, and reproducible. Previously, regional administration of prophylactic antibiotics in TKA required cannulation of a foot vein, which can be time-consuming and is not always successful.⁷⁵ The intraosseous technique therefore makes regional prophylaxis in TKA practical for routine use.

The tissue concentrations in fat were extremely high in the first sample taken immediately following skin incision, suggesting that the antibiotic was rapidly distributed through the limb when administered by intraosseous injection. This is important because one of Burke's original criteria for effective prophylaxis was adequate tissue concentrations from the time of incision until the time of closure.³⁹ Intraosseous injection of the prophylactic antibiotic into the tibia occurs below a tourniquet, so there is no circulation to distribute the antibiotic through the vascular tree of the limb. Therefore, distribution relies on diffusion, which may not occur rapidly enough to provide adequate tissue levels when the skin is first incised and contamination starts to occur. However, this study showed high concentrations from the very first sample. This may have been facilitated by injection of a large volume of fluid (200 mL) that allowed rapid diffusion of the antibiotic⁹⁷.

Similarly, antibiotic concentrations in both fat and bone were consistently high in the intraosseous regional administration (IORA) group across all patients and samples. This suggests that the intraosseous route was reliable and effective in this group of adult patients with knee arthritis and supports the findings of previous animal

studies^{99,102,105,119} and a human study^{96,120} showing that intraosseous administration is equivalent to intravenous administration in both adult and paediatric patients.

2.3.2 Effect of high cefazolin concentrations on efficacy

This paper demonstrates that IORA achieves very high tissue concentrations of cefazolin, but whether this would reduce the rate of periprosthetic joint infection (PJI) is unclear. Given that the reported rates of PJI following TKA are between 0.86% and 2.5%¹⁰⁻¹³, adequately powering a study to detect a reduction in PJI rates would be difficult. However, knowledge of the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of cefazolin may offer insights into the likely effects of the higher concentrations seen with IORA.

In 1976, Shah et el proposed that antibiotics could be grouped based on their patterns of bactericidal activity as either concentration-dependent or time-dependent.¹²¹ Concentration-dependent antibiotics kill bacteria more effectively at higher antibiotic concentrations, and the pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic parameters associated with efficacy are C_{max} /MIC or AUC/MIC (Figure 2.3). In contrast, time-dependent antibiotics kill at a similar rate and extent once the concentration is above a certain threshold, and the parameter associated with efficacy is time above MIC. In this second pattern, increases in the antibiotic concentration beyond this point typically do not augment antibacterial activity, and thus the effectiveness relates to the duration of exposure^{59,122,123}.



Figure 2.3 *Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of antibiotics on a* concentration versus time curve and the three parameters (circled) associated with bacterial killing.

Abbreviations: AUC, area under the curve; MIC, minimum inhibitory concentration. Reproduced from Roberts JA, Kruger P, Paterson DL, Lipman J. Antibiotic resistance—What's dosing got to do with it? Crit Care Med. 2008;36(8):2433– 2440.¹²⁴

While such classifications are highly dependent on the specific antibiotic molecule and bacterial pathogen being studied, in general aminoglycosides and fluoroquinolones are considered concentration-dependent, whereas beta-lactam antibiotics such as cefazolin are considered time-dependent¹²². Therefore, the high concentrations of cefazolin seen with the IORA technique in this study may offer limited additional benefit in reducing the incidence of PJI following TKA.

However, classification of the pharmacodynamics of cefazolin as time-dependent or concentration-independent is based on animal models of treatment of established infection, typically mouse models of pneumonia^{125,126}. In this setting of established infection, antibiotics serve to support the body's immune system in eradicating the infection. In contrast, surgical prophylaxis aims to prevent the initial bacterial colonisation that leads to PJI. The humoral (antibody-mediated) immune response

does not occur until at least 7 days following contamination of an arthroplasty site.¹²⁷ Therefore, prophylactic antibiotics serve to support the innate immune system by preventing initial bacterial adherence before activation of avoidance mechanisms such as formation of biofilm. In the presence of an implant, as few as 100 colony-forming units of *Staphylococcus aureus* are sufficient to establish PJI¹²⁷, and clinical manifestations of infection may not appear until months or years following surgery¹²⁸.

Given that the antibiotic effect requires direct contact between an antibiotic molecule and a bacterium, such contact is likely to occur earlier in the presence of higher antibiotic concentrations. This is supported by animal studies showing that higher tissue concentrations lead to earlier initiation of bacterial killing, even for timedependent antibiotics.⁵⁹ This may be more important in the setting of prophylaxis, so the high cefazolin levels seen with IORA may increase the chances of contaminating bacteria being eradicated before colonisation occurs. In addition, *S. aureus* is known to form aggregates in the presence of synovial fluid.¹²⁹ Such aggregates are protective and render these bacteria insensitive to the cefazolin concentrations typically achieved after a 2 g intravenous dose¹²⁹, and higher concentrations may be help to overcome this bacterial defence mechanism.

Such considerations are theoretical, and currently there are no clinical data on the relationship between the tissue concentration of cefazolin and the efficacy of prophylaxis in arthroplasty surgery. However, it seems clear that any improved efficacy of prophylaxis using IORA would depend on the antibiotic used and that concentration-dependent antibiotics are likely to be more suited to IORA.

As noted previously, the two organisms causing contamination and early PJI in TKA are *S. aureus* and CoNS^{12,128,130}. Resistance of both species to cephalosporins is increasing worldwide, including in Australasia. Peel et al reported on the organisms causing PJI in 9392 TKAs and THAs during one year using the Victorian Healthcare Associated Infection Surveillance System database.¹³⁰ Overall, 81% of PJIs were caused by *S. aureus* and CoNS. Methicillin resistance was present in 47% of *S. aureus* and 90% of CoNS isolates.

When methicillin resistance is present in contaminating bacteria, even the high concentrations of cefazolin achieved using IORA may not be sufficient to overcome this resistance and prevent colonisation and subsequent PJI, and alternative agents such as vancomycin may offer an advantage. However, the microbiology of bacteria PJI varies considerably by region, and local knowledge in New Zealand is currently lacking.

Chapter 3 Antibiotic resistance in early periprosthetic joint infection in the Auckland region and its implications for prophylaxis

3.1 Introduction

The choice of prophylactic antibiotic is largely informed by the bacteria most likely to cause contamination and subsequent periprosthetic joint infection (PJI). Most guidelines in orthopaedics recommend cefazolin^{45,131}, but also stipulate that antibiotics should be chosen to cover the pathogens most frequently encountered in a given geographic region¹³⁰.

Little is known about the frequency of bacteria causing PJI following total knee arthroplasty (TKA) or the rates of antibiotic resistance in Auckland, New Zealand. PJI that occurs in the first 2 years following TKA surgery is most likely due to intraoperative contamination, unless an obvious haematogenous source exists¹⁶. The bacteria causing these infections are those most relevant to the choice of antibiotic prophylaxis.

In order for prophylactic antibiotics to be effective in reducing the risk of PJI, their spectrum of activity must cover the organisms likely to cause intraoperative contamination.³⁹ In TKA, antibiotics must therefore be effective against the two most common infective organisms, *Staphylococcus aureus* and coagulase-negative staphylococci (CoNS).^{12,18,128} In the 1960s, when arthroplasty procedures were first performed, methicillin resistance among CoNS strains was 2%.⁶⁴ Currently, 55%–75% of CoNS hospital isolates are methicillin-resistant.^{12,25,65,128,132} Further, some regions have reported that up to 56% of *S. aureus* isolates from infected joint arthroplasties are methicillin-resistant (MRSA).⁷⁴ Methicillin resistance amongst staphylococci confers resistance to all beta-lactam antibiotics, including cefazolin.
The aim of the research outlined in this chapter was to identify the bacteria causing PJI following TKA in Auckland, along with rates of resistance and the implications for prophylaxis. Some aspects of this chapter have been addressed in a recent article on antibiotic resistance in early PJI published by our group in Auckland.¹³³

3.2 Methods

We conducted a multicentre retrospective review of 4009 primary arthroplasties (2157 knees, 1852 hips) performed between January 1, 2006 and December 31, 2008 at three tertiary referral hospitals in Auckland, New Zealand, and identified all PJIs that occurred within 24 months of primary implantation.

PJI was diagnosed according to the Infectious Diseases Society of America definition, which requires fulfilment of any one of the following criteria: sinus tract continuous with the prosthesis; periprosthetic purulence without another aetiology; acute inflammation on histology of a periprosthetic specimen; and at least two microbiological specimens with the same organism on either periprosthetic or blood culture samples.¹³⁴ The Coventry system, as subsequently modified by Fitzgerald et al^{15,16}, was used to classify the PJIs. In this classification, infections with symptom onset within 2 years of the index procedure are assumed to be due to intraoperative contamination unless a clear haematogenous source exists.

PJIs were classified as haematogenous and excluded if there was an identifiable remote site of infection involving the same organism as that isolated from the arthroplasty or if the patient presented with acute signs of systemic infection (e.g., fever, rigors, and/or night sweats) and/or signs of local infection (e.g., acute joint inflammation and/or rapid-onset pain) in a previously well-functioning implant more than 3 months after the index procedure.¹²⁸

An initial clinical coding search was undertaken at each hospital using discharge summaries and theatre operating codes (ICD-9 and ICD-10). Appendix 1 shows the specific codes used in the search. Patient files were then screened manually to identify those who met the inclusion criteria and study definitions, after which 43 cases were identified as having occurred within 2 years of the primary surgery (Figure 3.1).



ire 3.1 Flow chart showing the number of cases enrolled after the exclusion eria were applied. Abbreviation: PJI, periprosthetic joint infection

nographic, operative, and laboratory data were collected from hospital records and s-referenced with the New Zealand Joint Registry database. The capture rate was % against this database. A univariate analysis was performed, with frequency lation of the following: demographic criteria, infective organisms, and susceptibility of cultured organisms to cefazolin. The infection profile at various time intervals (<6 weeks, 6–12 weeks, 3–12 months, and 12–24 months) was also evaluated.

3.3 Results

Forty-three cases of PJI were identified as having occurred within 2 years after the primary arthroplasty. Eight cases occurring more than 3 months post implantation were classified as acute haematogenous in origin, leaving 35 cases of PJI for inclusion in the study (Figure 3.1). This gave an overall rate of PJI due to intraoperative contamination of 0.87% (0.7% for hips, 1.0% for knees).

The cohort consisted of 13 (37.1%) THA and 22 (62.9%) TKA infections. The median patient age was 70 years. The majority (71.4%) of the patients were European, and the most common indication for the primary procedure was osteoarthritis (82.9%). Twenty-seven patients (77.1%) had an immunosuppressive comorbidity, the most common of which was smoking (Table 3.1).

Age, years	Mean	68	Joint	Hips	13
	SD	9.51		Knees	22
	Range	48-82	Indication	Osteoarthritis	29
Sex	Male	17		Rheumatoid arthritis	3
	Female	18		Fracture	3
Ethnicity	European	25	Comorbidities	Any	27
	Pacific Islander	4		Diabetes mellitus	8
	Maori	3		Malignancy	5
	Indian	2		Smoking	18
	Chinese	1		Rheumatoid arthritis	4
Hospital	ACH	3		Other CTD	3
	ММН	20		Other IS condition/drug	6
	NSH	12		Renal failure	5

Table 3.1 Patient demographic and clinical characteristics

Abbreviations: ACH, Auckland City Hospital; CTD, connective tissue disorder; IS, immunosuppressive; MMH, Middlemore Hospital; NSH, North Shore Hospital; SD, standard deviation

Thirty of the 35 cases had at least one positive culture (Table 3.2). From these, 43 organisms were cultured, of which 33 (77%) were Gram-positive organisms. CoNS (15, 35%) and *S. aureus* (11, 26%) were the most common infective organisms.

Patient infection characteristics (n=30)		Cultured infective organisms (n=43)	
Monomicrobial	21	Coagulase-negative staphylococci	15
Polymicrobial	9	Methicillin-susceptible Staphylococcus aureus	10
		Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus	1
Gram-positive infection only	22	Streptococcus spp.	6
Gram-negative infection only	3	Corynebacterium spp.	1
Mixed Gram-positive and	5	Enteric Gram-negative spp.	8
Gram-negative infection		Pseudomonas spp.	2

Cefazolin susceptibility was available for 38 (88%) isolates (Table 3.3). Overall, 21 (55%) of the infective organisms were cefazolin-resistant. Methicillin resistance was present in 11 (92%) CoNS isolates and one (9%) *S. aureus* isolate. Information on prophylaxis was available for 25 (71%) patients. Cefazolin prophylaxis was used in 24 (96%) patients and gentamicin prophylaxis was used in the remaining patient.

Infective organism	Cefazolin-susceptible (n=17)	Cefazolin-resistant (n=21)
Coagulase-negative staphylococci	1	11
Methicillin-sensitive Staphylococcus aureus	10	0
Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus	0	1
Streptococcus spp.	4	0
Enteric Gram-negative	2	3
Morganella morganii	0	2
Pseudomonas spp.	0	2
Serratia marcescens	0	1
Corynebacterium spp.	0	1

 Table 3.3 Susceptibility of organisms to cefazolin (n=38)

Cumulatively, PJIs occurred by 6 weeks in 18 cases (infection rate 0.45%), 3 months in 22 cases (infection rate 0.55%), 12 months in 29 cases (infection rate 0.72%), and 24 months in 35 cases (infection rate 0.87%). CoNS and *S. aureus* remained the most common pathogens during the <6-week, 6–12-week, and 3–12-month time intervals, however, CoNS and streptococci were most common in the 12–24-month time interval.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Contribution and significance

This study is the first to focus on the microbiology of PJIs that are most likely due to intraoperative contamination and to be influenced by prophylactic antibiotics, in

contrast with late infections caused by haematogenous spread of bacteria from another site in the body. This study also provides important local data relevant to New Zealand, considering that the microbiology of infection can vary by geographic region⁶⁸. We found that over 50% of organisms causing early PJI following primary total hip replacement or TKA were resistant to cefazolin, with the most resistance seen in Gram-positive organisms.

In contrast with previous studies on the microbiology of PJI^{12,67,68,135,136}, we focused on PJIs most likely to be secondary to intraoperative contamination. Such PJIs can be expected to have a distinct bacterial profile, which will be influenced by the prophylactic antibiotic used. Our findings support those of Fulkerson et al, who found that the majority of PJIs occurring within 4 weeks of surgery were cefazolin-resistant.¹²⁸ This is important because the outcome of treatment of PJI due to resistant organisms may be worse; Kilgus et al reported an 18% success rate for two-stage revision TKA if infection was caused by methicillin-resistant bacteria compared with 89% if caused by methicillin-susceptible strains.²⁵

3.4.2 Limitations

There are a number of limitations to this study. Firstly, it was retrospective, so the audit was reliant on the quality of the clinical coding searches performed at the hospitals. However, we cross-referenced the patients found on the New Zealand Joint Registry and had a capture rate of 100% against that database. Secondly, although we used the established Coventry classification to identify PJIs most likely due to intraoperative contamination, the true source of the bacteria causing PJI in an individual patient is difficult to identify with certainty. We found that a significant number of PJI cases were caused by hospital-acquired organisms, such as MRSA,

Morganella morganii, *Serratia marcescens*, and Pseudomonas spp. It is possible that such organisms cause PJI through either wound contamination or haematogenous spread in the early postoperative period instead of intraoperative contamination.¹³⁷ However, studies have shown that the initial preoperative prophylactic antibiotic dose is the most important, and that extended postoperative antibiotic regimens do not reduce the infection rate further.^{49,138} This suggests that careful consideration of an appropriate prophylactic agent to prevent intraoperative contamination progressing to PJI remains important. Moreover, given that up to 26% of CoNS infections may present more than 2 years after surgery¹³, we recognise that this definition may exclude some indolent PJI cases caused by intraoperative contamination. Finally, our microbiological data apply to the Auckland region only, and different centres will have differing resistance profiles.

3.4.3 Implications for prophylaxis

Prophylactic antibiotics function by preventing bacteria that contaminate the wound from surviving and progressing to cause PJI. Therefore, early PJI can be considered a 'failure' of prophylaxis. Cefazolin was the most commonly used prophylactic agent during our study period, so contamination with cefazolin-resistant organisms would be more likely to progress to PJI. Therefore, selection pressure is likely to explain the high rate of resistant Gram-positive organisms seen in this study. However, such resistant organisms are important in early PJI, and any attempt to reduce infection rates needs to consider this.

Resistance to cefazolin is mediated by alterations in the beta-lactam receptor in the bacterial cell wall to which cefazolin binds¹³⁹. Such resistance may not be overcome by simply increasing the tissue concentrations of cefazolin, because binding between

the antibiotic molecule and its receptor is still compromised. Therefore, improving antibiotic efficacy against cefazolin-resistant organisms requires use of an alternative agent, such as vancomycin.

3.4.4 Tissue concentrations of vancomycin and bacterial killing

Vancomycin is effective against cefazolin-resistant organisms, and in the context of IORA may also have the advantage of enhanced bacterial killing at higher tissue concentrations. This contrasts with the time-dependent killing seen with cefazolin, as discussed in Section 2.3.2.

While some early research suggested that vancomycin also exhibits time-dependent killing,¹⁴⁰ a number of animal studies have shown that the area under the concentration-time curve (AUC) divided by the MIC (AUC/MIC ratio) is the major pharmacodynamic parameter correlated with the therapeutic efficacy of vancomycin^{59,141}.

Ebert et al demonstrated in a neutropenic mouse model that the AUC/MIC was the best predictor of the activity of vancomycin against methicillin-susceptible, methicillin-resistant, and glycopeptide intermediate-resistant *S. aureus*.¹⁴¹ Further, in a mouse model of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* non-neutropenic peritonitis, Knudsen et al¹⁴² demonstrated that the peak serum concentration divided by the MIC (peak/MIC) was the pharmacodynamic parameter most associated with the success of vancomycin treatment. This suggests that higher concentrations would provide more effective bacterial killing, and this may be due to the post-antibiotic effect of vancomycin, which is particularly enhanced by higher tissue concentrations¹⁴¹. Löwdin et al reported that when vancomycin concentrations were 2–4 times above the MIC, the

post-antibiotic effect increased from 0.2 to 2 hours for *S. aureus* and from 4.3 to 6.5 hours for *S. epidermidis*.¹⁴³

There are also clinical data to support the relationship between higher vancomycin concentrations and greater efficacy. Moise-Broder et al assessed the relationship between the AUC/MIC for vancomycin and outcomes in 108 patients with MRSA pneumonia.¹⁴⁴ The odds of a successful clinical response in vancomycin-treated patients with an AUC/MIC \geq 350 were approximately seven times better than for patients with AUC/MIC values <350. While there are no specific data available in regard to arthroplasty, these pharmacodynamic studies support the hypothesis that a higher tissue concentration would enhance the prophylactic efficacy of vancomycin (Table 3.4).

Table 3.4 Pharmacodynamic parameters and correlation with clinical efficacy and bacterial eradication.

Antibiotic class	Pharmacodynamic parameter correlating with efficacy	Pharmacodynamic parameter associated with bacterial eradication	
Fluoroquinolones	AUC ₀₋₂₄ /MIC	C _{max} :MIC	
Aminoglycosides	C _{max} :MIC	C _{max} :MIC	
Carbapenems	T >MIC	T >MIC	
Glycopeptides (e.g., vancomycin)	AUC ₀₋₂₄ /MIC	T >MIC and C _{max} :MIC	

These parameters are often derived from in vitro studies and may not be directly transferable to clinical settings. Abbreviations: AUC, area under the curve; MIC, minimum inhibitory concentration; C_{max} , maximum serum antibiotic concentration. Adapted from Roberts et al.¹²⁴

3.4.5 Problems with systemic vancomycin prophylaxis

There are several issues concerning the use of systemic vancomycin as a prophylactic agent. Firstly, vancomycin carries the risk of toxicity to other organs. In particular, higher systemic concentrations of vancomycin have been associated with a greater risk of nephrotoxicity.¹⁴⁵ In a study of 1828 patients who underwent hip or knee arthroplasty, Courtney et al reported a higher rate of acute kidney injury in patients who received dual prophylaxis with vancomycin and cefazolin than in those who received cefazolin alone (13% versus 8%, p=0.002).¹⁴⁶ Secondly, there is concern that routine use of vancomycin may promote further antibiotic resistance. Thirdly, rapid systemic administration of vancomycin can trigger release of histamine and subsequent 'red man syndrome' caused by dilation of blood vessels secondary to

histamine release. Therefore, vancomycin is typically infused over 1–2 hours, which can be difficult to arrange, particularly for the first patient on the operating list. The timing of prophylactic antibiotics is also important for efficacy, and the dose should be timed to finish within the 60 minutes preceding the surgical incision.¹³ Achieving optimum timing of an infusion that needs to be started hours before surgery can be difficult in a busy operating room. Bull et al reviewed 18,342 arthroplasty procedures and found that vancomycin was given with appropriate timing in only 22% of cases compared with 77% of cases given a cephalosporin.⁸⁷ While data for orthopaedic procedures are limited, appropriate timing of vancomycin appears to be important in its effectiveness when administered as prophylaxis. Garey et al prospectively monitored 2048 patients undergoing cardiac surgery with vancomycin prophylaxis.¹⁴⁷ They reported that the infection rate was two times higher when the vancomycin infusion finished more than 60 minutes before surgery, and tissue concentrations would have started to fall below their peak at the time of incision.

Finally, the problem of achieving optimal timing of systemic vancomycin prophylaxis may be exacerbated by inadequate dosing. Because of the risk of systemic toxicity, there is a tendency to be cautious when administering vancomycin. This can lead to inadequate dosing, particularly in obese patients¹⁴⁸. Catanzano et al reported that serum vancomycin concentrations were lower than 15 mg/L in 60% of 216 patients given systemic vancomycin prophylaxis prior to orthopaedic surgery.¹⁴⁹ Therefore, inadequate tissue concentrations when using systemic administration may be a reason why vancomycin prophylaxis has not been shown to reduce PJI following arthroplasty.¹⁵⁰

3.4.6 Vancomycin prophylaxis using IORA

In summary, there are multiple reasons why vancomycin may be more suitable than cefazolin for IORA prophylaxis in TKA. These include the ability of vancomycin to provide coverage for cefazolin-resistant organisms and its enhanced ability to kill bacteria when present at higher concentrations.

Administration of prophylactic vancomycin via IORA has advantages over systemic vancomycin. It is easier to achieve optimal timing with an IORA bolus than with a prolonged systemic infusion and a lower dose can be used, reducing the risk of systemic toxicity. The lower more targeted dose may reduce subsequent development of resistance. These advantages led to further study of IORA using low-dose vancomycin as the prophylactic agent.

Chapter 4 Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous regional versus systemic prophylaxis in total knee arthroplasty

4.1 Preface

Intraosseous regional administration may allow high tissue concentrations of prophylactic antibiotic to be achieved at the surgical site with a lower overall dose. This has particular appeal for antibiotics with known systemic toxicity, such as vancomycin¹⁴⁶. Vancomycin also offers coverage of resistant strains of *Staphylococcus aureus* and CoNS, which are common causes of infection in TKA.

The following section contains a modified version of an article entitled 'The Mark Coventry Award: Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous regional versus systemic prophylaxis in TKA' published in 2014 in *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* (volume 472, pages 57–65). *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* has a 2016 impact factor of 3.127. The paper received the 2014 Knee Society Mark Coventry award, presented in Chicago, IL, USA. This is the first time this award has been received by a New Zealand researcher. It was presented at the 2014 open meeting of the Knee Society in Chicago and published as part of the Knee Society Symposium. The paper also received a Top 5 award at the 2013 International Congress for Joint Replacement in New York in 2013. **4.2** Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous regional versus systemic prophylaxis in TKA

4.2.1 Title page

The Mark Coventry Award

Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous regional versus systemic prophylaxis in TKA: a randomized trial

Simon W. Young FRACS, Mei Zhang PhD, Joshua T. Freeman FRCPA, John Mutu-Grigg FRACS, Paul Pavlou FRCS, Grant A. Moore BSc (Hons)

S. W. Young (⊠), P. Pavlou, J. Mutu-Grigg
Department of Orthopaedics, North Shore Hospital, Private Bag 93-503, Takapuna,
Auckland City 0740, New Zealand
E-mail: simonwyoung@gmail.com

M. Zhang

Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Medicine, University of Otago, Christchurch, New Zealand

G. A. Moore

Toxicology, Canterbury Health Laboratories, Christchurch, New Zealand

J. T. Freeman

Clinical Microbiology, Auckland City Hospital, Auckland, New Zealand

The institutions of two of the authors (MZ, GAM) received funding from the Awhina Trust (Auckland, New Zealand), a charitable trust with no relationship to the subject of this article.

All ICMJE Conflict of Interest Forms for authors and *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* editors and board members are on file with the publication and can be viewed on request.

Each author certifies that his or her institution approved the human protocol for this investigation, that all investigations were conducted in conformity with ethical principles of research, and that informed consent for participation in the study was obtained.

Procedures and sample collection were performed at North Shore Hospital, Auckland, New Zealand. Sample analysis was performed at Canterbury Health Laboratories, Christchurch, New Zealand.

4.2.2 Abstract

Background In response to increasing antibiotic resistance, vancomycin has been proposed as an alternative prophylactic agent in total knee arthroplasty (TKA). However, vancomycin requires a prolonged administration time, risks promoting further antibiotic resistance, and can cause systemic toxicity. Intraosseous regional administration (IORA) is known to achieve markedly higher antibiotic concentrations than systemic administration and may allow the use of a lower vancomycin dose.

Questions/purposes We assessed whether low-dose IORA vancomycin can achieve tissue concentrations equal or superior to those of systemic administration in TKA and compared complications between patients treated with IORA and those treated with intravenous vancomycin.

Methods We randomised 30 patients undergoing primary TKA to receive 250 mg or 500 mg of vancomycin by IORA or 1 g of vancomycin by systemic administration. IORA was performed as a bolus injection into a tibial intraosseous cannula below an inflated thigh tourniquet immediately before skin incision. Subcutaneous fat and bone samples were taken during the procedure and antibiotic concentrations were measured.

Results The overall mean tissue concentration of vancomycin in subcutaneous fat was 14 μ g/g in the 250 mg IORA group, 44 μ g/g in the 500 mg IORA group, and 3.2 μ g/g in the systemic group. Mean concentrations in bone were 16 μ g/g in the 250 mg IORA group, 38 μ g/g in the 500 mg IORA group, and 4.0 μ g/g in the systemic group. One patient in the systemic group developed 'red man syndrome' during infusion. *Conclusions* Low-dose IORA vancomycin results in tissue concentrations equal or superior to those achieved by systemic administration. IORA optimises timing of vancomycin administration, and the lower dose may reduce the risk of systemic side effects while providing equal or enhanced prophylaxis in TKA.

Level of Evidence Level I; therapeutic study.

Prophylactic antibiotics dramatically reduce infection rates after arthroplasty. Randomised trials during the 1970s reported deep infection rates of 1%–2% when prophylactic cephalosporins were administered compared with 7%–15% for placebo.^{41,118,151}

However, due to increasing antibiotic resistance in recent decades, cephalosporins may no longer provide adequate prophylaxis.⁶¹ To be effective, prophylactic antibiotics require a spectrum of activity that covers the organisms likely to cause contamination during the procedure.³⁹ In total knee arthroplasty (TKA), the two most common organisms causing infection are *Staphylococcus aureus* and coagulase-negative staphylococci (CoNS).^{12,18} Currently, 60%–90% of CoNS isolates are resistant to cephalosporins^{12,61} and 33%–56% of *S. aureus* isolates from infected joint arthroplasties are methicillin-resistant (MRSA)^{74,152}. Data from the National Nosocomial Infection Surveillance System showed that the rate of methicillin resistance in *S. aureus* infections rose from 35.9% to 64.4% between 1992 and 2003, representing an increase of 3.1% per year.⁶⁶

Despite increasing methicillin resistance, the vast majority of MRSA and CoNS isolates remain sensitive to vancomycin¹², leading many to propose it as an alternative prophylactic agent in TKA^{87,153-155}. However, vancomycin has several disadvantages. Firstly, it requires a prolonged intravenous administration time because rapid infusion can cause red man syndrome, which consists of a pruritic erythematous rash related to histamine release.¹⁵⁶ A typical prophylactic dose of 1 g requires the infusion to be started a minimum of 1 hour before surgery, and failure to achieve this may lead to underdosing⁸⁷. In a review of 18,342 arthroplasty procedures, vancomycin was given

with appropriate timing in only 22% of cases compared with 77% of cases given a cephalosporin.⁸⁷ Secondly, widespread use of vancomycin risks promoting further antibiotic resistance.¹⁵⁷ Finally, vancomycin can also cause renal and other systemic toxicity.^{146,156}

We have validated intraosseous regional administration (IORA) of prophylactic antibiotics in TKA¹⁵⁸ and recorded markedly higher tissue concentrations of antibiotic than were achievable with systemic administration. IORA may allow lower vancomycin doses, thereby reducing systemic toxicity and avoiding the difficulties associated with prolonged preoperative infusion times. We hypothesised that lower doses of vancomycin via IORA could still achieve tissue concentrations equal or superior to those of systemic administration before TKA. We also sought to compare complications between patients treated with IORA and those treated with intravenous vancomycin.

4.2.4 Patients and methods

Patients undergoing primary TKA at a single institution were eligible for enrolment into this prospective, randomised controlled trial. Inclusion criteria were age younger than 90 years and a primary diagnosis of osteoarthritis. Exclusion criteria were previous compartment syndrome, allergy to an antibiotic used in the study, abnormal cardiac or renal function, or concurrent nephrotoxic medications. From November 2011 to February 2012, 35 patients undergoing primary TKA for osteoarthritis were assessed for enrolment. Three patients were excluded (two with significant cardiac dysfunction [aortic stenosis, congestive heart failure] and one who refused to provide consent), leaving 32 patients who were randomised into three groups using computer4.1).

	IORA vancomycin 250 mg (n=10)	IORA vancomycin 500 mg (n=10)	Systemic vancomycin 1 g (n=10)
Sex			
Male	5	4	1
Female	5	6	9
Age (years)	70.8 (49-89)	71.7 (55–85)	71.4 (53–83)
Body mass index	32.2 (26–36.7)	30.0 (22–38)	34.8 (27–51)
Tourniquet time (minutes)	105 (88–135)	102 (82–130)	99 (74–116)
Duration of procedure (minutes skin to skin)	101 (85–130)	97 (78–128)	97 (74–114)
ASA score	2.7	2.2	2.7

Table 4.1 Patient demographic characteristics.

Values are given as the mean with the range in parentheses. Abbreviations: ASA, American Society of Anesthesiologists; IORA, intraosseous regional administration

Patients were randomised in the preoperative area to allow appropriate setup in the operating room. Two patients were excluded post-randomisation due to technical errors (one patient was given an incorrect dose of systemic vancomycin and the intraosseous injection equipment was unavailable for another patient), leaving 30 patients available for analysis.

Data from a previous randomised trial comparing IORA and systemic administration of cefazolin¹⁵⁸ showed mean (\pm standard deviation) tissue concentrations of cefazolin in subcutaneous fat at different collection intervals ranging from 175.3 \pm 110 µg/g to

 $206.3 \pm 127 \ \mu\text{g/g}$ in the IORA group and from $7.2 \pm 4.3 \ \mu\text{g/g}$ to $12.8 \pm 6.6 \ \mu\text{g/g}$ in the systemic group. The mean tissue concentration in bone ranged from $75.4 \pm 74.2 \,\mu g/g$ to $165.6 \pm 216.1 \ \mu g/g$ in the IORA group and from $9.2 \pm 2.6 \ \mu g/g$ to $14.1 \pm 8.2 \ \mu g/g$ in the systemic group. Thus, the concentration of cefazolin was approximately 10 times higher when using IORA than when using systemic administration. Using these data, an a priori power analysis calculated that 10 patients in each arm would provide greater than 80% statistical power to detect the expected fold difference in subcutaneous fat and bone concentrations among the three groups at the 5%significance level when IORA doses 25% (250 mg) and 50% (500 mg) of the systemic dose (1 g) were used. While data on the pharmacodynamics of vancomycin when used for prophylaxis are lacking, in treatment models of infection, the area under the concentration-time curve (AUC) divided by the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) is the pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic parameter most predictive of efficacy. Therefore, further increases in tissue vancomycin concentrations are likely to enhance the effectiveness of prophylaxis, particularly when the MIC of vancomycin is $\geq 1 \ \mu g/mL$, such as for MRSA and CoNS; this suggests the differences used in our power analysis are clinically relevant.

Because the study was investigating a new technique, all patients received standard prophylaxis with 1 g of systemic cefazolin 10–30 minutes before tourniquet inflation regardless of treatment allocation. All patients underwent limb exsanguination and tourniquet inflation to 250 mmHg before routine preparation and draping. The tourniquet remained inflated for the entire procedure. TKA was performed using an imageless computer navigation system (Stryker Orthopedics, Mahwah, NJ, USA). The first group (250 mg IORA) received 250 mg of vancomycin in 200 mL of normal saline via IORA using an EZ-IO (Vidacare Corp, San Antonio, TX, USA; FDA- approved) intraosseous cannula placed in the medial aspect of the proximal tibia at approximately the level of the tibial tubercle (Figure 4.1), after draping and before skin incision (video 1; supplemental materials are available with the online version of CORR®). The injection was administered as a bolus immediately after tourniquet inflation and the surgical incision was made immediately (<1 minute) thereafter. The second group (500 mg IORA) received 500 mg of vancomycin according to the same protocol, which has been previously described¹⁵⁸. The third group (1 g systemic) received 1 g of vancomycin systemically through a forearm vein as a 1-hour infusion, starting 60–120 minutes before surgery.

Surgery was carried out under combined spinal and epidural anaesthesia in 27 patients, spinal anaesthesia with a femoral nerve block in two patients, and femoral nerve block alone in one patient. Patients were monitored for clinical signs of red man syndrome throughout the procedure, particularly after tourniquet deflation. An antihistamine was available for use if required.

Samples of subcutaneous fat and femoral cancellous bone (approximately 0.5 cm³) were taken at four points during the procedure. The first subcutaneous fat sample was taken immediately after skin incision, and subsequently both bone and fat samples were taken at the time of the distal femoral cut, at the time of trialling the components, and immediately before closure. Bone samples were taken from the distal femur using a curette. Collection times were recorded for each sample (Table 4.2). In addition, systemic blood samples were taken at the time of the final tissue sample (while the tourniquet was inflated), then at 1, 4, and 8 hours post-deflation and on the morning after the procedure. In previous animal studies of IORA vancomycin, peak systemic concentrations occurred 60–70 minutes after deflation of the tourniquet.¹⁰²



Figure 4.1 (*A*) Insertion of the intraosseous needle using a sterilised driver and (*B*) the needle in situ allowing injection of the antibiotic after tourniquet inflation and prior to skin incision. (Images from Vidacare Corp, San Antonio, TX, USA)

	IORA vancomycin 250 mgIORA vancomycin 500 mg		omycin 500 mg	Systemic vancomycin 1 g		
Sample point	Time (min)	Concentration (µg/g)	Time (min)	Concentration µg/g	Time (min)	Concentration µg/g
Subcutaneous fat 1	0.3 (0.6)	19.4 (11.7)	0.1 (0.3)	50.4 (36)	0.1 (0.3)	2.7 (1.0)
Subcutaneous fat 2	27 (9.0)	17.0 (12.0)	24 (6.3)	52.3 (67)	24 (7.0)	4.4 (2.0)
Subcutaneous fat 3	52 (16.8)	11.4 (9.1)	51 (6.9)	32.0 (18.1)	54 (10.3)	3.2 (1.4)
Subcutaneous fat 4	80 (19.7)	8.1 (5.6)	83 (16.7)	41.1 (36.5)	81 (11.1)	2.4 (1.5)
Bone 1	27 (9.0)	11.6 (7.9)	24 (6.3)	20.7 (23.9)	24 (7.0)	3.3 (2.4)
Bone 2	52 (16.8)	19.2 (10.2)	51 (6.9)	44.0 (66)	54 (10.3)	5.3 (2.7)
Bone 3	80 (19.7)	18.1 (11.0)	83 (16.7)	50.0 (54.1)	81 (11.1)	3.5 (2.1)

 Table 4.2 Mean tissue concentrations of vancomycin at each sample point.

The data are presented as the mean and standard deviation. Times are given as minutes after surgical incision. Differences in mean tissue concentrations between the three groups were statistically significant (p<0.001) for all comparison points after adjustment for sex, age, and time from incision.

Tissue samples were rinsed in saline to remove excess blood and stored at -90°C until analysis. Vancomycin concentrations were analysed by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS). Each bone sample was crushed with pliers, finely cut further with a scalpel into small particles, then weighed and immersed in phosphate-buffered saline pH 7.3 (the ratio of bone/phosphatebuffered saline pH 7.3 was 1:5, w/v) at 4°C overnight to extract vancomycin from the bone. Each fat sample was finely minced with a scalpel, weighed, and then treated in the same way as the bone samples. The immersed tissue suspensions were vortexed and centrifuged to precipitate tissue particles. Fifty microliters of the supernatant were transferred to a 1.5 mL plastic centrifuge tube, and 25 μ L of internal standard (0.25 μ g/mL aminopterin) was added. The mixture was then vortexed, and 200 μ L of methanol were added to precipitate the proteins. After centrifugation at 15,000 g for 5 minutes, a 50 µL aliquot of clear supernatant was mixed with 500 mL of water and transferred to a 96-well plate autosampler. A 10 µL volume was injected into the LC-MS/MS system. Vancomycin and the internal standard, aminopterin, were resolved on a Luna[®] C18(2) 5 μ m, 50 mm × 2.0 mm internal diameter column (Phenomenex, Inc, Torrance, CA, USA) using a gradient elution of 0.05% formic acid and methanol. The two compounds were detected using electrospray ionisation in the positive ion mode. The optimised precursor-to-product ion transitions monitored for vancomycin [M +2H²⁺ and aminopterin [M + H]⁺ were m/z 725.6 \rightarrow 144.2 and m/z 441.2 \rightarrow 294.2, respectively. The vancomycin and internal standard peaks were free of interference from endogenous substances present in blank bone and fat. The standard curve was linear over the concentration range of 0.05-50 mg/L (r >0.999), which encompasses clinical concentrations, bias was less than $\pm 10\%$, intraday and interday coefficients of variation were less than 10%, and the limit of quantification was 0.05 mg/L. Systemic

blood samples were analysed using homogeneous particle-enhanced turbidimetric inhibition immunoassay on a Dimension Vista® analyser (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany). All patient samples were analysed in duplicate, and laboratory analysis was carried out blinded to group allocation.

Means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence intervals were calculated for the concentrations in the different samples. The different tissue samples were pooled according to the surgical steps at which they were taken. Repeated measures analysis of variance was used to compare the average concentration across time between the groups adjusted by sex, age, and time from incision. The interaction between time from incision and group was also assessed. For those with serum vancomycin concentrations <0.8 μ g/mL, a random imputation was applied assuming the mean log(concentration) was equal to 0.4 and the standard deviation was derived by the other records available at the same time point.

4.2.5 Results

The overall mean tissue concentration of vancomycin in subcutaneous fat was higher in the 250 mg IORA group than in the 1 g systemic group (14 μ g/g versus 3.2 μ g/g; p<0.001, Table 4.2) and was highest in the 500 mg IORA group (44 μ g/g) when compared with the other groups (p<0.001, Figure 4.2). Similarly, the overall mean tissue concentration of vancomycin in bone was higher in the 250 mg IORA group than in the 1 g systemic group (16 μ g/g versus 4.0 μ g/g, p<0.001) and higher in the 500 mg IORA group (38 μ g/g) when compared with the other groups (p<0.001, Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.2 Tissue concentrations of vancomycin in subcutaneous fat at each sample point. The 250 mg IORA vancomycin group is in blue, the 500 mg IORA vancomycin group is in orange, and the 1 g systemic vancomycin group is in green. Concentrations are shown on a log scale: $2 = 7 \mu g/g$, $4 = 55 \mu g/g$, and $6 = 403 \mu g/g$. Each box represents the median; the horizontal line in each box represents the 25% and 75% quartiles; the whiskers represent 1.5 times the interquartile range from the box.



Figure 4.3 Tissue concentrations of vancomycin in bone at each sample point. The 250 mg IORA vancomycin group is in blue, the 500 mg IORA vancomycin group is in orange, and the 1 g systemic vancomycin group is in green. Concentrations are shown on a log scale: $1 = 3 \mu g/g$, $2 = 7 \mu g/g$, $3 = 20 \mu g/g$, $4 = 55 \mu g/g$, and $5 = 148 \mu g/g$. Each box represents the median; the horizontal line in each box represents the 25% and 75% quartiles; the whiskers represent 1.5 times the interquartile range from the box.

Twenty-five percent (16 of 63) of bone and fat tissue samples in the 1 g systemic group were less than 2.0 μ g/g, which is the typical MIC of vancomycin for CoNS. In comparison, 4% of samples (three of 70) in the 250 mg IORA group and 1% (one of

70) in the 500 mg IORA group were below this level. For patients in the IORA groups, vancomycin levels were either not detectable or only slightly raised in intraoperative systemic blood samples taken at a mean 86 minutes after injection, indicating generally successful functioning of the tourniquet (Table 4.3). After tourniquet deflation, peak vancomycin concentrations in systemic blood were lower in both IORA groups than in the 1 g systemic group (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4 *Loess graph showing the systemic blood concentrations of vancomycin with predicted confidence intervals in the three intervention groups.*

Systemic blood sample	IORA vancomycin 250 mg (µg/g)	IORA vancomycin 500 mg (µg/g)	Systemic vancomycin 1 g (µg/g)	p-value*
Intraoperatively	0.7 (0.6, 1.06)	0.6 (0.6, 0.7)	11.4 (10.2, 13.4)	<0.001
Postoperative hour 1	2.7 (2.1, 3.5)	6.0 (5.3, 6.9)	9.4 (8.9, 11.1)	<0.001
Postoperative hour 4	2.6 (1.0, 4.0)	4.6 (4.2, 4.9)	7.0 (6.6, 7.8)	<0.001
Postoperative hour 8	1.4 (1.4, 1.4)	4.0 (2.9, 4.1)	5.3 (5.1, 5.8)	0.001
Postoperative hour 20	1.4 (1.0, 2.2)	2.4 (0.6, 2.7)	3.7 (2.9, 5.3)	<0.001

Table 4.3 Median systemic blood concentrations of vancomycin at each sample point.

The data are presented as the median with the interquartile range in parentheses.

One patient in the 1 g systemic group developed red man syndrome, consisting of erythema, pruritus, and hot flushing, during infusion of vancomycin. The vancomycin infusion was stopped after 700 mg had been administered and the symptoms resolved. The patient remained haemodynamically stable and the procedure was carried out as normal. Tissue and blood samples for this patient were not included in the analysis. No clinical signs of red man syndrome were seen in any patient undergoing IORA; in particular, no signs were seen after tourniquet deflation. Minor transient decreases in systolic blood pressure (5-30 mmHg) were seen after tourniquet deflation in six patients in the 250 mg IORA group, five patients in the 500 mg IORA group, and seven patients in the 1 g systemic group. One patient in the 500 mg IORA group developed a deep vein thrombosis in a peroneal calf vein, which was seen on an ultrasound scan on day 3. He was treated with warfarin, and a repeat scan at 6 weeks showed resolution of the clot and the warfarin was discontinued. No deep or superficial infections occurred in either group. One patient in the 250 mg IORA group went on to have a TKA performed on the contralateral knee 2 months after participation in this study. The patient was given systemic prophylaxis with 1 g of cefazolin and developed a deep infection 4 weeks postoperatively, which eventually required two-stage revision surgery. The infecting organism was cefazolin-resistant CoNS.

4.2.6 Discussion

Antibiotic resistance is an increasing problem, and rates of orthopaedic infection due to MRSA and resistant CoNS are rising¹⁵⁵. This, together with the severe consequences of a deep infection, has led some authors to propose vancomycin as an alternative prophylactic agent in TKA¹⁵³, particularly in centres where MRSA rates

83

are high^{154,155}. However, vancomycin has several disadvantages, including systemic side effects, in particular nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity, potential promotion of further bacterial resistance, and a prolonged administration time. We previously investigated IORA as a method of maximising tissue concentrations of cefazolin in TKA.¹⁵⁸ This study explores the use of IORA to give a lower dose of a more toxic drug, potentially minimising its adverse effects. We hypothesised that lower doses of vancomycin via IORA could still achieve tissue concentrations equal or superior to those of systemic administration before TKA.

Although we saw no evidence of red man syndrome with IORA vancomycin, our study had the limitations of a small number of patients and exclusion of patients with significant cardiac disease. Red man syndrome is an anaphylactoid reaction caused by degranulation of mast cells that results in release of histamine. It is not an allergic reaction and is independent of preformed immunoglobulin E. It occurs in 30%-90% of healthy volunteers given vancomycin¹⁵⁹; symptoms are usually mild and alleviated by use of an antihistamine. Its occurrence is related to both vancomycin dosage and rate of infusion; Polk et al¹⁶⁰ observed the reaction during systemic infusion of vancomycin 1 g in 82% of volunteers, but no reaction occurred when a 500 mg dose was used. Healy et al¹⁶¹ noted symptoms in eight of 10 volunteers (80%) given 1 g of vancomycin over one hour, but in only three of 10 volunteers (30%) given the same dose over 2 hours. The absence of red man syndrome in patients who received IORA vancomycin in our study is likely due to both the lower doses used and the depot effect of the high tissue concentrations causing antibiotic to be released gradually into the systemic circulation after tourniquet deflation¹⁰⁰. However, until data on a larger number of patients are available, we recommend that patients receiving vancomycin

by IORA be monitored closely after tourniquet deflation and an antihistamine be available for use if required.

A second potential limitation of the IORA technique is the lower systemic concentration when the tourniquet is released. Many surgeons routinely continue antibiotics for 24 hours postoperatively, and further systemic vancomycin doses after IORA would still be required to maintain tissue levels. However, due to the high initial concentrations achieved, vancomycin levels in perioperative tissues are likely to remain elevated for some time. Hoddinott et al⁷⁷ demonstrated persistently elevated antibiotic levels in drain fluid on the morning after surgery in patients undergoing TKA and given prophylactic cefazolin via a regional route. Additionally, a distinction should be made between use of an antibiotic for prophylaxis versus its use to treat an established infection. The goal of prophylaxis is to prevent initial bacterial adherence and colonisation during the period the wound is open, when contamination is occurring.³⁹ Therefore, the critical period when adequate antibiotic concentrations must be present in the tissues is from the time of incision to the time of closure, and was achieved in both IORA groups in this study. Moreover, a number of randomised controlled trials have shown no difference in infection rates between patients who receive a single preoperative antibiotic dose and those in whom antibiotics are continued for 24 hours^{162 84}, implying further doses after IORA may be unnecessary.

Timing of prophylactic antibiotics is critical to their effectiveness; maximum benefit is achieved when they are administered in the 60 minutes before skin incision⁴⁹. Protocols for systemic vancomycin require infusion rates of no greater than 1 g per 60 minutes, so a prophylactic dose of 1 g needs to be started 1–2 hours before surgery¹⁵³. This is difficult to incorporate into operating room protocols¹⁶³, and clinical studies

show that optimal timing of vancomycin is rarely achieved in practice^{87,155}. An advantage of IORA over the systemic route is that it ensures appropriate timing of administration, and very high tissue levels of antibiotic were present immediately after skin incision both in this study and in a previous investigation of IORA¹⁵⁸. A disadvantage is that injection by IORA occurs after tourniquet inflation, adding 2–4 minutes to overall tourniquet time. The intraosseous needles are also an additional cost.

Regional administration of prophylactic antibiotics in TKA has been investigated previously using teicoplanin, a glycopeptide antibiotic with a spectrum of activity similar to that of vancomycin. de Lalla et al⁷⁶ reported that intravenous regional administration (IVRA) of teicoplanin 400 mg via a foot vein provided tissue concentrations 2–10 times higher than teicoplanin 800 mg given via the systemic route. The same authors later prospectively evaluated this IVRA protocol in 250 patients undergoing TKA and reported a 0% deep infection rate⁷⁵.

While this is the first study of IORA vancomycin in humans, the veterinary literature contains a number of reports of regional antibiotic administration via this route for the treatment of limb infections. Rubio-Martínez et al¹⁰² compared IORA vancomycin versus IVRA vancomycin in 12 horses. No complications were reported, and the tissue concentrations achieved by the two routes were similar. That study and a number of other animal studies^{104,105,164} have demonstrated that the tissue antibiotic concentrations reached using the IVRA and IORA routes are equivalent. IORA injections also travel directly into the intravascular space, and in TKA surgery the main advantages of this route over IVRA are reliability and speed of access.

reproducible⁹⁴, and unlike cannulation of a foot vein, does not require any changes to standard sterile draping.

Potential complications of intraosseous infusion include extravasation of fluid with compartment syndrome related to incorrect needle placement in emergency situations⁹⁶. Infection at the needle site is rare and correlates with the length of time the needle is left in situ⁹⁶. Fat embolus is a theoretical concern, and subclinical lung microemboli have been seen histologically following intraosseous infusion in some animal studies^{115,116}. However, no measurable effects on ventilation-perfusion performance have been found^{116,165}, and other studies report no difference in histological fat embolus rates between intraosseous and intravenous infusions¹⁶⁵. To date, no cases of clinical fat emboli associated with intraosseous infusion have been reported in humans⁹⁶.

Accepted indications for vancomycin prophylaxis in TKA include beta-lactam allergy and known colonisation with MRSA¹⁵³. High institutional prevalence of MRSA has also been suggested as an indication¹⁵⁴, but the prevalence at which routine prophylaxis with vancomycin becomes beneficial is controversial¹⁵⁵. Promotion of further antibiotic resistance with routine vancomycin prophylaxis remains a significant concern, because prolonged exposure to sublethal concentrations may promote the emergence of resistant organisms¹⁶⁶. In theory, low-dose IORA may exert less selection pressure than systemic administration by maximising tissue levels at the site of action and reducing the overall exposure; however, any advantage is difficult to quantify.

In conclusion, while concerns about the routine use of vancomycin for prophylaxis remain, use of low-dose IORA vancomycin can achieve higher tissue concentrations

than systemic administration without prolonged preoperative infusion times. This may optimise the timing of administration of vancomycin and reduce the risk of systemic side effects, while providing equal or enhanced prophylaxis in TKA.

4.2.7 Acknowledgments

We thank Irene Zeng MSc (Hons) for her assistance with the statistical analysis, the Awhina Trust for its funding support, and Dr Kelly Vince for his advice and guidance on the project. We also thank Vidacare Corp for supplying the intraosseous needles without charge.

4.3 Discussion of article

4.3.1 Contribution and significance

The main finding of this study was that the IORA technique provided very high tissue drug concentrations when low-dose vancomycin was used as the prophylactic agent. In comparison with cefazolin, prophylaxis with vancomycin covers cefazolin-resistant Gram-positive organisms that are common causes of PJI, as seen in Chapter 3.

4.3.2 Vancomycin and red man syndrome

This study found that IORA vancomycin could be safely administered as a bolus injection. This ensures that the prophylactic antibiotic is administered with optimal timing, which is known to be important for efficacy.⁴⁹ This contrasts with the 1–2-hour infusion required when vancomycin is administered systemically.

Further, no evidence of red man syndrome was seen in the IORA vancomycin groups at either dose. This is likely because of both the lower vancomycin dose and the depot
effect of the high tissue concentration causing antibiotic to be released gradually into the systemic circulation after tourniquet deflation¹⁰¹. Red man syndrome is an anaphylactoid reaction caused by degranulation of mast cells resulting in histamine release. It is not an allergic reaction and is independent of preformed immunoglobulin E. It occurs in 30%–90% of healthy volunteers given vancomycin.¹⁵⁹ Symptoms are usually mild and alleviated by use of an antihistamine. The incidence is related to both dosage and rate of infusion; Polk et al¹⁶⁰ observed the reaction during systemic infusion of vancomycin 1 g in 82% of volunteers, but no reaction occurred when a 500 mg dose was used. Healy et al¹⁶¹ noted symptoms in eight of 10 volunteers (80%) who received vancomycin 1 g over one hour, but in only three of 10 volunteers (30%) who received the same dose over 2 hours. Because development of red man syndrome is related to dosage¹⁵⁹, we used two different doses of vancomycin to determine if one was more likely to cause red man syndrome. Given that no such effect was seen at either dose, it seems reasonable to recommend IORA vancomycin at the 500 mg dose because this resulted in higher tissue concentrations.

In this study, the tissue concentrations of vancomycin achieved by the IORA route were many times greater than those achieved by systemic administration, despite using a lower dose. In theory, this would reduce both the risk of systemic toxicity (particularly nephrotoxicity) and antibiotic selection pressure with subsequent development of bacterial resistance.

4.3.3 Efficacy of vancomycin administered by IORA

IORA clearly provides higher tissue concentrations, but it is unclear whether this translates into a reduction in deep infection rates following TKA in the clinical

setting. As reported in Chapter 3, the infection rate following TKA due to intraoperative contamination is 1.0% (22 of 2157 TKA procedures).

As a theoretical exercise, we can first assume IORA reduces the rate of PJI by 50% to 0.5%, given that more than 50% of bacteria causing PJI are resistant organisms. A sample power calculation would then proceed using the method described by Woodward¹⁶⁷ as follows:

H₀: $\pi_1 = \pi_2$

H₁: $\pi_1/\pi_2 = \lambda (\lambda \neq 1)$

For a two-sided test:

$$n = \frac{r+1}{r(\lambda-1)^2 \pi^2} \left[z_{a/2} \sqrt{(r+1)p_c(1-p_c)} + z_\beta \sqrt{(\lambda \pi (1-\lambda \pi) + r\pi (1-\pi))} \right]^2$$

Where r is the ratio of sample size between the interosseous group and the control group and P_c represents the average of the two rates when the ratio (r) = 1. If the PJI rate following TKA using systemic vancomycin prophylaxis is 1.0% and that following IORA with vancomycin prophylaxis is 0.5%, then assuming a 5% type I error, 80% power, and using a two-sided test comparing proportions, a study including 9346 patients (4673 in each arm) would then be required to demonstrate a difference. Such a study is unlikely to be feasible in clinical practice.

Therefore, an animal model is required to assess whether IORA provides more effective prophylaxis in an experimental setting. Researchers at University of California Los Angeles have developed a mouse model of TKA infection⁶⁰ that is suitable for this purpose. The model involves a medical-grade metal stainless steel Kwire surgically implanted into the intramedullary canal of the femur (Figure 4.5). The wire is cut so that the intra-articular aspect extends 1 mm into the joint space. An

91

inoculum of *S. aureus* is then placed into the joint to simulate contamination of the wound. This model was used as the basis for the study in the following chapter.



Figure 4.5 *Placement of K-wire implant (A) A medical-grade metal (stainless steel or titanium) K-wire implant was surgically placed in a retrograde fashion in the intramedullary canal of the right femur and cut so that the intra-articular end extended 1 mm into the joint space (left arrow). (B, C) Representative lateral (B) and anteroposterior (C) X-ray images demonstrating placement of the implant in the femoral canal and the cut end within the knee joint.*

Chapter 5 Regional intraosseous administration of prophylactic antibiotics is more effective than systemic administration in a mouse model of TKA

5.1 Preface

While the previous chapters demonstrated that IORA provides higher tissue concentrations of antibiotics during TKA surgery, it is unclear whether these higher concentrations provide more effective prophylaxis against infection.

The following section contains a modified version of an article entitled 'Regional intraosseous administration of prophylactic antibiotics is more effective than systemic administration in a mouse model of TKA' published in 2015 in *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* (volume 473, pages 3573–3584). *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* has a 2016 impact factor of 3.127. The article was the subject of an editorial published in the same issue by Charalampos G. Zalavras MD, PhD 'CORR Insights'¹⁶⁸. The editorial is reproduced in Appendix 2.

5.2 Published article

5.2.1 Title page

Regional intraosseous administration of prophylactic antibiotics is more effective than systemic administration in a mouse model of TKA

Simon W. Young FRACS, Tim Roberts MBChB, Sarah Johnson BSc, James Dalton PhD, Brendan Coleman FRACS, Siouxsie Wiles PhD

S. W. Young

Department of Surgery, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

S. W. Young, T. Roberts, B. Coleman

Department of Orthopaedics, North Shore Hospital, Auckland, New Zealand

S. Johnson, J. Dalton, S. Wiles

Bioluminescent Superbugs Laboratory, Faculty of Medical & Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

J. Dalton, S. Wiles

Maurice Wilkins Centre for Molecular Biodiscovery, Auckland, New Zealand

The institutions of three of the authors (SW, JD, SJ) received a grant-in-aid from the New Zealand Orthopaedic Association in relationship to this work. One of the authors (SW) was supported by a Sir Charles Hercus Fellowship from the Health Research Council of New Zealand (09/099).

All ICMJE Conflict of Interest Forms for authors and *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* editors and board members are on file with the publication and can be viewed on request.

Each author certifies that his or her institution approved the animal protocol for this investigation and that all investigations were conducted in conformity with ethical principles of research.

S. W. Young 🖂

Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, North Shore Hospital, 124 Shakespeare Road, Takapuna, Private Bag 93-503, Auckland 0740, New Zealand

5.2.2 Abstract

Background In human total knee arthroplasty (TKA) studies, intraosseous regional administration (IORA) of prophylactic antibiotics achieves local tissue antibiotic concentrations 10 times higher than those achieved by systemic administration. However, it is unclear if such high concentrations provide more effective prophylaxis. *Questions/purposes* We asked: (1) What prophylactic antibiotic dosage and route (intravenous [IV] versus IORA) produces less bacterial burden in vivo when compared with no-antibiotic controls? (2) Compared with controls, what prophylactic antibiotic dosage and route yields fewer colony-forming units (CFU) in an animal model of TKA? (3) Is prophylactic antibiotic therapy given by the IORA route more effective than the same dose administered by the IV route in reducing CFU?

Methods Mice (6–9 per group) were randomised in blocks to one of six prophylaxis regimens: control, systemic cefazolin ($C100_{IV}$), IORA cefazolin ($C100_{IORA}$), systemic vancomycin ($V110_{IV}$), low-dose systemic vancomycin ($V25_{IV}$), or low-dose IORA vancomycin ($V25_{IORA}$). Surgery involved placement of an intra-articular knee prosthesis followed by an inoculum of bioluminescent *Staphylococcus aureus* strain Xen36. Bacterial loads were assessed in vivo using biophotonic imaging. After 4 days, the bacterial load was quantified using culture-based techniques and compared between the group allocated to IORA prophylactic antibiotics and the group allocated to the same dose of prophylactic antibiotic by the IV route, and between these groups and the control group.

Results Mice treated with high-dose systemic vancomycin, IORA vancomycin, or IORA cefazolin had a lower in vivo *S. aureus* burden (median area under curve: control, 5.0×10^6 ; V110_{IV}, 1.5×10^6 (difference of medians 3.5×10^6 , p=0.003); V25_{IV}, 1.94×10^6 (difference 3.07×10^6 , p=0.49); V25_{IORA}, 1.51×10^6 (difference 3.5×10^6 , p=0.0011); C100_{IORA}, 1.55×10^6 (difference 3.46×10^6 , p=0.0016); C100_{IV}, 2.35×10^6 (difference 2.66×10^6 , p=0.23). Findings on recovered implants using culture-based techniques were similar. At the same dose, antibiotic prophylaxis via the IORA route was more effective than when administered IV in reducing the bacterial load on recovered implants (<7.0 × 10⁰ versus 2.83×10^2 median CFU, p=0.0183).

Conclusions Prophylactic cefazolin and vancomycin by IORA was more effective than the same dose of antibiotic given systemically. The effectiveness of prophylactic vancomycin in particular was enhanced when delivered by the IORA route, despite using a lower dose.

Clinical relevance These findings are consistent with previous studies of IORA prophylactic antibiotics in humans, and suggest this novel route of administration has the potential to enhance the effectiveness of antibiotic prophylaxis in TKA.

5.2.3 Introduction

Prophylactic antibiotics are used to protect against the bacteria most likely to cause contamination during surgery.^{39,158} The two most common types of bacteria causing contamination and subsequent deep infection in total knee arthroplasty (TKA) are *Staphylococcus aureus* and coagulase-negative staphylococci.^{12,18,21} In the 1960s and

1970s when preoperative prophylactic antibiotics were introduced, up to 98% of coagulase-negative staphylococci and 97% of *S. aureus* isolated in hospital were sensitive to cephalosporins^{64,169-171}. Therefore, these agents were commonly recommended for prophylaxis in arthroplasty^{41,47,118,172}. However, around 90% of coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated in hospital are now resistant to cephalosporins^{12,18,21,61,136} and 30%–56% of *S. aureus* cultured from infected joint arthroplasties are methicillin-resistant (MRSA)^{74,125,135,152}. Vancomycin has been suggested as an alternative prophylactic agent because it remains effective against MRSA and coagulase-negative staphylococci resistant to cefazolin.^{87,173} However, injudicious use of vancomycin may risk further resistance, and in clinical studies it is a less effective prophylactic agent than cefazolin for methicillin-sensitive *S. aureus* (MSSA) strains.^{87,174} This may be because adequate tissue levels are not achieved by typical systemic doses of vancomycin^{157,170}, particularly when the timing of prophylactic administration is suboptimal^{87,147}.

Higher tissue levels of antibiotic can be achieved using alternative methods of administration. Intraosseous regional administration (IORA) of prophylactic antibiotics is a novel form of administration that involves intraosseous injection after inflation of a tourniquet but before skin incision. In a randomised trial comparing cefazolin 1 g given by IORA or the systemic route in patients undergoing TKA, IORA achieved 10 times greater tissue antibiotic concentrations.¹⁵⁸ IORA also achieves high tissue concentrations when lower doses of prophylactic antibiotic are used¹⁷⁵, which is an advantage when using agents such as vancomycin where systemic toxicity, including red man syndrome, is a concern¹⁴⁶. However, it is unclear if the high tissue concentrations seen in clinical studies of IORA using vancomycin or cefazolin provide more effective prophylaxis.

The aim of this study is to compare the effectiveness of prophylactic antibiotics via the IORA route with that of the systemic route using an in vivo murine model of TKA⁶⁰. Specifically, we asked: (1) What antibiotic dosage and route of administration (intravenous [IV] versus IORA) produces less bacterial burden in vivo when compared with no-antibiotic controls? (2) Compared with controls, what prophylactic antibiotic dosage and route of administration yields fewer colony-forming units (CFU) in an animal model of TKA? (3) Is prophylactic IORA more effective than same-dose IV antibiotic administration in reducing CFU?

5.2.4 Materials and methods

Bioluminescent S. aureus

Bioluminescent MSSA Xen36 (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA) was used in all experiments. Xen36 is a derivative of ATCC 49525 (Wright), an isolate causing clinical bacteraemia that has a modified *lux* operon from *Photorhabdus luminescens* stably integrated in a native plasmid¹⁷⁶.

Bacteria were grown overnight in Tryptic Soy Broth (Fort Richard Laboratories Ltd, Auckland, New Zealand) at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm, then reinoculated in fresh medium at 1:5 and incubated for a further 90 minutes. The bacteria were then checked for light expression, washed three times in phosphate-buffered saline and resuspended in fresh phosphate-buffered saline to obtain approximately 5×10^9 CFU/mL. The concentration of bacteria in solution was verified retrospectively by plating and culture.

Animals

Female CD1 mice were obtained from the specific pathogen-free breeding facility at the University of Auckland. The mice were 7–9 weeks of age on arrival and had access to food and water ad libitum. The animals were housed and cared for in accordance with the New Zealand Animal Welfare Act¹⁷⁷ and the institutional guidelines provided by the University of Auckland Animal Ethics Committee, which reviewed and approved these experiments under application R1134. Single housing of these animals is discouraged, so all experiments were performed using female mice, which are less aggressive than male mice and so less likely to injure themselves or each other when housed together. The housing conditions and diet were identical for all animals. To minimise the number of animals required, while accounting for any host, bacterial, or surgical variation, one experiment was performed using a block design (Figure 5.1). Surgery was performed on six separate occasions using a different cohort of mice each time and a fresh preparation of bacteria. At each surgery, 6–8 animals were randomised to each of the six experimental groups.



Figure 5.1 Schematic of the experimental design used in this study.

Antibiotic prophylaxis

Mice were randomised into six experimental groups: no antibiotic prophylaxis (n=7); systemic vancomycin (110 mg/kg, V110_{IV}, n=6); systemic vancomycin (25 mg/kg, V25_{IV}, n=6); intraosseous vancomycin (25 mg/kg, V25_{IORA}, n=7); intraosseous cefazolin (100 mg/kg, C100_{IORA}, n=9); and systemic cefazolin (100 mg/kg, C100_{IV}, n=7). These experimental groups represent vancomycin IV at either a high therapeutic dose (110 mg/kg) or a suboptimal dose (25 mg/kg) or by IORA at a low dose (25 mg/kg). We administered cefazolin at a standard therapeutic dose via either the IV or intraosseous route. These reflect the dosages and routes of administration used in two

previous human studies of IORA^{158,175}. Two mice (one from the IORA cefazolin 100 mg/kg group and one from the systemic vancomycin 25 mg/kg group) lost more than 20% of their baseline body weight so were euthanised per institutional guidelines and excluded from the analysis (Figure 5.1).

Antibiotics, when used, were administered either systemically via the IV route or regionally (below a tourniquet) via IORA. Systemic antibiotics were introduced by injection into the lateral tail vein 30 minutes before surgery. However, regional intraosseous antibiotics were administered by direct injection into the proximal tibia after tourniquet inflation to the extremity and immediately before surgery. Antibiotics were given by intraosseous injection into the tibia using a 26-gauge needle as previously described.¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁰ The 110 mg/kg dose of vancomycin is an effective dose in mice, approximating an area under the curve (AUC) of 400 mg hour/L for a typical human dose of vancomycin (1 g every 12 hours).^{60,181} Using the body surface normalisation method¹⁸², this represents a human dose of approximately 10–15 mg/kg. We used an IORA dose of vancomycin that was approximately 25% of this, as reported in a human study where a lower dose was used to protect against systemic

effects such as red man syndrome¹⁷⁵. Because cefazolin has minimal systemic toxicity, we used the same dose for the systemic and IORA routes as in a previous IORA study in humans¹⁵⁸. The cefazolin dose of 100 mg/kg in mice gives serum concentrations similar to those of a 1-2 g prophylactic dose in humans^{81,183,184}.

Surgical procedure

The mice were weighed preoperatively and inhalational isoflurane (3.0%) was administered for anaesthesia. When loss of the toe pinch reflex was confirmed, the right leg was depilated using clippers and an above-knee tourniquet was applied. The

surgical site was prepared using an iodine-povidone swab followed by an alcohol swab and a final iodine-povidone wash.

The knee was accessed using a medial parapatellar approach and the intercondylar region of the distal femur was identified. The femoral medullary canal was reamed manually with sequentially larger-gauge needles for the stainless steel implant, starting with a 26-gauge needle. A sterile 0.6 mm K-wire was then inserted in a retrograde fashion through the intercondylar region into the intramedullary cavity of the distal femur. The K-wire was cut with approximately 1 mm of wire protruding in the joint cavity.

Before closing, a 2 μ L aliquot containing approximately 5 × 10⁶ CFU of *S. aureus* Xen36 was pipetted into the joint. The patella complex was then reduced and the incision closed with 6-0 MonocrylTM sutures (Ethicon, Somerville, NJ, USA). The total tourniquet time for each mouse was 30 minutes.

Postoperatively, acetaminophen (paracetamol; 6 mg/mL) was provided in the drinking water and carprofen 5 mg/kg subcutaneously once daily for pain relief.

Biophotonic imaging

Biophotonic imaging was used to measure the bioluminescent signal emitted by *S*. *aureus* Xen36 from anesthetised mice in a noninvasive manner and provide information regarding the localisation of the bacterium (expressed as photons per second per square centimetre per steradian [photons second/cm²/sr]; Figure 5.2). We also quantified the bacterial burden in vivo from the biophotonic signal of selected regions of interest (expressed as photons/second) using Living Image software (Perkin Elmer; Figure 5.3). Measurements were obtained daily to determine the AUC for each animal (Figure 5.4).

Assessment of bioluminescence (photons/second/cm²/sr) from living animals was measured after gaseous anaesthesia with isoflurane using the IVIS® kinetic camera system (Perkin Elmer). A photograph (reference image) was taken under low illumination before quantification of photons emitted from *S. aureus* Xen36 at a binning of four over 5 minutes using the Living Image software. For anatomical localisation, a pseudocolour image representing light intensity (blue, least intense; red, most intense) was generated using the Living Image software and superimposed over the grey-scale reference image. Bioluminescence in specific regions of individual mice was also quantified using the region of interest tool in the Living Image software program (expressed as photons per second).



Figure 5.2 *Bioluminescence from Staphylococcus aureus Xen36 was assessed after surgery in anesthetised animals.*

The images show peak bioluminescence with variations in colour representing light intensity at a given location. Red represents the most intense light emission, whereas blue corresponds to the weakest signal. The colour bar indicates relative signal intensity (as photons/second/cm2/steradian [sr]). Mice were imaged at various times after surgery with an integration time of 5 minutes. One representative animal is shown for each group. Abbreviations: IV, intravenous; IORA, intraosseous regional administration; V110IV, systemic vancomycin 110 mg/kg; V25IV, systemic vancomycin 25 mg/kg; V25IORA, IORA vancomycin 25 mg/kg; C100IORA, IORA cefazolin 100 mg/kg; C100IV, systemic cefazolin 100 mg/kg.



Figure 5.3 *Quantification of bioluminescence from Staphylococcus aureus Xen36 in anesthetised animals after surgery. The bioluminescent signals originating from individual animals at (A) 1 day and (B) 4 days after surgery were obtained using the region of interest tool in the Living Image software program (given as photons per second). The dotted line represents the level of background from uninfected animals. Median values per group are denoted by solid lines. Each symbol represents an individual animal. Data are pooled from six independent repeats with 1–2 animals per group per repeat. Abbreviations: IV, intravenous; IORA, intraosseous regional administration; V110_{IV}, systemic vancomycin 110 mg/kg; V25_{IV}, systemic vancomycin 25 mg/kg; V25_{IORA}, IORA vancomycin 25 mg/kg; C100_{IORA}, IORA cefazolin 100 mg/kg; C100_{IV,} systemic cefazolin 100 mg/kg.*



Figure 5.4 Area under the curve values (summation during entire test period) from bioluminescent signals obtained throughout the experiment. The dotted line represents the level of background from uninfected animals. Median values per group are denoted by solid lines. Each symbol represents an individual animal. Data are pooled from six independent repeats with 1–2 animals per group per repeat. Abbreviations: IV, intravenous; IORA, intraosseous regional administration; V110_{IV}, systemic vancomycin 110 mg/kg; V25_{IV}, systemic vancomycin 25 mg/kg; V25_{IORA}, IORA vancomycin 25 mg/kg; C100_{IORA}, IORA cefazolin 100 mg/kg; C100_{IV}, systemic cefazolin 100 mg/kg.

Quantification of bacteria in the knee and implant

The mice were euthanised by cervical dislocation under anaesthesia. The hind limb was surface-sterilised with 70% ethanol and the skin removed. The knee joint (including approximately 5 mm of the proximal end of the tibia and distal end of the femur) and surrounding tissue were excised. The K-wire was extracted from the femur and placed in a 1.5 mL microtube containing 0.5 mL of phosphate-buffered saline. The excised knee joint was placed in a 2 mL sample tube containing ceramic

beads and 1 mL of phosphate-buffered saline, and homogenised (3×10 seconds at 3.55 m/second) using a tissue disruptor (OMNI International, Kennesaw, GA, USA). Serial dilutions were plated on Mannitol salt agar (Fort Richard Laboratories Ltd) and grown overnight at 37°C for enumeration of viable bacteria. The plates were then imaged using the IVIS kinetic camera system to confirm recovery of bioluminescent *S. aureus* Xen36.

Statistical analysis

The data were analysed using GraphPad Prism version 6 software (GraphPad Software Inc, La Jolla, CA, USA). Briefly, in vivo bacterial burdens (measured as photons per second and calculated AUC values for each animal) were compared between the control group and each treatment group using the Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's post hoc analysis. Ex vivo bacterial burdens from tissue samples and implanted K-wires (measured as CFU for each animal) were compared between the control group and each treatment group using the Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's post hoc analysis. Ex vivo bacterial burdens from tissue samples and Dunn's post hoc analysis. Ex vivo bacterial burdens from tissue samples and implanted K-wires were also compared between the same-dose IV and IORA treatments using a twotailed Mann-Whitney test. The numbers of animals with culture-positive or negative K-wires in the same-dose IV and IORA treatment groups were compared using Fisher's exact test.

5.2.5 Results

Influence of antibiotic dosage and route on bacterial burden (biophotonic imaging) Biophotonic imaging showed lower median bioluminescence levels in bacteria from all vancomycin-treated animals as early as day 1 after surgery (Table 5.1: control, 2.2 × 10^{6} [range 7.2×10^{5} to 4.3×10^{6}]; V110_{IV}, 4.9×10^{5} [range 2.5×10^{5} to 7.2×10^{5}], difference of medians 1.7×10^{6} , p=0.0016; V25_{IV}: 4.9×10^{5} [range 3.6×10^{5} to 5.7×10^{5}], difference of medians 1.7×10^{6} , p=0.0028; V25_{IORA}, 5.3×10^{5} [range 4.73×10^{5} to 6.15×10^{5}], difference of medians 1.7×10^{6} , p=0.0148; Figure 5.3A). With the numbers available, there was no difference in median bioluminescence between untreated animals and those treated with cefazolin (control, 2.2×10^{6} [range 7.15×10^{5} to 4.34×10^{6}]; C100_{IORA}, 6.2×10^{5} [range 4.1×10^{5} to 1.1×10^{6}], p=0.23; C100_{IV}, 6.1×10^{5} [range 3.68×10^{5} to 2.55×10^{6}], p=0.06; Figure 5.3A).

Treatment	Median (range)	Difference of median versus control	p-value
Control	$2.19 \times 10^{6} (7.15 \times 10^{5} \text{ to } 4.34 \times 10^{6})$		
V110 _{IV}	$4.90 \times 10^5 (2.51 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 7.20 \times 10^5)$	1.70×10^{6}	0.0016
$V25_{IV}$	$4.94 \times 10^5 (3.60 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 5.70 \times 10^5)$	1.70×10^{6}	0.0028
V25 _{IORA}	$5.34 \times 10^5 (4.73 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 6.15 \times 10^5)$	1.66×10^{6}	0.0148
C100 _{IORA}	$6.21 \times 10^5 (4.14 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 1.07 \times 10^6)$	1.57×10^{6}	0.0606
C100 _{IV}	$6.06 \times 10^5 (3.68 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 2.55 \times 10^6)$	1.58×10^{6}	0.2335

Table 5.1 Bioluminescence in *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteria exposed or not to

 antibiotics on postoperative day 1

The data are expressed as photons/sec. Abbreviations: C, cefazolin; IV, intravenous; IORA, intraosseous regional administration; $V110_{IV}$, systemic vancomycin 110 mg/kg; $V25_{IV}$, systemic vancomycin 25 mg/kg; $V25_{IORA}$, IORA vancomycin 25 mg/kg; $C100_{IORA}$, IORA cefazolin 100 mg/kg; $C100_{IV}$, systemic cefazolin 100 mg/kg; V, vancomycin

At 4 days after surgery, the bioluminescent signals from animals treated with a suboptimal concentration of vancomycin IV (V25_{IV}) returned to near control levels. However, the median bioluminescence signals obtained from animals administered high-dose systemic IV vancomycin (V110_{IV}), low-dose regional intraosseous vancomycin (V25_{IORA}), or regional intraosseous cefazolin (C100_{IORA}) were lower than those from the control animals at this time (Table 5.2: control, 1.64×10^6 [range 7.76 $\times 10^5$ to 3.96×10^6]; V110_{IV}, 5.45×10^5 [range 4.30×10^5 to 1.20×10^6], difference of medians 1.10×10^6 , p=0.013; V25_{IV}, 1.13×10^6 [range 5.91×10^5 to 1.40×10^6], difference of medians 5.10×10^6 , p >0.99; V25_{IORA}, 5.14×10^5 [range 3.83×10^5 to 8.96×10^5], difference of medians 1.13×10^6 , p=0.0012; C100_{IORA}, 6.18×10^5 [range 3.88×10^5 to 1.17×10^6], difference of medians 1.02×10^6 , p=0.0140; C100_{IV}, 6.72×10^6], difference of medians 1.02×10^6 , p=0.0140; C100_{IV}, 6.72×10^6] 10⁵ [range 4.63×10^5 to 1.30×10^6], difference of medians 9.68×10^5 , p=0.101; Figure 5.3B). Likewise, AUC values calculated for the bioluminescence signals from treated mice throughout the experiment were approximately one quarter of the value of those calculated for the untreated controls (Table 5.3, median bioluminescence: control, 5.01×10^6 [range 3.30×10^6 to 1.02×10^7]; V110_{IV}, 1.52×10^6 [range $9.93 \times$ 10^5 to 3.13×10^6], difference of medians 3.49×10^6 , p=0.0026; V25_{IV}, 1.94×10^6 [range 1.75×10^6 to 3.35×10^6], difference of medians 3.07×10^6 , p=0.4934; V25_{IORA}, 1.51×10^6 [range 1.25×10^6 to 2.43×10^6], difference of medians 3.50×10^6 , p=0.0011; C100_{IORA}, 1.55×10^6 [range 1.19×10^6 to 2.35×10^6], difference of medians 3.46×10^6 , p=0.0016; C100_{IV}, 2.35×10^6 [range 1.44×10^6 to 4.16×10^6], difference of medians 2.66×10^6 , p=0.2312; Figure 5.4).

Treatment	Median (range)	Difference of median versus control	p-value
Control	$1.64 \times 10^{6} (7.76 \times 10^{5} \text{ to } 3.96 \times 10^{6})$		
V110 _{IV}	$5.45 \times 10^5 (4.30 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 1.20 \times 10^6)$	1.10×10^{6}	0.0126
$V25_{IV}$	$1.13 \times 10^{6} (5.91 \times 10^{5} \text{ to } 1.40 \times 10^{6})$	5.10×10^{5}	>0.9999
V25 _{IORA}	$5.14 \times 10^5 (3.83 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 8.96 \times 10^5)$	1.13×10^{6}	0.0012
C100 _{IORA}	$6.18 \times 10^5 (3.88 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 1.17 \times 10^6)$	1.02×10^{6}	0.0140
C100 _{IV}	$6.72 \times 10^5 (4.63 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 1.30 \times 10^6)$	9.68×10^5	0.1015

Table 5.2 Bioluminescence in *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteria exposed or not to

 antibiotics on postoperative day 4

The data are expressed as photons/sec. Abbreviations: C, cefazolin; IV, intravenous; IORA, intraosseous regional administration; $V110_{IV}$, systemic vancomycin 110 mg/kg; $V25_{IV}$, systemic vancomycin 25 mg/kg; $V25_{IORA}$, IORA vancomycin 25 mg/kg; $C100_{IORA}$, IORA cefazolin 100 mg/kg; $C100_{IV}$, systemic cefazolin 100 mg/kg; V, vancomycin

Treatment	Median (range)	Difference of median versus control	p-value
Control	$5.01 \times 10^6 (3.30 \times 10^6 \text{ to } 1.02 \times 10^7)$		
V110 _{IV}	$1.52 \times 10^6 (9.93 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 3.13 \times 10^6)$	3.49×10^{6}	0.0026
V25 _{IV}	$1.94 \times 10^6 (1.75 \times 10^6 \text{ to } 3.35 \times 10^6)$	3.07×10^{6}	0.4934
V25 _{IORA}	$1.51 \times 10^6 (1.25 \times 10^6 \text{ to } 2.43 \times 10^6)$	3.50×10^{6}	0.0011
C100 _{IORA}	$1.55 \times 10^6 (1.19 \times 10^6 \text{ to } 2.35 \times 10^6)$	3.46×10^{6}	0.0016
C100 _{IV}	$2.35 \times 10^{6} (1.44 \times 10^{6} \text{ to } 4.16 \times 10^{6})$	2.66×10^{6}	0.2312

Table 5.3 Bioluminescence in *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteria exposed or not to antibiotics: area under the curve values over 4 days.

The data are expressed as photons/sec. Abbreviations: C, cefazolin; IV, intravenous; IORA, intraosseous regional administration; $V110_{IV}$, systemic vancomycin 110 mg/kg; $V25_{IV}$, systemic vancomycin 25 mg/kg; $V25_{IORA}$, IORA vancomycin 25 mg/kg; $C100_{IORA}$, IORA cefazolin 100 mg/kg; $C100_{IV}$, systemic cefazolin 100 mg/kg; V, vancomycin

Influence of antibiotic dosage and route of administration on survival of *S. aureus* Similar to data from biophotonic imaging, the median CFU obtained from the implanted K-wire were lower in the high-dose systemic IV vancomycin, low-dose regional intraosseous vancomycin, and regional intraosseous cefazolin groups than in controls (Table 5.4: control, 1.03×10^4 [range 1.08×10^3 to 5.75×10^5]; V110_{IV}, 9.17 $\times 10^1$ [range $<7.0 \times 10^0$ to 2.00×10^3], difference of medians 1.02×10^4 , p=0.0313; V25_{IV}, 4.96 $\times 10^2$ [range $<7.0 \times 10^0$ to 2.13×10^3], difference of medians 9.80×10^3 , p=0.0905; V25_{IORA}, $<7.0 \times 10^0$ [range $<7.0 \times 10^0$ to 4.08×10^3], difference of medians 1.03×10^4 , p=0.0013; C100_{IORA}, 8.85 $\times 10^0$ [range $<7.0 \times 10^0$ to 6.17×10^2], difference of medians 1.03×10^4 , p=0.0020; C100_{IV}, 2.83×10^2 [range 1.67×10^1 to 1.62×10^4], difference of medians 1.00×10^4 , p=0.8858; Figure 5.5).

Treatment	Median (range)	Difference of median versus control	p-value
Control	$1.03 \times 10^4 (1.08 \times 10^3 \text{ to } 5.75 \times 10^5)$		
V110 _{IV}	$9.17 \times 10^1 (\langle 7.0 \times 10^0 \text{ to } 2.00 \times 10^3)$	1.02×10^{4}	0.0313
V25 _{IV}	$4.96 \times 10^2 (<7.0 \times 10^0 \text{ to } 2.13 \times 10^3)$	9.80×10^{3}	0.0905
V25 _{IORA}	$<7.0 \times 10^{0} (<7.0 \times 10^{0} \text{ to } 4.08 \times 10^{0} \text{ to } 4.08 \text{ x})$	1.03×10^{4}	0.0013
	10 ³)		
C100 _{IORA}	$8.85 \times 10^{0} (<7.0 \times 10^{0} \text{ to } 6.17 \times 10^{2})$	1.03×10^{4}	0.0020
C100 _{IV}	$2.83 \times 10^2 (1.67 \times 10^1 \text{ to } 1.62 \times 10^4)$	1.00×10^{4}	0.8858

Table 5.4 Colony-forming units of *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteria exposed or not to antibiotics recovered from implant 4 days postoperatively

Abbreviations: C, cefazolin; IV, intravenous; IORA, intraosseous regional administration; V110_{IV}, systemic vancomycin 110 mg/kg; V25_{IV}, systemic vancomycin 25 mg/kg; V25_{IORA}, IORA vancomycin 25 mg/kg; C100_{IORA}, IORA cefazolin 100 mg/kg; C100_{IV}, systemic cefazolin 100 mg/kg; V, vancomycin



Figure 5.5 *Quantification of viable Staphylococcus aureus Xen36 after surgery. The mice were euthanised 96 hours after surgery for quantification of bacteria remaining in the* (**A**) *knee and surrounding tissue and* (**B**) *implanted K-wire. The dotted line represents the limits of detection. Median values per group are denoted by solid lines. Each symbol represents an individual animal. Data are pooled from six independent repeats with 1–2 animals per group per repeat. Abbreviations: IV, intravenous; IORA, intraosseous regional administration; V110_{IV}, systemic vancomycin 110 mg/kg; V25_{IV}, systemic vancomycin 25 mg/kg; V25_{IORA}, IORA vancomycin 25 mg/kg; C100_{IORA}, IORA cefazolin 100 mg/kg; C100_{IV}, systemic cefazolin 100 mg/kg.*

Although bacteria were recovered from the tissues surrounding the implant site for all but one animal, mice treated with intraosseous vancomycin or cefazolin had lower median CFU (Table 5.5: control, 1.17×10^8 [range 3.94×10^6 to 5.37×10^8]; V110_{IV}, 1.86×10^6 [range 9.59×10^3 to 2.60×10^7], difference of medians 1.15×10^8 , p=0.1376; V25_{IV}, 1.95×10^6 [range 6.64×10^2 to 1.27×10^7], difference of medians 1.15×10^8 , p=0.0454; V25_{IORA}, 4.92×10^3 [range 1.16×10^2 to 8.69×10^6], difference of medians 1.17×10^8 , p=0.0005; C100_{IORA}, 4.23×10^5 [range $<1.30 \times 10^1$ to 9.69×10^6] difference of medians 1.17×10^8 , p=0.0049; C100_{IV}, 7.67×10^6 [range 1.82×10^6 to 1.63×10^8], difference of medians 1.09×10^8 , p=0.8699; Figure 5.5).

Treatment	Median (range)	Difference of median versus control	p-value
Control	$1.17 \times 10^8 (3.94 \times 10^6 \text{ to } 5.37 \times 10^8)$		
V110 _{IV}	$1.86 \times 10^{6} (9.59 \times 10^{3} \text{ to } 2.60 \times 10^{7})$	1.15×10^{8}	0.1376
$V25_{IV}$	$1.95 \times 10^6 (6.64 \times 10^2 \text{ to } 1.27 \times 10^7)$	1.15×10^{8}	0.0454
V25 _{IORA}	$4.92 \times 10^3 (1.16 \times 10^2 \text{ to } 8.69 \times 10^6)$	1.17×10^{8}	0.0005
C100 _{IORA}	$4.23 \times 10^5 (<1.30 \times 10^1 \text{ to } 9.69 \times 10^6)$	1.17×10^{8}	0.0049
C100 _{IV}	$7.67 \times 10^6 (1.82 \times 10^6 \text{ to } 1.63 \times 10^8)$	1.09×10^{8}	0.8699

Table 5.5 Colony-forming units of *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteria exposed or not to

 antibiotics recovered from periprosthetic tissue 4 days postoperatively

Abbreviations: C, cefazolin; IV, intravenous; IORA, intraosseous regional administration; V110_{IV}, systemic vancomycin 110 mg/kg; V25_{IV}, systemic vancomycin 25 mg/kg; V25_{IORA}, IORA vancomycin 25 mg/kg; C100_{IORA}, IORA cefazolin 100 mg/kg; C100_{IV}, systemic cefazolin 100 mg/kg; V, vancomycin

IORA versus IV administration of same-dose antibiotic prophylaxis Overall, intraosseous antibiotic administration was more effective at reducing the burden of contaminating bacteria in tissue than the same dose of antibiotic administered IV (median CFU: IV, 3.16×10^6 [range 6.64×10^2 to 1.63×10^8]; IORA, 5.43×10^4 [range <1.30 × 10¹ to 9.69×10^6], difference of medians 3.11×10^6 , p=0.0163; Figure 5.6A). Bacteria were recovered from the K-wires implanted in only five of 14 IORA-treated animals compared with 11 of 13 animals treated intravenously with the same dose of antibiotic; the difference was statistically significant (p=0.0183 [Fisher's exact test], median CFU: IV, 2.83×10^2 [range <7.0 ×

 10° to 1.62×10^{4}]; IORA, $<7.0 \times 10^{\circ}$ [range $<7.0 \times 10^{\circ}$ to 4.08×10^{3}] difference of medians 2.76×10^{2} , p=0.0073; Figure 5.6B).



Figure 5.6 Effect of route used to deliver antibiotic prophylaxis on survival of Staphylococcus aureus Xen36. Mice treated with either 25 mg/kg vancomycin or 100 mg/kg cefazolin were euthanised 96 hours after surgery for quantification of bacteria remaining in the (**A**) knee and surrounding tissue and (**B**) implanted K-wire. The dotted line represents the limits of detection. Median values are denoted by solid lines. Each symbol represents an individual animal. Data are pooled from six independent repeats. Abbreviations: IV, systemic administration; IORA, intraosseous regional administration.

5.2.6 Discussion

Prophylactic antibiotics reduce deep infection rates in arthroplasty.^{41,151} To be effective, prophylactic antibiotics must be present in adequate tissue concentrations at the operative site from the time of incision until the time of closure.³⁹ As antibiotic resistance increases, systemic administration of cephalosporins may no longer provide tissue concentrations that are effective against coagulase-negative staphylococci and MRSA. IORA allows much higher tissue concentrations to be achieved.^{158,175} In the present study, cefazolin and vancomycin by the IORA route provided more effective

There are several limitations to this study. Firstly, although we attempted to use the equivalent antibiotic doses and replicate the clinical situation of an intra-articular implant, it is unclear how well this model approximates the clinical situation of TKA in humans. However, because clinical TKA infection rates in the range of 0.86%– 2.5% have been reported¹⁰⁻¹³, animal models such as this remain the only practical way of providing adequate power to compare prophylaxis regimens. Secondly, we chose to investigate only MSSA, because vancomycin is likely to be more effective than cefazolin against coagulase-negative staphylococci and MRSA strains resistant to cefazolin. As in previous studies^{60,185}, we used a relatively high inoculum of bacteria to discriminate better between the effectiveness of prophylactic regimens for the three endpoints used (in vivo bioluminescence, ex vivo implant, and periarticular tissue counts). This may differ from the clinical situation in TKA, because although contamination occurs in most if not all TKAs²⁰, the overall bacterial inoculum is likely to be lower than that used in this model. In addition, vancomycin has a longer half-life than cefazolin, and this may have affected the comparison between groups because we used only one preoperative dose. However, clinical data suggest that the preoperative dose is the most important determinant of effective prophylaxis^{50,84,162,186}, and the faster rate of drug metabolism in the mouse means the effect of differing halflives is reduced¹⁸². Further, we used only female mice because male mice are more likely to fight and injure themselves or other mice when housed in a group. In murine models, female mice are generally more resistant to bacterial infection¹⁸⁷; however, previous studies using this TKA model have also been single-sex studies^{60,188}, so any sex-related differences in this regard are not known.

We found the in vivo bacterial burden 4 days after simulated TKA to be lower than that of controls in both IORA groups (low-dose vancomycin and standard-dose cefazolin) and in the group given high-dose systemic vancomycin. The rationale for using a low dose of vancomycin for IORA relates to the multiple disadvantages of systemic vancomycin prophylaxis. Systemic vancomycin requires a prolonged administration time to prevent red man syndrome, a pruritic, erythematous rash related to histamine release that can occur with rapid infusion^{156,159}. A prophylactic dose of 1 g requires the infusion to be started a minimum of 1 hour before surgery, which is difficult to achieve in an arthroplasty practice⁸⁷. Vancomycin can also cause renal and other systemic toxicities.^{146,156} Use of a lower targeted vancomycin dose via IORA optimises the timing of administration and reduces the risk of such systemic toxic effects.

Similar to the data from biophotonic imaging, bacterial CFU counts from the implanted K-wire were lower than those of controls in both IORA groups and in the group that received high-dose systemic vancomycin. This suggests that high tissue concentrations are important in the efficacy of vancomycin as a prophylactic agent. The killing power of vancomycin is proportional to the area under the concentration-time curve over the minimum inhibitory concentration for the bacterium (AUC/MIC)^{141,189}; thus, higher concentrations are likely to enhance efficacy, as seen in our study. Inadequate tissue concentrations have been implicated as the reason why systemic vancomycin is less effective than cephalosporins against MSSA.^{87,155,170} Niska et al⁶⁰ used a murine model to investigate the efficacy of varying doses of antibiotic on prophylaxis against implant infection. They found vancomycin to have a narrower effective dose range than daptomycin or tigecycline, with a 110 mg/kg dose being markedly more effective than a 10 mg/kg dose. Although estimation of

equivalent human and mouse dosages is imperfect, our study supports the finding that the efficacy of vancomycin as a prophylactic agent depends on achieving high tissue concentrations. Vancomycin by IORA, which achieves high concentrations despite the lower dose, resulted in lower bacterial counts and appeared at least as effective as cefazolin for prophylaxis against MSSA in our model. Vancomycin performs less well than cephalosporins against MSSA in clinical studies of prophylaxis in arthroplasty.^{87,174}. It seems likely that the clinical efficacy of vancomycin for prophylaxis against MSSA would be enhanced if higher tissue concentrations can be achieved.

We found that the same doses of vancomycin and cefazolin were more effective via IORA than via IV administration. The bactericidal activity of cefazolin is normally considered to be time-dependent (i.e., concentration-independent), and once tissue levels are 4–5 times the MIC, further increases do not increase efficacy⁵⁹. Therefore, while high tissue concentrations of cefazolin by IORA may provide benefit against organisms with high MICs against cefazolin, such as coagulase-negative staphylococci⁶¹, they would be expected to have less effect on more sensitive strains such as the MSSA used in our study. However, these data are based on animal models of treatment of established infections^{125,126}, rather than models of prophylaxis such as ours, in which prevention of infection is the goal. Initiation of bacterial killing is known to occur earlier with increasing cefazolin concentrations⁵⁹, a factor likely to be more important in prophylaxis where preventing initial bacterial adherence and subsequent formation of biofilm is required. This may explain our finding that cefazolin provided more effective prophylaxis via the IORA route than the same cefazolin dose administered via the systemic route.

Cefazolin and vancomycin provided more effective prophylaxis via the IORA route than the same doses of these antibiotics given systemically. The effectiveness of vancomycin in particular was enhanced by IORA despite a lower dose, suggesting vancomycin is more effective against MSSA when high tissue concentrations are achieved, such as with IORA. Further clinical studies are needed to identify any unforeseen complications with IORA, particularly for vancomycin. Use of a lower dose and the depot effect may reduce the risk of red man syndrome after deflation of the tourniquet; this complication has not yet been seen in human studies of vancomycin via the IORA route. Concerns remain regarding antibiotic stewardship, and routine use of vancomycin by any route may not be justified. Vancomycin by IORA may be more appropriately limited to patients at higher risk of infection, such as those undergoing revision procedures and those with a high body mass index ²⁶. Future clinical studies will focus on these areas.

5.2.7 Acknowledgements

We thank Thomas Lumley PhD, Department of Statistics, University of Auckland, for helpful advice regarding the statistical analysis.

5.3 Discussion of article

5.3.1 Contribution and significance

This study found that the IORA technique provided more effective antibiotic prophylaxis than systemic administration in a mouse model of TKA. The effectiveness of vancomycin was particularly enhanced by IORA, despite the lower dose used. However, there are significant limitations to this study, the most important of which is how accurately the model simulates the clinical situation of TKA. However, it is certainly encouraging that the theoretical advantages of IORA in terms of providing more effective prophylaxis were demonstrated in this experimental study.

Vancomycin appeared to provide the most effective antibiotic prophylaxis, even though an MSSA strain was used. In the setting of contamination by a cefazolinresistant organism such as MRSA or CoNS, vancomycin is likely to be even more effective than cefazolin. This would support the choice of vancomycin over cefazolin for IORA in clinical practice.

5.3.2 Relationship to clinical practice and potential negatives of IORA antibiotic prophylaxis in TKA

The preceding studies in this thesis have demonstrated that IORA provides markedly higher tissue concentrations of antibiotics, appears to do so reliably and safely in TKA, and provides enhanced prophylaxis against infection in an animal model. However, there are some potential negatives of IORA prophylaxis in clinical practice, including needle cost, additional tourniquet time, possible complications, and issues concerning antibiotic stewardship and vancomycin resistance.

5.3.2.1 Needle cost

The intraosseous needle system (Vidacare) used in the clinical studies costs approximately \$NZ100 per needle, representing a significant additional cost for each TKA procedure, particularly when the clinical benefit is unproven and the complication (PJI) it aims to prevent is rare.

There are cheaper intraosseous systems available, and even using the current needles the additional expense is small in the context of the total cost of a TKA procedure. In

New Zealand, a private TKA procedure including a prosthesis costs \$20,000– \$30,000, meaning a \$100 needle adds an additional 0.3%–0.5% to the total cost.

As a thought experiment, if IORA can reduce the deep infection rate following TKA from 1.0% to 0.5%, then the number-needed-to-treat to prevent one PJI is 200 patients. This represents a \$20,000 cost if needles are priced at \$100. This compares favourably with the total cost of treating one knee PJI, which is estimated to be at least \$NZ130,000^{6,7}. This cost does not take into account the fact that even after successful treatment, patients with PJI are often left with residual pain and compromised function.

5.3.2.2 Additional tourniquet time

Inserting the intraosseous needle and performing the injection adds 2–4 minutes to the tourniquet time. Tourniquets cause tissue ischaemia while inflated, and it is generally recommended that the total tourniquet time should not exceed 120 minutes.¹⁹⁰ Therefore, the additional 2–4 minutes required for the IORA injection leaves less time to perform the procedure. However, given that the average tourniquet time in our clinical study was 83 minutes, this should have minimal impact.¹⁵⁸

Some surgeons also prefer to perform TKA without a tourniquet, in which case IORA could not be used. However, a recent survey of members of the American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons reported that 96% of surgeons routinely use a tourniquet during TKA.¹⁹¹

5.3.2.3 Potential complications

Potential complications of the intraosseous route, such as extravasation of fluid (due to incorrect needle placement) and subsequent compartment syndrome, fracture, and

fat embolus were discussed in Section 1.6.5. Use of vancomycin also involves a risk of red man syndrome and the IORA technique may be associated with other unforeseen complications. Such complications have not seen so far in either of the two studies presented in this thesis. However, the total number of patients receiving IORA antibiotics was only 31. When IORA antibiotic prophylaxis becomes more established in clinical practice, it will be possible to monitor the incidence of rare complications in larger prospective cohort studies.

5.3.2.4 Vancomycin resistance and antibiotic stewardship

Vancomycin (or other glycopeptide antibiotics such as teicoplanin) may be the only available treatment option for infections caused by beta-lactam-resistant organisms such as MRSA and CoNS. Therefore, there is concern that using vancomycin for routine antibiotic prophylaxis may eventually lead to resistance to this agent as well.

Despite widespread use, it was not until 40 years after the introduction of vancomycin that clinical isolates with a high level of resistance to this drug emerged.¹⁹² Resistance to vancomycin is more common in Enterococcus species (vancomycin-resistant enterococci [VRE]). Among the staphylococci, reduced susceptibility to vancomycin is categorised by two distinct phenotypes: intermediate susceptibility to vancomycin (vancomycin-intermediate *S. aureus*, MIC 4–8 µg/mL) and (rarely) high-level resistance to vancomycin (vancomycin-resistant *S. aureus*, MIC ≥16 µg/mL).¹⁹³ In contrast with VRE, vancomycin-resistant *S. aureus* remains rare, with only 16 isolates described in the USA as of 2015.¹⁹² This may be because the typical genetic mechanism of vancomycin resistance in staphylococci (which differs from the mechanism in VRE) imposes a 'fitness burden'. Therefore, this trait is selected against in vivo once the vancomycin exposure is removed, with restoration of fitness

incurring the price of loss of resistance.¹⁹⁴ However, intermediate-susceptible vancomycin-intermediate *S. aureus* strains are seen with increasing frequency, and many laboratories are reporting that the MICs of vancomycin for staphylococcal species are increasing over time, a phenomenon known as 'MIC creep'.¹⁹⁵

Data concerning how systemic prophylactic antibiotics may affect development of resistance is mixed. Stefánsdóttir et al reported an increase in methicillin-resistant CoNS on groin swabs from 20% preoperatively to 50% postoperatively following TKA in patients who received three doses of systemic cefazolin prophylaxis.¹⁹⁶ However, Pfundstein et al found no difference in the rate of VRE colonisation in organ transplant patients randomised to receive vancomycin or cefazolin prophylaxis.¹⁹⁷

Whether IORA prophylaxis will have more or less impact than systemic prophylaxis on development of resistance is unclear. In vitro, antibiotic resistance is promoted by prolonged exposure of a bacterial inoculum to drug concentrations at or around the MIC.¹²⁴ The concept of the 'mutant selection window' describes the range of antibiotic concentrations in which resistant mutants may be selected for. At concentrations below the MIC, there is no selective pressure and therefore growth of resistant mutants is not favoured. At very high concentrations, no mutants will be selected because it is thought that a two-stage mutation is necessary for growth. This concept has been shown to apply in vitro to the development of vancomycin resistance in staphylococci¹⁹⁸; therefore, to prevent resistance in clinical practice, the recommendation is to achieve the highest tolerated concentration of antibiotic.¹²⁴

Low-dose prophylaxis with IORA vancomycin achieves this aim by limiting administration to the limb, which results in very high tissue concentrations but limited

overall exposure. Therefore, IORA may offer a theoretical advantage over systemic administration of vancomycin in reducing the development of resistance. However, because of antibiotic stewardship concerns, some doctors will remain uncomfortable about using vancomycin as prophylaxis in any form.

5.3.3 Selective use of IORA

In view of the negative aspects of IORA outlined above, it may be that selective use of IORA prophylaxis in patients at highest risk of infection is an appropriate strategy. Revision TKA procedures, performed after a previous TKA procedure has failed, are more complex, take longer to perform, and have a higher reported infection rate than primary TKA. The following chapter describes a study that identified the causes of TKA failure leading to revision surgery, and the subsequent chapter describes an investigation of whether IORA prophylaxis can be successfully performed prior to revision TKA.

Chapter 6 Importance of periprosthetic joint infection as a failure mechanism in modern knee arthroplasty

6.1 Introduction

Total knee arthroplasty (TKA) is considered to be one of the most successful procedures in modern medicine. However, complications such as prosthetic joint infection (PJI) do occur. The outcome of TKA is recorded in many countries using national registries, including in New Zealand. In such registries, 'failure' is defined as the need for revision surgery. PJI is a common cause of failure, but its relative importance in the context of other mechanisms of failure is unclear.

Although registry data often record the reason for revision TKA, interpretation is limited by the lack of standardised definitions for mechanisms of failure or objective assessment of radiological and laboratory parameters¹⁹⁹. Further, studies have shown that the reasons for revision recorded in registries are often inaccurate, particularly in regard to PJI²⁰⁰. Alternatively, large series of revision TKAs from tertiary referral centres are able to provide a more accurate assessment of failure mechanisms because standardised definitions can be applied. However, studies from referral centres lack information on the original primary TKA population, and as a consequence, the true incidence and relative importance of each failure mechanism remains unknown. Moreover, the original primary TKAs in such studies were often performed in the distant past, and may not reflect modes of failure in contemporary primary TKA^{201,202}. The aims of this study were to identify the most common failure mechanisms in contemporary primary TKA, to assess the relative importance of PJI as a failure mechanism, and to analyse when TKA failures occur.

Aspects of this chapter were published in an article entitled 'Periprosthetic Joint Infection Is the Main Cause of Failure for Modern Knee Arthroplasty: An Analysis of 11,134 Knees' by Chuan Kong Koh, Irene Zeng, Saiprasad Ravi, Mark Zhu, Kelly G. Vince & Simon W. Young, published in *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, in June 2017. The article received an attention score in the top 5% of all research outputs scored by altmetric (<u>https://springerlink.altmetric.com/details/20782913</u>). The data in this chapter were also presented at the American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons Annual Meeting in Dallas in November 2016, being one of 52 papers selected for a podium presentation from 1600 submissions.

6.2 Methods

We performed a multicentre retrospective review of all primary TKA procedures (n=11,134) performed at three tertiary hospitals, i.e., Middlemore Hospital, North Shore Hospital, and Auckland Hospital, between January 1, 2000 and December 31, 2015. Exclusion criteria were unicompartmental knee arthroplasty, constrained TKA including hinged and non-hinged designs, and any tumour prosthesis.

Three hundred and fifty-seven patients who underwent subsequent revision surgery were identified by an individual search of patient records and supplemented with New Zealand Joint Registry (NZJR) data to identify revision TKAs performed at other hospitals. The most recent compliance audit of the NZJR in 2015 reported a capture rate of over 95%¹. All patients were identified by the unique patient identifier
(National Health Index number) used by the New Zealand health system. Approval to conduct the study was obtained from all three district health boards and Health and Disability ethics committees. Local hospital data were used firstly to confirm the NZJR data and to identify patients who underwent revision surgery but were not captured by the registry. If the revision surgery was performed at an institution other than one of the three primary study hospitals, consent was obtained to collect clinical and radiographic data to ensure complete data capture.

Clinical, laboratory, and radiographic data for all patients with revision TKA were analysed using a standardised written protocol, and the primary mode of failure was determined independently by two authors, with disagreements resolved by consensus in conjunction with a third author. Where more than one mode of failure was thought to contribute, the cause that was most significant in the decision for the first revision procedure was listed as the primary reason.

'Failure' was defined as revision surgery in which one or more components was exchanged, removed, manipulated, or added surgically, or any reoperation for PJI as defined by the Musculoskeletal Infection Society criteria²⁰³.

The mechanism of failure was divided into nine categories as defined by Vince: PJI, aseptic loosening, patellofemoral arthrosis, arthrofibrosis or stiffness, tibiofemoral instability, periprosthetic fracture, patellar maltracking, polyethylene wear, or extensor mechanism deficiency.²⁰⁴ PJI was defined according to the Musculoskeletal Infection Society definition.²⁰³

Aseptic loosening was defined as documented radiographic migration of components by more than 2 mm, progressive radiolucent lines of more than 2 mm, or

intraoperative finding of loose components²⁰⁵. If component loosening was present, aseptic loosening was recorded as the primary cause of failure, and if present, polyethylene wear, osteolysis, failure of ingrowth of uncemented implants, and bone collapse causing malalignment were considered secondary or predisposing factors²⁰⁶. Technetium bone and computed tomography scans were also reviewed to confirm periprosthetic lucency or increased tracer uptake.

Patients with patellofemoral arthrosis underwent clinical and radiographic examination (Merchant or Skyline patella view) to confirm chondral loss and osteophyte formation before secondary patellar resurfacing.

Arthrofibrosis was defined as a flexion contracture of 15° and/or less than 75° of flexion, and was considered the primary cause of failure in patients with a stiff but otherwise functional TKA when all other mechanisms were excluded.²⁰⁷

Primary tibiofemoral instability was considered if investigations excluded aseptic loosening, disruption of the extensor mechanism, PJI, and fracture. Clinical documentation of symptomatic instability and presence of varus or valgus laxity when the knee was assessed at 0° and 30° of flexion and/or instability in flexion were considered to assist diagnosis^{208,209}.

Extensor mechanism deficiency included discontinuity of the patella and/or quadriceps tendon and transverse patella fracture. Patellar maltracking or dislocation was defined as symptomatic subluxation and/or dislocation of the patella from the trochlear groove. Polyethylene wear was described as macroscopic evidence of wear particles and delamination on the surface of the polyethylene liner without signs of aseptic loosening. Malalignment in the coronal, sagittal, or rotational plane was

recorded when present, but was considered a secondary cause of failure rather than one of the nine primary failure mechanisms.²⁰⁴

Statistical analysis

The Kaplan-Meier method was used to estimate the unadjusted mortality, revision rate, and standard error from postoperative years 1 to 15. The competing risk method, which copes with the simultaneous risk of different types of events including mortality, was used for the 15 years of follow-up of the primary TKA. The competing risk method was devised by Fine and Gray to cope with censoring subjects who failed because of causes other than those of interest²¹⁰. These other causes, which are referred to as competing events, and the event of interest are considered to be mutually exclusive. The competing risk method estimates the probability of the event adjusted for other causes and has been reported to have a higher accuracy in assessing cumulative incidence when compared with the traditional Kaplan-Meier method²¹¹.

Outputs from the competing risk method sum to 100% when all competing events and all event-free probability are included. The standard output from cumulative function calculated the probability of each event at different defined time points. The 'cmprsk' and 'cuminc' functions of the R package (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) were applied to estimate the cumulative incidences of the different revisions and mortality for each year of follow-up, along with their 95% confidence intervals²¹².

6.3 Results

A total of 11,134 primary TKAs in 8830 patients met the study inclusion criteria (Table 6.1). The mean patient age was 68.8 (range 18–98) years. The most common

indication for primary TKA was osteoarthritis (95.6%). The median follow-up duration was 5 years (range 1–16) years. There were 1368 patient deaths (1653 TKAs) during the study period. The mortality rate was 8.62% at 5 years, 28.0% at 10 years, and 52.1% at 15 years from the index operation (Table 6.2). The mortality rate was 10.0% at 5 years, 31.1% at 10 years, and 56.3% at 15 years from the index surgery in patients aged 65 years or older and 8.6% at 10 years and 17.9% at 15 years in patients younger than 65 years (Figure 6.1).



Figure 6.1 Cumulative incidence of death and revision total knee arthroplasty.

	Primary TKA	Revision TKA
	(n=11,134)	(n=357)
Demographic data		
Mean (SD) age at surgery years	68 8 (9 7)	65 2* (9 7)
Mean BMI (SD total recorded)	32.6 (6.88, 3040)	33.2 (7.23, 75)
Male sex (%)	4792 (43)	163 (46)
Indication for primary TKA	(13)	105 (10)
Osteoarthritis	10.648	331
Rheumatoid arthritis	329	20
Other inflammatory arthritis	48	4
Fracture	50	2
Other	59	0
Mean skin to skin time, minutes	92.7	117.3
(range, total recorded)	(25-402, 10, 402)	(26–511, 287)
ASA score		
1	529 (6%)	23 (8%)
2	5232 (60%)	139 (49%)
3	2862 (33%)	115 (40%)
4	53 (0.6%)	9 (3%)
Total ASA score recorded (n)	8676	286
Details of primary surgery		
Patella resurfaced	4858 (43.6%)	
Cemented TKA	10,624 (95.4%)	
Hybrid TKA	499 (4.5%)	
Uncemented TKA	11 (0.1%)	
Cruciate-retaining knee	7880	
Posterior-substituting knee	2278	
Hospital		
А	4527 (40.7%)	118 (2.6%**)
В	4897 (44.0%)	183 (3.7%**)
С	1710 (15.3%)	50 (2.9%**)

Table 6.1 Demographic and clinical data for primary TKA patients and those who

 underwent subsequent revision TKA

*Age at time of revision; **revision rate per hospital. Abbreviations: ASA, American Society of Anesthesiologists; BMI, body mass index; SD, standard deviation; TKA, total knee arthroplasty

 Table 6.2 Incidence of revision total knee arthroplasty and mortality rate.

	Follow-up (years)															
	0.5	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
Revision TKA																
Cumulative incidence (%)	0.76	1.17	1.89	2.29	2.79	3.11	3.36	3.53	3.88	4.18	4.44	4.66	5.38	5.63	5.86	6.09
Annual incidence (%)	-	0.41	0.71	0.48	0.30	0.24	0.14	0.29	0.24	0.20	0.35	0.31	0.16	0.13	0.13	0.23
Standard error	0.08	0.10	0.13	0.15	0.17	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.23	0.25	0.27	0.29	0.38	0.41	0.47	0.53
Mortality																
Kaplan-Meier estimate (%)	0.58	1.10	2.38	4.24	5.87	8.62	11.65	14.98	18.62	22.69	28.04	32.39	35.95	40.3	46.5	52.1
Standard error	0.0008	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.003	0.004	0.004	0.005	0.006	0.007	0.008	0.009	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02
Patients at risk (n)	8701	8208	6992	6031	5052	4255	3564	2946	2417	1849	1351	925	620	464	300	166

Abbreviation: TKA, total knee arthroplasty

Of the 11,134 primary TKAs performed, 357 underwent revision surgery, giving a 15year incidence of revision of 6.1%. Clinical information was also obtained for 28 patients who underwent revision TKA outside the three study hospitals, resulting in 100% data capture for all recorded failures. The NZJR captured 302 revisions from the primary TKA cohort and local hospital records added 55 further revisions. Forty of the additional 55 revisions identified were secondary to PJI. The overall sensitivity of the NZJR in capturing revision TKA was 85% when cross-matched with data obtained from local hospital records, 76% for revisions due to PJI, and 92% for aseptic revisions.

The cumulative incidence of revision TKA was 1.2% at 1 year, 1.9% at 2 years, 3.1% at 5 years, 4.4% at 10 years, and 6.1% at 15 years from the index TKA (Table 6.2). The annual incidence of revision was highest within the first 3 years, and after 4 years the annual risk of revision ranged from 0.1% to 0.3%. The five most common reasons for revision were PJI, aseptic loosening, patellofemoral arthrosis, tibiofemoral instability, and stiffness/arthrofibrosis (Table 6.3, Figure 6.2). The cumulative incidence of aseptic loosening and polyethylene wear was higher in patients under the age of 65 years (Figures 6.3 and 6.4).

	Follow Up (Years)															
Revision Reason	0.5	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
Infection (95% CI)	0.56 (0.42-0.7)	0.76 (0.6-0.92)	1.03 (0.84-1.22)	1.18 (0.97-1.38)	1.41 (1.17-1.64)	1.52 (1.28-1.77)	1.65 (1.38-1.91)	1.68 (1.42-1.95)	1.80 (1.51-2.08)	1.86 (1.56-2.15)	1.89 (1.59-2.19)	1.93 (1.62-2.24)	1.99 (1.66-2.32)	1.99 (1.66-2.32)	1.99 (1.66-2.32)	1.99 (1.66-2.32)
Aseptic Loosening (95% CI)	0.01 (0-0.03)	0.02 (0-0.04)	0.13 (0.06-0.20)	0.19 (0.1-0.27)	0.28 (0.17-0.39)	0.32 (0.2-0.45)	0.38 (0.24-0.51)	0.45 (0.30-0.61)	0.54 (0.36-0.72)	0.65 (0.44-0.86)	0.71 (0.5-0.94)	0.91 (0.51-1.18)	1.02 (0.69-1.35)	1.02 (0.69-1.35)	1.15 (0.73-1.57)	1.15 (0.73-1.57)
Patellofemoral Arthrosis (95% CI)	0	0.05 (0.01-0.09)	0.20 (0.12-0.29)	0.32 (0.21-0.43)	0.41 (0.28-0.54)	0.47 (0.32-0.51)	0.50 (0.35-0.65)	0.52 (0.36-0.67)	0.54 (0.38-0.70)	0.54 (0.38-0.70)	0.58 (0.40-0.75)	0.62 (0.42-0.82)	0.68 (0.45-0.91)	0.68 (0.45-0.91)	0.68 (0.45-0.91)	0.68 (0.45-0.91)
Instability (95% CI)	0.05 (0.01-0.10)	0.11 (0.05-0.17)	0.18 (0.10-0.26)	0.21 (0.12-0.30)	0.24 (0.14-0.33)	0.28 (0.17-0.39)	0.30 (0.19-0.41)	0.30 (0.19-0.41)	0.34 (0.21-0.47)	0.37 (0.23-0.51)	0.37 (0.23-0.51)	0.37 (0.23-0.51)	0.43 (0.25-0.62)	0.43	0.43	0.43
Stiffness (95% CI)	0.36 (0-0.07)	0.10 (0.04-0.16)	0.14 (0.07-0.21)	0.16 (0.09-0.24)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)	0.18 (0.09-0.26)
Polyethylene Wear (95% CI)	0	0	0	0	0	0.01 (0-0.04)	0.01 (0-0.04)	0.01 (0-0.04)	0.01 (0-0.04)	0.07 (0-0.15)	0.14 (0.01-0.26)	0.18 (0.03-0.32)	0.18 (0.03-0.32)	0.34 (0.07-0.61)	0.34 (0.07-0.61)	0.47 (0.10-0.84)
Periprosthetic Fracture (95% CI)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.04 (0-0.07)	0.04 (0-0.07)	0.05 (0-0.09)	0.05 (0-0.09)	0.07 (0.01-0.12)	0.07 (0.01-0.12)	0.09 (0.02-0.16)	0.09 (0.02-0.16)	0.09 (0.02-0.16)	0.13 (0.12-0.25)	0.13 (0.12-0.25)	0.13 (0.12-0.25)	0.13 (0.12-0.25)	0.13 (0.12-0.25)
Patella Maltracking (95% CI)	0.02 (0-0.04)	0.04 (0-0.07)	0.06 (0.01-0.1)	0.06 (0.01-0.1)	0.06 (0.01-0.1)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)	0.07 (0.32-0.51)
Extensor Mechanism Dysfunction (95% CI)	0.01 (0-0.03)	0.02 (0-0.43)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)	0.03 (0-0.06)
Other (95% CI)	0.05 (0.01-0.08)	0.05 (0.01-0.10)	0.07 (0.02-0.13)	0.09 (0.03-0.14)	0.10 (0.04-0.16)											
TKAs at risk (n)	10989	10423	8946	7766	6603	5575	4775	4077	3232	2526	1909	1519	919	756	405	399

Table 6.3 Adjusted cumulative incidence (%) of reasons for revision total knee arthroplasty during 15 years of follow-up.

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; TKA, total knee arthroplasty



Figure 6.2 *Cumulative incidence of the five most common reasons for revision total knee arthroplasty.*

There were 169 revision TKAs performed due to PJI. Eighteen had culture-negative PJI and three revision TKA procedures did not have component exchange (two had arthroscopic lavage and one patient with a monoblock tibial component underwent open debridement and lavage without component exchange). The cumulative incidence of PJI was 0.8% at 1 year, 1% at 2 years, 1.5% at 5 years, and 2% at 15 years after the index operation (Table 6.3, Figure 6.2).

Fifty-two revision TKA procedures were performed for aseptic loosening. Aseptic loosening and polyethylene wear combined were the primary causes for revision after 8 years from index surgery. The annual incidence of PJI was highest in the first 4 years post primary TKA, with aseptic loosening and polyethylene wear becoming the

most important after 8 years (Figure 6.3).





The original cohort of 11,134 primary TKAs included 6276 knees in which the patella was not resurfaced. Forty-nine of these TKAs underwent secondary patella resurfacing for patellofemoral arthrosis. The cumulative incidence of secondary patella resurfacing was highest (0.5%) during the first 5 years after primary TKA (Figure 6.2).

Thirty-two revisions were performed for instability and 18 for stiffness/arthrofibrosis, with an incidence of 0.4% and 0.2%, respectively (Figure 6.2). Revision secondary to

stiffness tended to present early, with all 18 revisions performed within 4 years of the index surgery.

Ten revision TKAs were performed for reasons other than the nine modes of failure. There were two cases of inappropriate seating of the tibial component causing overhang and symptomatic soft tissue irritation, requiring revision of the tibial component. There were two cases of wound dehiscence, five of haematoma, and one of acute inflammatory synovitis that did not fulfil the diagnostic criteria for PJI.

For the remaining four revision TKA categories, there were nine cases of polyethylene wear, eight of periprosthetic fracture, seven of patellar maltracking, and three of disruption of the extensor mechanism (Table 6.3).

6.4 Discussion

6.4.1 Contribution and significance

Revision surgery following TKA has long been used as a marker of failure, and is the primary outcome used by joint registries worldwide^{1,213,214}. However, such registries lack clinical and radiographic data, making accurate analysis of failure mechanisms difficult. Further, multiple studies show that joint registries have a poor ability to capture certain mechanisms of failure. The present study is unique in the literature in that it combined local hospital and national joint registry data to allow long-term follow-up in a large group of TKA patients and accurate clinical and radiographic analysis of failure mechanisms. Such a study is perhaps only possible in a small country like New Zealand, where each patient has a national health identifier to enable tracking when they move out of an area and surgeons were willing to collaborate and share clinical and radiographic data to allow accurate identification of the reasons for revision. In contrast with registry findings and previous reports from

tertiary revision centres^{1,202,215,216}, we found PJI to be the dominant mechanism of failure in the first 15 years following primary TKA.

6.4.2 Limitations

There are a number of limitations to this study. Firstly, while the national registry allowed capture of patients who had moved to other cities or had revision surgery at other institutions in New Zealand, any patients receiving revision surgery overseas would not have been captured. However, the average patient age at the time of primary TKA was 69 years in this study, and the likelihood of emigration in this age group would be low. Secondly, while we defined 'failure' as revision surgery involving addition or exchange of one or more components, we also included any reoperation due to confirmed PJI. While this would tend to increase the relative importance of PJI as a failure mechanism, only three of 169 patients with PJI did not undergo some form of component exchange (i.e., 'revision'), and most surgeons would consider PJI a 'failure' regardless of how it was treated. Thirdly, there are no universally accepted criteria to define modes of failure. Registries in particular vary widely in this regard, with the number of recorded modes ranging from 8 to 33 across national registries²¹⁷. For this reason, we used the method devised by Vince²⁰⁴, applying standardised criteria to define each mode of failure as objectively as possible. Further, registries have no defined criteria for PJI. Using the consensus criteria established by the Musculoskeletal Infection Society, we identified 18 culturenegative PJIs and three patients who had a PJI but were managed operatively without component exchange. Failure mechanisms in such patients would almost certainly be incorrectly identified by registry data capture mechanisms.

PJI was the dominant mechanism of failure, accounting for 47% of revision TKAs, and had an incidence of 1.0% at 2 years and 2.0% at 15 years. The second most common mechanism was aseptic loosening, with a 15-year incidence of 1.2%, accounting overall for 15% of all revision TKAs. This contrasts with previous studies from tertiary referral centres that report aseptic loosening to be the most common cause. Thiele et al and Sharkey et al reported that aseptic loosening contributed to 39.9% and 21.8% of their revisions^{216,218}. Similarly, Fehring et al and Dalury et al found that 27% and 23.1% of their revisions were secondary to aseptic loosening^{201,219}. Such reports are likely to underestimate the importance of PJI as a failure mechanism because they are based on data from referral centres. Treatment of PJI is often performed acutely, without time for transfer from a primary institution. More complex cases, such as those involving massive osteolysis or disruption of the extensor mechanism, are also more likely to be referred, potentially increasing their relative prevalence at referral centres. Such reports also include revisions of implants placed more than 15 years earlier, so may not reflect the mechanisms of failure of more modern prostheses, and would emphasise failure mechanisms that become more common with longer-term follow-up, such as aseptic loosening. For example, Sharkey et al reported that 41% of their patients were referred from outside institutions and time to revision ranged from 1 day to 30 years²⁰². Thiele et al reported that a 'substantial' number of revision TKAs in their study were referrals from outer regions with incomplete baseline information and that the index surgery was performed before the year 2000 in 16% of their patients²¹⁸. Similarly, in the report by Fehring et al, all revision TKAs were performed between 1986 and 1999, and most of these revisions were from primary cases performed in outlying areas²⁰¹. In our study, the

availability of a known denominator of patients who had undergone primary TKA enabled us to calculate the incidence of each reason for revision, allowing more accurate analysis of the relative importance of each mechanism.

National joint registries in Australia, the UK, Sweden, and New Zealand report aseptic loosening to be the most common failure mechanism following primary TKA^{1,214,220}. However, capture of revisions due to infection by registries is often poor. Lindgren et al reported that the Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register had a capture rate of 67% for reoperation due to PJI following total hip arthroplasty²²¹. Similarly, Zhu et al reported that the NZJR was 63% accurate in detecting reoperations for PJI (in both hip and knee arthroplasties) when compared with data from ICD-9/10 codes²⁰⁰. This is consistent with the findings of our study, which showed a 76% capture rate for revision TKA due to PJI. There are several potential reasons for this. Firstly, in our study, many revisions for PJI were performed in an acute setting outside normal hours, where different staffing levels may compromise protocols for reporting to national registries²²¹. Secondly, registry data sheets are typically collected at the time of revision surgery before culture results are available. Thirdly, such data sheets do not apply standardised definitions of PJI, such as the Musculoskeletal Infection Society criteria used in this study. The importance given to aseptic loosening as a failure mechanism in both national registries and revision TKA series is reflected in technological efforts to improve the outcome of primary TKA, i.e., computer navigation, patient-specific instrumentation, use of cross-linked polyethylene, and uncemented fixation, all of which aim to reduce failure caused by aseptic loosening. This study suggests that future efforts should also place similar emphasis on reducing the risk of PJI.

We found that the highest incidence of PJI occurred within the first 2 years following primary TKA (1.0%) and that the annual incidence decreased to less than 0.2% after 5 years. Many studies have reported infection as the primary cause of early failure, contributing to 18%–27% of early TKA revisions^{201,215,216}.

Preventing infection should be a key goal in efforts to improve patient outcomes following TKA. As highlighted in Chapter 3, the majority of PJIs occurring in the first two years following primary TKA are due to intra-operative contamination. Therefore, enhancing the effectiveness of prophylaxis has the potential to reduce the risk of PJI and have a significant impact on the overall failure rate of TKA.

6.4.5 Conclusion

We found PJI to be the dominant failure mechanism in the first 15 years following modern TKA. Aseptic loosening remains an important cause of failure, particularly in younger patients. Therefore, efforts to improve the outcome following primary TKA should focus on these areas, particularly prevention of PJI.

This study was limited by its follow-up duration of only 15 years, and we found that the incidence of aseptic loosening and polyethylene wear increased significantly after 8 years. As the number of patients living with TKA implants increases, the proportion of those requiring revision TKA for any reason will also increase. Using national health care and demographic data, Kurtz et al projected that the demand for revision TKA will increase by 601% in the USA by 2030.² Revision TKA tends to have a higher risk of complications, including PJI, and the following chapter investigates the use of IORA in revision TKA procedures.

Chapter 7 Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in revision TKA: a randomised trial

7.1 Preface

Revision total knee arthroplasty (TKA) has a higher reported infection rate than primary TKA, so strategies aiming to prevent prosthetic joint infection (PJI), such as intraosseous regional administration (IORA) of antibiotic prophylaxis, are particularly relevant in this patient population. However, it is unclear whether intraosseous injection can be successfully performed in revision TKA, given that a metal component is already present in the tibia and may compromise the injection. Moreover, because revision TKA procedures take longer to perform, the tourniquet is often released and then reinflated, which may affect antibiotic tissue concentrations when using IORA.

The following section contains a reproduction of an article entitled 'The John Insall Award: Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in revision TKA - a randomized trial', accepted for publication in *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* in June 2017.

The paper received the 2017 Knee Society John Insall award, presented in San Diego, USA. This is the first time this award has been received by a New Zealand researcher. It was presented at the 2014 open meeting of the Knee Society in Chicago and published as part of the Knee Society Symposium. The article was also presented at the American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons Annual Meeting in Dallas, November 2016, and was one of 52 papers selected for a podium presentation out of 1600 submissions. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* has a 2016 impact factor of 3.127.

140

7.2 Manuscript in Press

7.2.1 Title page

The John Insall Award: Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in revision TKA: a randomized trial

Simon W. Young FRACS, Mei Zhang PhD, Grant A. Moore BSc, Rocco P. Pitto, Henry D. Clarke MD, Mark J Spangehl MD

S.W. Young ⊠, R.P. Pitto, Department of Orthopaedics, North Shore Hospital, Auckland, New Zealand; Department of Surgery, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

E-mail: simon.young@auckland.ac.nz

Mei Zhang, Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Medicine, University of Otago, Christchurch, New Zealand; Toxicology, Canterbury Health Laboratories, Christchurch, New Zealand

Grant A Moore, Toxicology, Canterbury Health Laboratories, Christchurch, New Zealand

Mark J Spangehl, Henry D Clarke, Department of Orthopaedics, Mayo Clinic, Scottsdale, AZ, USA

Ethical Approval: Mayo Clinic Institutional review board, ID 13-004988 Clinical Trial Registration: NCT02020031 The institution of two of the authors (MS, HC) received funding from Vidacare, the manufacturer of the intraosseous needles used in this study.

All ICMJE Conflict of Interest Forms for authors and *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* editors and board members are on file with the publication and can be viewed on request.

Each author certifies that his or her institution approved the human protocol for this investigation, that all investigations were conducted in conformity with ethical principles of research, and that informed consent for participation in the study was obtained.

Procedures and sample collection were performed at the Mayo Clinic, AZ, USA. Samples were analysed at Canterbury Health Laboratories, Christchurch, New Zealand.

7.2.2 Abstract

Introduction In primary TKA, prophylaxis with low-dose vancomycin via intraosseous regional administration (IORA) achieves tissue concentrations 6–10 times higher than those achieved by systemic administration, and has been shown to provide more effective prophylaxis in an animal model. However, in revision TKA, the presence of a tibial implant may compromise injection via IORA and tourniquet deflation during a prolonged procedure may lower tissue concentrations. This study compared tissue concentrations of vancomycin administered intravenously (IV) with those achieved by IORA in revision TKA. *Methods* Twenty patients undergoing aseptic revision TKA were randomized to receive 1 g of systemic IV prophylactic vancomycin (IV group) or 500 mg of vancomycin as a bolus injection into a tibial intraosseous cannula below an inflated thigh tourniquet (IORA group) before skin incision. Subcutaneous fat and bone samples were taken at regular intervals during the procedure. Tissue vancomycin concentrations were measured using high-performance liquid chromatography.

Results Tibial intraosseous injection was unaffected by the tibial implant in all patients in the IORA group. The mean operating time was 3.5 hours in both groups. The mean initial tourniquet inflation time was 1.5 hours in the IORA group, with a second inflation for a mean of 35 minutes during cementation. Overall, the mean concentration of vancomycin in fat samples was 4.1 μ g/g in the IV group versus 115 μ g/g in the IORA group (p<0.001); tissue concentrations in femoral bone were 7.2 μ g/g in the IV group and 101 μ g/g in the IORA group. The vancomycin concentration in the final subcutaneous fat sample taken before closure was 5.3 times higher in the IORA group when compared with the IV group (p<0.001). The intra-articular concentration of vancomycin in drain fluid samples on postoperative day 1 was similar between the two groups (mean 4.6 μ g/g in the IV group and 6.6 μ g/g in the IORA group; p=0.08).

Conclusion Vancomycin via the IORA route is effective in revision TKA, resulting in tissue concentrations of vancomycin that are 5–20 times higher despite the lower dose than those achieved by systemic IV administration. High tissue concentrations were maintained throughout the procedure, despite a period of tourniquet deflation. IORA may be more clinically important in revision TKA, where the risk of infection is higher.

7.2.3 Introduction

Periprosthetic joint infection (PJI) is more common following revision total knee arthroplasty (TKA) than after primary surgery, with rates reported to be as high as 9%²²². Such PJIs are more challenging to treat because revision implants often involve use of stems, cones, and augments that make thorough debridement or removal difficult. Prophylactic antibiotics reduce the risk of developing PJI ^{41,151}; however, bacterial resistance to common prophylactic antibiotics such as cephalosporins is increasing^{12,61,136}. Vancomycin has been proposed as an alternative prophylactic antibiotic¹⁷³, but requires a prolonged administration time, carries a risk of systemic toxicity, and risks promoting further antibiotic resistance. Low-dose prophylactic vancomycin via intraosseous regional administration (IORA) may mitigate these issues, and in primary TKA achieves tissue concentrations 6–10 times higher than those achieved by systemic administration¹⁷⁵. In an animal model of TKA, IORA was also shown to provide more effective prophylaxis against PJI than systemic administration²²³.

In TKA, IORA involves intraosseous injection of prophylactic antibiotics into the proximal tibia after tourniquet inflation and before skin incision. In adults and in children, the distribution of an intraosseous injection is equivalent to that of an intravenous injection⁹⁶, and is a reliable route for antibiotic administration in primary TKA^{158,175}. However, in revision TKA, it is unclear if the presence of a tibial implant can alter the effectiveness of intraosseous injection. Further, revision TKA surgery is often prolonged and the tourniquet may be deflated during the procedure. This removes the restriction of the antibiotic to the circulation in the affected limb, potentially lowering tissue concentrations at the surgical site following deflation.

'from the time of incision to the time of closure'³⁹, any lowering of tissue concentrations may lessen the effectiveness of IORA in revision TKA.

This study was performed to compare tissue concentrations of vancomycin administered via the systemic intravenous (IV) route versus IORA in revision TKA, where the risk of PJI is higher. We aimed to answer these questions:

- Does low-dose IORA consistently provide equal or higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin when compared with systemic IV administration in revision TKA?
- 2) Are tissue concentrations of vancomycin following IORA maintained for the duration of the revision TKA procedure, despite a period of tourniquet deflation?
- 3) Is there any difference in short-term complications between IORA and systemic IV administration of vancomycin in revision TKA?

7.2.4 Methods

Patients undergoing unilateral revision TKA at a single tertiary institution were eligible for enrolment in this prospective, randomized controlled trial. Ethical approval was obtained from the institutional review board, and the trial and protocol were registered with ClinicalTrials.gov (Identifier: NCT02020031). The inclusion criterion was single-stage aseptic revision TKA with change of both tibial and femoral components. Exclusion criteria were previous or current PJI, known hypersensitivity to vancomycin, and significant cardiac or respiratory disease. All procedures were performed by either of two fellowship-trained arthroplasty surgeons (HDC, MJS).

Between January 2014 and April 2015, 22 patients were enrolled by a trained research nurse (DLR) in an outpatient setting. Patients were randomized to an IV group or an

IORA group using computer-generated random allocations placed in numbered, opaque, sealed envelopes. The IV group received 1 g of systemic IV prophylactic vancomycin as a one-hour infusion into an arm vein, timed to finish immediately prior to tourniquet inflation. The IORA group received 500 mg vancomycin in 150 mL of saline as a bolus injection via a tibial intraosseous cannula below an inflated thigh tourniquet immediately (<2 minutes) before skin incision (Figure 7.1).

Both groups received 2 g of systemic cefazolin 15 minutes prior to tourniquet inflation to ensure that all patients received effective antibiotic prophylaxis regardless of treatment allocation. Two patients were withdrawn from the study following an intraoperative decision not to proceed with a full revision of both components, leaving 20 patients for analysis (10 in the IV group and 10 in the IORA group, Table 7.1). All patients received a general anaesthetic combined with periarticular injection of local anaesthetic; 8 patients (4 in each group) also received a peripheral nerve block. Revision TKA was performed using components from either of two suppliers (Stryker Inc, Mahwah, NJ, USA; Zimmer, Warsaw, IN, USA).



Figure 7.1 Intraosseous injection performed after tourniquet inflation. Following injection, the needle is removed and the injection site is covered with Ioban before proceeding with skin incision and surgery.

	Systemic vancomycin 1 g (n=10)	IORA vancomycin 500 mg (n=10)
Sex		
Male	5	3
Female	5	7
Age (years)	67.4 (54–82)	69.3 (43-83)
Body mass index	32.6 (22–42)	32.3 (26-42)
First tourniquet time (min)*	94 (85–108)	91 (89–96)
Tourniquet deflation time (min)*	37 (15–88)	61 (18–109)
Second tourniquet time (cementation, min)*	35 (25–48)	35 (21–52)
Total procedure time (min, skin to skin)	212 (177–282)	219 (167–263)
ASA score	2.4 (2–3)	2.7 (2-3)

 Table 7.1 Patient demographic and clinical data.

Values are shown as the mean with range in parentheses. *Excludes three patients (one in the intravenous group and 2 in the IORA group) in whom the tourniquet was used for 120 minutes and not reinflated. Abbreviations: ASA, American Society of Anesthesiologists; IORA, intraosseous regional administration

The revision TKA procedure was performed with the tourniquet initially inflated for exposure and implant removal, followed by deflation and then reinflation for cementation of the implant. Patients were monitored for clinical signs of red man syndrome, particularly after tourniquet deflation. An antihistamine was available for use if required. During the procedure, subcutaneous fat and bone samples (approximately 0.5 cm³) were taken at regular intervals until skin closure; a total of six fat samples and four bone samples were taken for each patient (Table 7.2). All bone samples were taken from the femur, distant from the tibial intraosseous injection

site. Tissue samples were stored at -90°C until analysed. Vancomycin concentrations were determined by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) using a technique that has been previously described and validated^{175,224}. On postoperative day 1, intra-articular vancomycin concentrations were determined from a drain fluid sample. All patient samples were analysed in duplicate, and the laboratory analysis was carried out blinded as to group allocation.

Power calculation

Data from a previous randomised trial comparing vancomycin 250 mg via the IORA route versus vancomycin 1 g administered via a systemic route¹⁷⁵ showed mean (\pm standard deviation) vancomycin concentrations in subcutaneous fat at different collection points ranging from 8.1 \pm 5.6 μ g/g to 19.4 \pm 11.7 μ g/g in the IORA group and from 2.4 \pm 1.5 μ g/g to 4.4 \pm 2.0 μ g/g in the IV systemic group. Therefore, the concentration of vancomycin was approximately 3.3 times higher in the IORA group. In bone samples, the difference in vancomycin concentration was 4.5-fold. Using these data, an a priori power analysis calculated 10 patients in each arm would provide >90% statistical power to detect the expected fold difference in subcutaneous fat and bone concentrations at a 5% significance level using IORA doses that were 25% of the systemic dose (250 mg vs 1 g). Due to the more prolonged nature of revision surgery, we chose to use a higher IORA dose of 500 mg, so this power analysis represents a conservative estimate and likely overestimated the number of patients required.

150

 Table 7.2 Mean tissue concentrations of vancomycin at each sample point.

	Systemic vancom	nycin 1 g	IORA vancor	nycin 500 mg	
Sampling time	Time	Concentration	Time	Concentration	<i>p</i> -value
	(min)	$(\mu g/g)$	(min)	$(\mu g/g)$	
Subcutaneous fat 1 (S1)	2	3.2	3	94.1	<0.0001
	(1)	(1.8)	(4)	(69)	
Subcutaneous fat 2 (S2)	34	5.0	30	88.3	<0.0001
	(7)	(2.9)	(6)	(131)	
Subcutaneous fat 3 (S4)	50	4.2	48	69.4	<0.0001
	(10)	(2.5)	(12)	(50)	
Subcutaneous fat 4 (S6)	115	4.7	119	173	<0.0001
	(30)	(2.6)	(30)	(445)	
Subcutaneous fat 5 (S8)	145	4.0	151	249	<0.0001
	(34)	(2.2)	(36)	(639)	
Subcutaneous fat 6 (S10)	180	3.6	193	18.2	<0.0001
	(64)	(2.5)	(82)	(11.6)	
Bone 1 (S3)	34	7.9	30	90.7	<0.0001
	(7)	(5.7)	(6)	(77)	
Bone 2 (S5)	50	8.6	48	193	<0.0001
	(10)	(5.9)	(12)	(191)	
Bone 3 (S7)	115	5.0	119	59.8	<0.0001
	(30)	(2.3)	(30)	(63)	
Bone 4 (S9)	145	7.1	151	62.9	<0.0001
	(34)	(4.4)	(36)	(62)	

Times are given as minutes after surgical incision. Differences in mean tissue concentrations between the two groups were statistically significant (p<0.0001) for all comparison points after adjustment by sex, age, body mass index, American Society of Anesthesiologists score, interaction between groups, and time from incision.

There are limited data on the pharmacodynamics of vancomycin when used for surgical prophylaxis; however, in models of treatment of infection, the pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic parameter most predictive of efficacy is the area under the concentration-time curve (AUC) divided by the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC)⁵⁹. Therefore, increased tissue concentrations can be expected to enhance the effectiveness of antibiotic prophylaxis with vancomycin, especially when the MIC is ≥ 1 mg/mL, as for MRSA and CoNS¹⁵³. An animal study of vancomycin via the IORA route supports the expectation that higher concentrations will enhance effectiveness²²³, so the differences used in our power analysis are likely to be clinically relevant.

Statistical analysis

Means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence limits were calculated for the concentrations in the different samples. Coefficients of variation (CVs) in concentration level were summarised at each surgical step for comparison between the two groups. Repeated measures analysis of variance was used to compare the average concentration levels across time between groups adjusted for body mass index, age, and duration of the surgical procedure. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess the normality of the residuals. Adverse events were recorded by contingency table.

7.2.5 Results

Tibial intraosseous injection was successful in all patients in the IORA group and was unaffected by the presence of a tibial implant. The mean tissue concentration of vancomycin in fat samples was 4.1 μ g/g in the IV group and 115 μ g/g in the IORA group (p<0.001; (Table 7.2). The overall mean tissue concentration of vancomycin in

femoral bone was 7.2 μ g/g in the IV group and 101 μ g/g in the IORA group (p<0.001; Figure 7.2).

The mean procedure duration was 3.5 hours in both groups. The mean duration of initial tourniquet inflation was 1.5 hours, with a second inflation for a mean 35 minutes during cementation of the implant. In three patients (one in the IV group and two in the IORA group), the tourniquet was used for 120 minutes and not reinflated. The mean (\pm standard deviation) vancomycin concentration in the final subcutaneous fat samples taken prior to closure was 5.3 times higher in the IORA group than in the IV group (18.2 \pm 11.6 μ g/g versus 3.6 \pm 2.5 μ g/g; p<0.001). The mean intra-articular concentration of vancomycin on postoperative day 1 was similar in both groups (4.6 \pm 2.1 [range 2.0–8.1] μ g/mL in the IV group and 6.6 \pm 1.4 [range 3.9–8.2] μ g/mL in the IORA group; p=0.07, Figure 7.3).



Figure 7.2 Scatterplots showing concentration of vancomycin (A) Scatterplot showing tissue concentration of vancomycin in subcutaneous fat at various time points following incision. (B) Scatterplot showing tissue concentration of vancomycin in bone at various time points following incision. Note the scales are logarithmic.



Figure 7.3 Graph showing the intra-articular concentration of vancomycin in drain fluid drawn the morning following surgery. The central line represents the median; the box represents the 25% and 75% quartiles; the whiskers represent the range.

No patient in either group developed symptoms of red man syndrome. There were no thromboembolic complications or deep or superficial infections in either group. One patient in the IORA group developed a foot drop postoperatively, and underwent exploration and decompression of the common peroneal nerve 3.5 months postoperatively. There were no other reoperations in either group.

7.2.6 Discussion

PJI is more common after revision surgery than after primary TKA^{222,225}, and has been reported to account for over 44% of failures following revision TKAs ²²⁶. This study found that low-dose vancomycin via the IORA route was effective in the setting of revision TKA, consistently providing tissue concentrations that were 5–20 times

higher than those achieved by systemic IV administration for the duration of the procedure. Measures aiming to reduce PJI are particularly relevant in revision TKA, given both the higher incidence of PJI and the associated treatment difficulties in the presence of revision implants.

This study has several limitations. Firstly, the power analysis was based on the tissue concentration of vancomycin and not the subsequent development of PJI. The reason for this was that the numbers required to detect a difference in incidence of PJI between the two techniques would be prohibitive. However, the pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic parameter most predictive of the efficacy of vancomycin is the area under the concentration-time curve divided by the minimum inhibitory concentration (AUC/MIC)⁵⁹. Therefore, higher tissue concentrations are likely to enhance the effectiveness of vancomycin. This observation is supported by a recent study in a murine model of TKA that found low-dose vancomycin via the IORA route to be significantly more effective than standard-dose systemic vancomycin for prevention of PJI²²³. Secondly, we used a standard 1 g dose of vancomycin, whereas some authors have advocated weight-based dosing (e.g., 15 mg/L) to ensure adequate tissue concentrations are achieved¹⁴⁹. However, a 1 g dose for orthopaedic prophylaxis is commonly reported^{153,154,173}, and given the magnitude of the difference seen, a weight-based systemic vancomycin dose would have been unlikely to alter our findings. Finally, while we found no difference in complication rates between the two groups, the number of patients was relatively small. Two previous studies of IORA in primary TKA also found no increase in complications^{158,175}. Further, administration of vancomycin and other antibiotics via the IORA route is well described in the treatment of equine septic arthritis in the veterinary literature, again without reported complications^{101,104}.

We found the intraosseous injection to be successful in all patients despite the presence of a tibial implant. Rapid distribution through the circulation of the limb following injection was evident from the very high vancomycin concentrations seen in the first tissue sample, which was taken within minutes of the IORA injection. Regional administration of prophylactic antibiotics in TKA has been previously investigated by de Lalla et al, who compared intravenous regional administration (IVRA) of teicoplanin 400 mg via a foot vein with teicoplanin 800 mg administered systemically⁷⁶. They reported tissue concentrations 2–10 times higher in the IVRA group. They evaluated the IVRA protocol in 250 patients who underwent TKA and reported a 0% PJI rate⁷⁵. In the present study, we used the intraosseous route for regional administration of antibiotic prophylaxis, and the main advantages of IORA over IVRA were reliability and speed. Cannulation of a foot vein can be difficult in obese patients, and involves exposing an area typically covered in sterile drapes. In contrast, intraosseous injection using modern equipment is rapid and reproducible⁹⁰, and the fluid and medication injected travels directly into the intravascular space in a manner equivalent to intravenous injection in both adults and children⁹⁶. A small area of cancellous bone is all that is required, and the presence of tibial implants in the present study did not alter the effectiveness of IORA. In the setting of severe proximal tibial bone loss, the IORA technique may not be feasible, although intraosseous injection can also be performed via the distal tibia, distal femur, or calcaneus²²⁷⁻²²⁹.

We found higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin throughout the duration of the surgical procedure in the IORA group, despite intraoperative release of the tourniquet. Revision TKA procedures are often prolonged, and inflation of the tourniquet for the entire procedure risks nerve or ischaemic injury. Once the tourniquet is released, vancomycin levels at the operative site can be expected to decrease, although prior to

this study the rate at which they did so was unclear. We found that intra-articular vancomycin levels on postoperative day 1 remained above the typical MIC reported for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (1.0 μ g/mL) and coagulase-negative staphylococci $(2.0 \,\mu g/mL)^{230}$. There is likely to be a depot effect of the initial high tissue concentrations, causing the antibiotic to be released gradually into the systemic circulation after tourniquet deflation¹⁰¹. A potential weakness of the IORA technique is that many surgeons routinely continue antibiotics for 24 hours postoperatively, so further systemic vancomycin doses would still be required after IORA. However, randomised trials have shown no difference in infection rates between a single preoperative antibiotic dose and continuing antibiotics for 24 hours postoperatively ^{84,162}. This supports Burke's original theory of antibiotic prophylaxis, which states that adequate antibiotic tissue concentrations must be maintained from the time of incision to the time of closure, when contamination is occurring³⁹. This outcome was clearly achieved in the IORA group in this study, despite the use of a lower vancomycin dose. The lower dose allows bolus administration instead of a prolonged systemic infusion, and minimises the risk of systemic complications such as red man syndrome¹⁶⁰ and nephrotoxicity¹⁴⁶. The use of IORA also avoids the need for preoperative coordination to ensure appropriate timing of administration of prophylaxis, considering that most hospital protocols require infusion of 1 g of vancomycin when given systemically over 1-2 hours, to avoid red man syndrome.

The very high antibiotic concentrations seen with IORA raises the question of the potential for local toxicity. The effect of high antibiotic concentrations on musculoskeletal cells has been investigated in vitro in the context of local delivery of antibiotic-impregnated cement for the treatment of bone or periprosthetic infection. Antoci et al reported minimal toxicity to osteoblastic and chondroblastic cell lines at

vancomycin concentrations of 250 μ g/mL, with a significant reduction in cellular proliferation becoming apparent at concentrations above 2000 μ g/mL²³¹. Similarly, Rathbone et al reported vancomycin to be the least toxic of 21 antibiotics tested, with no effect on survival of osteoblasts or metabolic function until exposure to concentrations in excess of 2000 μ g/mL for 10–14 days⁸⁰. The IORA tissue concentrations in our study were well below these levels, and the duration of exposure shorter, suggesting local toxicity is unlikely to occur.

In conclusion, this study found low-dose IORA vancomycin to be effective in revision TKA, resulting in tissue concentrations of vancomycin 5–20 times higher than those achieved by systemic IV administration. The high tissue concentrations of vancomycin following IORA were maintained throughout the procedure and on the first postoperative day, despite a period of tourniquet deflation during surgery. Use of IORA may be more clinically important in revision TKA, when the risk of infection is higher than for primary TKA.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Debra L Ryan, research assistant, for her help in patient recruitment, sample management, and data

7.3 Discussion

7.3.1 Contribution and significance

This study found that IORA provided very high tissue concentrations of antibiotics in the more complex setting of revision TKA. This is relevant to clinical practice, considering that the infection rate following revision TKA is higher than primary procedures. The consequences of infection are also more serious, as treatment often requires removal of implants. Revision implants typically include stems and augments, and removal is extremely challenging and may cause significant tissue damage and bone loss.

Therefore, revision TKA is likely to be a key indication for surgeons preferring to use IORA selectively because of concerns regarding, e.g., the additional tourniquet time and needle cost associated with intraosseous injection. Until this study, it was unclear if IORA would be possible in revision procedures. The presence of a tibial implant could compromise intraosseous injection and the prolonged nature of the procedure with a period of tourniquet deflation may cause antibiotic concentrations to fall to low levels. The findings of this study indicate that such concerns are unwarranted: intraosseous injection was successful in every case, and tissue levels were very high throughout the procedure.

A limitation of this study is that there were only 10 patients in the IORA group. Revision TKA cases are extremely heterogeneous, and can differ significantly in indications and complexity. It is likely that intraosseous injection would not be possible in cases with severe proximal tibial bone loss. In this situation, the distal tibia, distal femur, or calcaneus may offer alternative access points ²²⁷⁻²²⁹..

7.3.2 Further antibiotic doses

This study also found that intra-articular concentrations of vancomycin, as measured by drain fluid samples, remained above the typical MIC for *S. aureus* on the morning following surgery. This is likely attributable to the depot effect of the high concentrations in the limb achieved at the time of surgery, and would support the use of a single preoperative IORA dose. Whenever this issue has been examined, the preoperative dose has been found to be the most crucial, and further doses of antibiotics beyond the duration of surgery do not alter the rate of infection.^{56,57,84} The American Academy of Orthopaedics recommends that antibiotics should be discontinued within 24 hours of the end of surgery⁴⁵. Multiple studies have showed that extended prophylaxis after surgery increases the risk of development of resistant organisms^{52,57}, so a single preoperative dose is most appropriate when using the IORA technique.

There is evidence that additional intraoperative antibiotic doses may be beneficial for reducing the risk of infection during very prolonged procedures²³². Steinberg et al investigated 4472 cardiac and orthopaedic procedures and found that, in cases lasting over 4 hours, 2 (1.8%) of 112 patients who were re-dosed intraoperatively developed infection compared with 22 (5.5%) of 400 who were not re-dosed (odds ratio 3.1; p=0.06).⁵⁰ In a randomised trial of 801 patients undergoing clean-contaminated operations, Scher et al compared 1 g of cefazolin preoperatively versus 1 g of cefazolin preoperatively with another dose 3 hours later. Infection rates were no different for surgeries lasting up to 3 hours; however, for those lasting more than 3 hours, the group that received only the single preoperative dose had a higher infection rate than those who also received the second cefazolin dose (6.1% versus 1.3%;
p<0.01).²³³ Such additional intraoperative doses will maintain adequate tissue antibiotic concentrations while the wound remains open and contamination is occurring. In our study, we found tissue concentrations remained elevated in the IORA group even during the prolonged revision procedures. However, because the number of cases was limited, in the case of extremely long procedures (more than 3–4 hours) a further systemic dose of either vancomycin or cefazolin would be prudent.

Chapter 8 Conclusion

8.1 Summary

This thesis has shown that infection is the main cause of failure following modern total knee arthroplasty (TKA) and that the bacteria causing infection are usually resistant organisms. It has introduced a novel form of prophylaxis using intraosseous regional administration (IORA), and showed that this technique provides tissue concentrations of cefazolin and vancomycin that are 5–10 times higher than those achieved by standard systemic administration. This research has shown that the IORA technique provides more effective prophylaxis against infection in a murine model of TKA, and that it can also be applied successfully in the more complex setting of revision TKA.

8.2 Contribution of this thesis

While the techniques of intraosseous injection and regional administration are not new, this is the first time the two have been combined to provide antibiotic prophylaxis prior to TKA. Intraosseous administration is reliable and feasible, allowing simple translation into clinical practice. Many surgeons worldwide now use the IORA technique.

8.3 Recognition of the work in this thesis

John Insall Award 2017

Awarded annually by the North American Knee Society to the best work on a clinical subject or outcomes report in knee surgery. Presented at the Knee Society Open Meeting, American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, San Diego, CA, USA, 2017 For paper entitled "Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in revision TKA: a randomized trial"

Top 5 Paper Award - ICJR East, New York 2013

regional prophylaxis in TKA: a randomised trial"

Awarded at the International Congress for Joint Reconstruction Meeting, New York For paper entitled "Higher concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA: a randomised trial"

Mark Coventry Award 2013

Awarded annually by the North American Knee Society to the best work on a surgical technique in knee surgery. Presented at the Knee Society Open Meeting, American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, Chicago, IL, USA, 2013 For paper entitled "Higher concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous

Louis Barnett Prize 2011

From College website: 'This Prize was established by the New Zealand Committee of the College in 1962 and has been awarded over the years to many prestigious New Zealand surgeons. It is awarded annually and commemorates Sir Louis Barnett CMG, the first New Zealander to become President of this College.'

For paper entitled "Intraosseous administration of prophylactic antibiotics: a randomised controlled trial"

Auckland Orthopaedic Society Academic Meeting, 2010 Registrar Winner - Best Presentation

For paper entitled "Intraosseous administration of prophylactic antibiotics"

8.4 Future directions

While the results of the animal study in this thesis were promising, it is unclear whether IORA will result in a reduction in infection rates in clinical practice. Additionally, while no complications were seen with use of IORA in this thesis, the total number of patients receiving IORA was small. Therefore, larger cohort studies are required to identify any rare complications that may be associated with IORA prophylaxis and to provide an indication of the deep infection rate, which can then be compared with that in historical controls. Currently, a multicentre prospective cohort study is underway combining data on the incidence of PJI following TKA with use of IORA prophylaxis from North Shore Hospital in Auckland and the Mayo Clinic in Scottsdale, AZ, USA.

Further research into the use of IORA in patients at higher risk of infection may also be beneficial. This thesis identified patients undergoing revision TKA as an at-risk subgroup; however, surgeons interested in using IORA prophylaxis selectively in primary TKA may target other risk factors for PJI. For example, obesity is a known risk factor for infection, and multiple studies have shown an association between an elevated body mass index and increased risk of PJI in TKA^{26,234,235}. This may at least in part be because systemic prophylactic antibiotics may not reach adequate tissue concentrations in obese patients, particularly when vancomycin is used.^{149,236} Therefore, IORA may be ideal for use in this patient subgroup, but the pharmacokinetics of IORA in obese patients is unknown. A randomised controlled trial is currently underway at North Shore Hospital in Auckland comparing tissue

concentrations of vancomycin in obese patients (body mass index >35) undergoing TKA.

In conclusion, IORA shows promise as a means of enhancing the effectiveness of antibiotic prophylaxis in TKA. It is hoped that the information presented in this thesis will provide a basis for further clinical research into this technique, with the goal of preventing infection and enhancing outcomes for patients undergoing TKA.

1.	New Zealand Orthopaedic Association. The Zealand Joint Registry.
	Fourteen Year Report. Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand
	Orthopaedic Association; 2013. Available from:
	http://nzoa.org.nz/system/files/NJR%2014%20Year%20Report.pdf.
	Accessed June 30, 2017.
2.	Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, Mowat F, Halpern M. Projections of primary and
	revision hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to
	2030. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007;89(4):780–785.
3.	Hooper G. The ageing population and the increasing demand for joint
	replacement. N Z Med J. 2013;126(1377):5-6.
4.	Costerton JW, Stewart PS. Battling biofilms. Sci Am. 2001;285(1):74-81.
5.	Sculco TP. The economic impact of infected total joint arthroplasty. Instr
	Course Lect. 1993;42:349–351.
6.	Kapadia BH, McElroy MJ, Issa K, Johnson AJ, Bozic KJ, Mont MA. The
	economic impact of periprosthetic infections following total knee
	arthroplasty at a specialized tertiary-care center. J Arthroplasty.
	2014;29(5):929–932.
7.	Kurtz SM, Lau E, Watson H, Schmier JK, Parvizi J. Economic burden of
	periprosthetic joint infection in the United States. J Arthroplasty.
	2012;27(8 Suppl):61–5.e61.
8.	Wilson PD, Amstutz HC, Czerniecki A, Salvati EA, Mendes DG. Total
	hip replacement with fixation by acrylic cement. A preliminary study of
	100 consecutive McKee-Farrar prosthetic replacements. J Bone Joint
	Surg Am. 1972;54(2):207–236.

- 9. Charnley J. A clean-air operating enclosure. *Br J Surg*. 1964;51(3):202–205.
- 10. Bengtson S, Knutson K. The infected knee arthroplasty. A 6-year followup of 357 cases. *Acta Orthop Scand*. 1991;62(4):301–311.
- Blom AW, Brown J, Taylor AH, Pattison G, Whitehouse S, Bannister
 GC. Infection after total knee arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*.
 2004;86(5):688–691.
- Nickinson RSJ, Board TN, Gambhir AK, Porter ML, Kay PR. The microbiology of the infected knee arthroplasty. *Int Orthop*. 2010;34(4):505–510.
- Phillips JE, Crane TP, Noy M, Elliott TSJ, Grimer RJ. The incidence of deep prosthetic infections in a specialist orthopaedic hospital: A 15-year prospective survey. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 2006;88-B(7):943–948.
- Dale H, Fenstad AM, Hallan G, Havelin LI, Furnes O, Overgaard S, et al. Increasing risk of prosthetic joint infection after total hip arthroplasty.
 Acta Orthop. 2012;83(5):449–458.
- Coventry MB. Treatment of infections occurring in total hip surgery.
 Orthop Clin North Am. 1975;6(4):991–1003.
- Fitzgerald RH, Nolan DR, Ilstrup DM, Van Scoy RE, Washington JA,
 Coventry MB. Deep wound sepsis following total hip arthroplasty. J
 Bone Joint Surg Am. 1977;59(7):847–855.
- Tsukayama DT, Estrada R, Gustilo RB. Infection after total hip arthroplasty. A study of the treatment of one hundred and six infections. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1996;78(4):512–523.
- 18. Fletcher N, Sofianos D, Berkes MB, Obremskey WT. Prevention of

perioperative infection. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007;89(7):1605–1618.

- Ellington JK, Harris M, Webb L, Smith B, Smith T, Tan K, et al.
 Intracellular Staphylococcus aureus. A mechanism for the indolence of osteomyelitis. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 2003;85(6):918–921.
- Davis N, Curry A, Gambhir AK, Panigrahi H, Walker CR, Wilkins EG, et al. Intraoperative bacterial contamination in operations for joint replacement. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 1999;81(5):886–889.
- 21. Jonsson EÖ, Johannesdottir H, Robertsson O, Mogensen B. Bacterial contamination of the wound during primary total hip and knee replacement. Median 13 years of follow-up of 90 replacements. *Acta Orthop*. 2014;85(2):159–164.
- Byrne AM, Morris S, McCarthy T, Quinlan W, O'Byrne JM. Outcome following deep wound contamination in cemented arthroplasty. *Int Orthop*. 2007;31(1):27–31.
- Knobben BA, Engelsma Y, Neut D, van der Mei HC, Busscher HJ, van Horn JR. Intraoperative contamination influences wound discharge and periprosthetic infection. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2006;452:236–241.
- Craig MR, Poelstra KA, Sherrell JC, Kwon MS, Belzile EL, Brown TE.
 A novel total knee arthroplasty infection model in rabbits. *J Orthop Res*.
 2005;23(5):1100–1104.
- Kilgus DJ, Howe DJ, Strang A. Results of periprosthetic hip and knee infections caused by resistant bacteria. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2002;404:116–124.
- 26. Namba RS, Inacio MC, Paxton EW. Risk factors associated with deep surgical site infections after primary total knee arthroplasty: an analysis

of 56,216 knees. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2013;95(9):775-782.

- Namba RS, Inacio MC, Paxton EW. Risk factors associated with surgical site infection in 30,491 primary total hip replacements. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 2012;94(10):1330–1338.
- Young SW, Mutu-Grigg J, Frampton CM, Cullen J. Does speed matter? Revision rates and functional outcomes in TKA in relation to duration of surgery. *J Arthroplasty*. 2014;29(7):1473–1477.e1.
- Willis-Owen CA, Konyves A, Martin DK. Factors affecting the incidence of infection in hip and knee replacement: an analysis of 5277 cases. J
 Bone Joint Surg Br. 2010;92(8):1128–1133.
- 30. Peersman G, Laskin R, Davis J, Peterson M. Infection in total knee
 replacement: a retrospective review of 6489 total knee replacements. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2001;(392):15–23.
- 31. Tayton ER, Frampton C, Hooper GJ, Young SW. The impact of patient and surgical factors on the rate of infection after primary total knee arthroplasty : an analysis of 64 566 joints from the New Zealand Joint Registry. *Bone Joint J*. 2016;98-B(3):334–340.
- 32. Miller JT, Rahimi SY, Lee M. History of infection control and its contributions to the development and success of brain tumor operations. *Neurosurg Focus*. 2005;18(4):e4.
- 33. Keen WW. Before and after Lister. *Science*. 1915;41(1068):881–891.
- Charnley J. Low Friction Arthroplasty of the Hip. Berlin, Germany: Springer Verlag; 1979.
- 35. Ardern CL, Taylor NF, Feller JA, Webster KE. Return-to-sport outcomes at 2 to 7 years after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery. *Am*

J Sports Med. 2012;40(1):41-48.

- 36. Ardern CL, Webster KE, Taylor NF, Feller JA. Return to sport following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the state of play. *Br J Sports Med*. 2011;45(7):596–606.
- 37. Lidwell OM, Lowbury EJ, Whyte W, Blowers R, Stanley SJ, Lowe D.
 Effect of ultraclean air in operating rooms on deep sepsis in the joint after total hip or knee replacement: a randomised study. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*. 1982;285(6334):10–14.
- 38. Hooper GJ, Rothwell AG, Frampton C, Wyatt MC. Does the use of laminar flow and space suits reduce early deep infection after total hip and knee replacement?: the ten-year results of the New Zealand Joint Registry. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2011;93(1):85–90.
- Burke JF. The effective period of preventive antibiotic action in experimental incisions and dermal lesions. *Surgery*. 1961;50:161–168.
- 40. Ericson C, Lidgren L, Lindberg L. Cloxacillin in the prophylaxis of postoperative infections of the hip. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 1973;55(4):808–813, 843.
- 41. Hill C, Flamant R, Mazas F, Evrard J. Prophylactic cefazolin versus placebo in total hip replacement. Report of a multicentre double-blind randomised trial. *Lancet*. 1981;1(8224):795–796.
- 42. Fogelberg EV, Zitzmann EK, Stinchfield FE. Prophylactic penicillin in orthopaedic surgery. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 1970;52(1):95–98.
- 43. Henley MB, Jones RE, Wyatt RW, Hofmann A, Cohen RL. Prophylaxis with cefamandole nafate in elective orthopedic surgery. *Clin Orthop*

Relat Res. 1986;209:249-254.

- 44. Pavel A, Smith RL, Ballard A, Larsen IJ. Prophylactic antibiotics in clean orthopaedic surgery. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 1974;56(4):777–782.
- 45. Prokuski L. Prophylactic antibiotics in orthopaedic surgery. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2008;16(5):283–293.
- 46. Friedman RJ, Friedrich LV, White RL, Kays MB, Brundage DM,
 Graham J. Antibiotic prophylaxis and tourniquet inflation in total knee arthroplasty. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1990;260:17–23.
- 47. Cunha BA, Gossling HR, Pasternak HS, Nightingale CH, Quintiliani R.
 The penetration characteristics of cefazolin, cephalothin, and cephradine into bone in patients undergoing total hip replacement. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1977;59(7):856–859.
- Hansen E, Belden K, Silibovsky R, Vogt M, Arnold W, Bicanic G, et al.
 Perioperative antibiotics. *J Orthop Res*. 2014;32 Suppl 1:S31–59.
- Classen DC, Evans RS, Pestotnik SL, Horn SD, Menlove RL, Burke JP.
 The timing of prophylactic administration of antibiotics and the risk of surgical-wound infection. *N Engl J Med.* 1992;326(5):281–286.
- 50. Steinberg JP, Braun BI, Hellinger WC, Kusek L, Bozikis MR, Bush AJ;
 Trial to Reduce Antimicrobial Prophylaxis Errors (TRAPE) Study Group.
 Timing of antimicrobial prophylaxis and the risk of surgical site
 infections: results from the Trial to Reduce Antimicrobial Prophylaxis
 Errors. Ann Surg. 2009;250(1):10–16.
- 51. van Kasteren MEE, Manniën J, Ott A, Kullberg B-J, de Boer AS,
 Gyssens IC. Antibiotic prophylaxis and the risk of surgical site infections
 following total hip arthroplasty: timely administration is the most

important factor. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;44(7):921-927.

52. Dellinger EP. Prophylactic antibiotics: administration and timing before operation are more important than administration after operation. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2007;44(7):928–930.

53. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. Recommendations for the use of intravenous antibiotic prophylaxis in primary total joint arthroplasty. Available from: http://www.aaos.org/about/papers/advistmt/1027.asp. Accessed June 15, 2015.

- McDonald M, Grabsch E, Marshall C, Forbes A. Single- versus multipledose antimicrobial prophylaxis for major surgery: a systematic review.
 Aust N Z J Surg. 1998;68(6):388–396.
- 55. Slobogean GP, Kennedy SA, Davidson D, O'Brien PJ. Single- versus multiple-dose antibiotic prophylaxis in the surgical treatment of closed fractures: a meta-analysis. *J Orthop Trauma*. 2008;22(4):264–269.
- Mauerhan DR, Nelson CL, Smith DL, Fitzgerald RH Jr, Slama TG, Petty RW, et al. Prophylaxis against infection in total joint arthroplasty. One day of cefuroxime compared with three days of cefazolin. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1994;76(1):39–45.
- 57. Harbarth S, Samore MH, Lichtenberg D, Carmeli Y. Prolonged antibiotic prophylaxis after cardiovascular surgery and its effect on surgical site infections and antimicrobial resistance. *Circulation*. 2000;101(25):2916– 2921.
- Quintiliani R, Nightingale C. Principles of antibiotic usage. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1984;190:31–35.

- 59. Craig WA. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic parameters: rationale for antibacterial dosing of mice and men. *Clin Infect Dis*. 1998;26(1):1–10.
- Niska JA, Shahbazian JH, Ramos RI, Pribaz JR, Billi F, Francis KP, et al. Daptomycin and tigecycline have broader effective dose ranges than vancomycin as prophylaxis against a Staphylococcus aureus surgical implant infection in mice. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2012;56(5):2590–2597.
- 61. Yamada K, Matsumoto K, Tokimura F, Okazaki H, Tanaka S. Are bone and serum cefazolin concentrations adequate for antimicrobial prophylaxis? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2011;469(12):3486–3494.
- 62. Schurman DJ, Hirshman HP, Kajiyama G, Moser K, Burton DS.
 Cefazolin concentrations in bone and synovial fluid. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1978;60(3):359–362.
- 63. Williams DN, Gustilo RB, Beverly R, Kind AC. Bone and serum concentrations of five cephalosporin drugs. Relevance to prophylaxis and treatment in orthopedic surgery. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1983;179:253–265.
- 64. Møller JK. Drug resistance and plasmid profiles in Staphylococcus epidermidis in 1964 and 1986. *J Hosp Infect*. 1988;12(1):19–27.
- 65. Uçkay I, Harbarth S, Ferry T, Lübbeke A, Emonet S, Hoffmeyer P, et al.
 Methicillin resistance in orthopaedic coagulase-negative staphylococcal infections. *Journal of Hospital Infection*. 2011;79(3):248–253.
- Klevens RM, Edwards JR, Tenover FC, McDonald LC, Horan T, Gaynes
 R. Changes in the epidemiology of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in intensive care units in US hospitals, 1992-2003. *Clin Infect Dis*.

2006;42(3):389-391.

- 67. Bjerke-Kroll BT, Christ AB, McLawhorn AS, Sculco PK, Jules-Elysée
 KM, Sculco TP. Periprosthetic joint infections treated with two-stage
 revision over 14 years: an evolving microbiology profile. *J Arthroplasty*.
 2014;29(5):877–882.
- 68. Aggarwal VK, Bakhshi H, Ecker NU, Parvizi J, Gehrke T, Kendoff D.
 Organism profile in periprosthetic joint infection: pathogens differ at two arthroplasty infection referral centers in Europe and in the United States. *J Knee Surg.* 2014;27(5):399–406.
- Parvizi J, Azzam K, Ghanem E, Austin MS, Rothman RH. Periprosthetic infection due to resistant staphylococci: serious problems on the horizon. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2009;467(7):1732–1739.
- 70. Salgado CD, Dash S, Cantey JR, Marculescu CE. Higher risk of failure of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus prosthetic joint infections. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2007;461:48–53.
- Bier A. [A novel method of producing local anaesthesia in the limbs].
 Archiv für Klinische Chirurgie. 1908;86:1007–1016. Published in German.
- van Zundert A, Helmstädter A, Goerig M, Mortier E. Centennial of intravenous regional anesthesia. Bier's Block (1908-2008). *Reg Anesth Pain Med*. 2008;33(5):483–489.
- 73. Holmes CM. Intravenous regional analgesia. A useful method of producing analgesia of the limbs. *Lancet*. 1963;1(7275):245–247.
- 74. Lazzarini L, Novelli A, Marzano N, <u>Timillero L</u>, <u>Fallani S</u>, <u>Viola R</u>, et al.
 Regional and systemic prophylaxis with teicoplanin in total knee

arthroplasty: a tissue penetration study. *J Arthroplasty*. 2003;18(3):342–346.

- 75. de Lalla F, Viola R, Pellizzer G, Lazzarini L, Tramarin A, Fabris P.
 Regional prophylaxis with teicoplanin in monolateral or bilateral total knee replacement: An open study. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2000;44(2):316–319.
- 76. de Lalla F, Novelli A, Pellizzer G, Milocchi F, Viola R, Rigon A, et al. Regional and systemic prophylaxis with teicoplanin in monolateral and bilateral total knee replacement procedures: study of pharmacokinetics and tissue penetration. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1993:37(12):2693–2698.
- Hoddinott C, Lovering AM, Fernando HC, Dixon JH, Reeves DS.
 Determination of bone and fat concentrations following systemic cefamandole and regional cefuroxime administration in patients undergoing knee arthroplasty. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 1990;26(6):823–829.
- 78. Miller BS, Harper WP, Hughes JS, Sonnabend DH, Walsh WR. Regional antibiotic prophylaxis in elbow surgery. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2004;13(1):57–59.
- Parker RA, Bladon BM, McGovern K, Smith KC. Osteomyelitis and osteonecrosis after intraosseous perfusion with gentamicin. *Vet Surg*. 2010;39(5):644–648.
- Rathbone CR, Cross JD, Brown KV, Murray CK, Wenke JC. Effect of various concentrations of antibiotics on osteogenic cell viability and activity. *J Orthop Res*. 2011;29(7):1070–1074.

- 81. Cavanaugh DL, Berry J, Yarboro SR, Dahners LE. Better prophylaxis against surgical site infection with local as well as systemic antibiotics.
 An in vivo study. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2009;91(8):1907–1912.
- Gillespie WJ, Walenkamp G. Antibiotic prophylaxis for surgery for proximal femoral and other closed long bone fractures. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2001;1:CD000244.
- 83. Gatell JM, Garcia S, Lozano L, Soriano E, Ramon R, SanMiguel JG.
 Perioperative cefamandole prophylaxis against infections. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1987;69(8):1189–1193.
- 84. Heydemann JS, Nelson CL. Short-term preventive antibiotics. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1986;205:184–187.
- Bratzler D, Houck P, Richards C, Steele L, Dellinger EP, Fry DE, et al.
 Use of antimicrobial prophylaxis for major surgery baseline results from the National Surgical Infection Prevention Project. *Arch Surg*.
 2005;140(2):174–182.
- Rosenberg AD, Wambold D, Kraemer L, Begley-Keyes M, Zuckerman SL, Singh N, et al. Ensuring appropriate timing of antimicrobial prophylaxis. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 2008;90(2):226–232.
- Bull AL, Worth LJ, Richards MJ. Impact of vancomycin surgical antibiotic prophylaxis on the development of methicillin-sensitive staphylococcus aureus surgical site infections: report from Australian Surveillance Data (VICNISS). *Ann Surg.* 2012;256(6):1089–1092.
- Belkin NL. Use of scrubs and related apparel in health care facilities. *Am J Infect Control*. 1997;25(5):401–404.
- 89. Josefson A. A new method of treatment—intraosseous injection. Acta

Med Scand. 1934;81:550-554.

- 90. Cooper BR, Mahoney PF, Hodgetts TJ, Mellor A. Intra-osseous access
 (EZ-IO) for resuscitation: UK military combat experience. *J R Army Med Corps*. 2007;153(4):314–316.
- 91. Joseph G, Tobias JD. The use of intraosseous infusions in the operating room. *J Clin Anesth*. 2008;20(6):469–473.
- 92. Luck RP, Haines C, Mull CC. Intraosseous access. *J Emerg Med*. 2010;39(4):468–475.
- 93. Sarkar D, Philbeck T. The use of multiple intraosseous catheters in combat casualty resuscitation. *Mil Med*. 2009;174(2):106–108.
- 94. Shavit I, Hoffmann Y, Galbraith R, Waisman Y. Comparison of two mechanical intraosseous infusion devices: A pilot, randomized crossover trial. *Resuscitation*. 2009;80(9):1029–1033.
- 95. Waisman M, Waisman D. Bone marrow infusion in adults. *J Trauma*. 1997;42(2):288–293.
- 96. Tobias JD, Ross AK. Intraosseous infusions: a review for the anesthesiologist with a focus on pediatric use. *Anesth Analg*. 2010;110(2):391–401.
- 97. Waisman M, Roffman M, Bursztein S, Heifetz M. Intraosseous regional anesthesia as an alternative to intravenous regional anesthesia. *J Trauma*. 1995;39(6):1153–1156.
- Rubio-Martínez LM, Cruz AM. Antimicrobial regional limb perfusion in horses. J Am Vet Med Assoc. 2006;228(5):706–12–655.
- 99. Rubio-Martínez LM, Elmas CR, Black B, Monteith G. Clinical use of antimicrobial regional limb perfusion in horses: 174 cases (1999-2009). *J*

Am Vet Med Assoc. 2012;241(12):1650–1658.

- Rubio-Martínez LM, López-Sanromán J, Cruz AM, Tendillo F, Rioja E,
 San Román F. Evaluation of safety and pharmacokinetics of vancomycin after intraosseous regional limb perfusion and comparison of results with those obtained after intravenous regional limb perfusion in horses. *Am J Vet Res.* 2006;67(10):1701–1707.
- Rubio-Martínez LM, López-Sanromán J, Cruz AM, Santos M, Andrés
 MS, Román FS. Evaluation of safety and pharmacokinetics of
 vancomycin after intravenous regional limb perfusion in horses. *Am J Vet Res.* 2005;66(12):2107–2113.
- Rubio-Martínez L, López-Sanromán J, Cruz AM, Santos M, San Román
 F. Medullary plasma pharmacokinetics of vancomycin after intravenous and intraosseous perfusion of the proximal phalanx in horses. *Vet Surg*. 2005;34(6):618–624.
- Heinild S, Sondergaard T, Tudvad F. Bone marrow infusion in childhood. *J Pediatr*. 1947;30:400–412.
- Scheuch BC, Van Hoogmoed LM, Wilson WD, Snyder JR, MacDonald MH, Watson ZE, et al. Comparison of intraosseous or intravenous infusion for delivery of amikacin sulfate to the tibiotarsal joint of horses.
 Am J Vet Res. 2002;63(3):374–380.
- 105. Mattson S, Bouré L, Pearce S, Hurtig M, Burger J, Black W. Intraosseous gentamicin perfusion of the distal metacarpus in standing horses. *Vet Surg.* 2004;33(2):180–186.
- 106. Ong ME, Ngo AS, Wijaya R. An observational, prospective study to determine the ease of vascular access in adults using a novel intraosseous

access device. Ann Acad Med Singapore. 2009;38(2):121-124.

- 107. Atanda A, Statter MB. Compartment syndrome of the leg after intraosseous infusion: guidelines for prevention, early detection, and treatment. Am J Orthop. 2008;37(12):E198–E200.
- Simmons CM, Johnson NE, Perkin RM, van Stralen D. Intraosseous
 extravasation complication reports. *Ann Emerg Med*. 1994;23(2):363–366.
- 109. Vidal R, Kissoon N, Gayle M. Compartment syndrome following intraosseous infusion. *Pediatrics*. 1993;91(6):1201–1202.
- Ribeiro JA, Price CT, Knapp DR. Compartment syndrome of the lower extremity after intraosseous infusion of fluid. A report of two cases. J *Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1993;75(3):430–433.
- Bowley DM, Loveland J, Pitcher GJ. Tibial fracture as a complication of intraosseous infusion during pediatric resuscitation. *J Trauma*. 2003;55(4):786–787.
- Rosetti VA, Thompson BM, Miller J, Mateer JR, Aprahamian C.
 Intraosseous infusion: an alternative route of pediatric intravascular access. *Ann Emerg Med.* 1985;14(9):885–888.
- 113. Wile UJ, Schamberg IL. Pulmonary fat embolism following infusions via the bone marrow. *J Invest Dermatol*. 1942;5:173–177.
- Plewa MC, King RW, Fenn-Buderer N, Gretzinger K, Renuart D, Cruz
 R. Hematologic safety of intraosseous blood transfusion in a swine model of pediatric hemorrhagic hypovolemia. *Acad Emerg Med.* 1995;2(9):799–809.
- 115. Hasan MY, Kissoon N, Khan TM, Saldajeno V, Goldstein J, Murphy SP.

- 116. Orlowski JP, Julius CJ, Petras RE, Porembka DT, Gallagher JM. The safety of intraosseous infusions: risks of fat and bone marrow emboli to the lungs. *Ann Emerg Med.* 1989;18(10):1062–1067.
- Fiallos M, Kissoon N, Abdelmoneim T, Johnson L, Murphy S, Lu L, et al. Fat embolism with the use of intraosseous infusion during cardiopulmonary resuscitation. *Am J Med Sci.* 1997;314(2):73–79.
- 118. Carlsson AK, Lidgren L, Lindberg L. Prophylactic antibiotics against early and late deep infections after total hip replacements. *Acta Orthop Scand*. 1977;48(4):405–410.
- Strandberg G, Larsson A, Lipcsey M, Michalek J, Eriksson M.
 Intraosseous and intravenous administration of antibiotics yields
 comparable plasma concentrations during experimental septic shock.
 Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2015;59(3):346–353.
- Buck ML, Wiggins BS, Sesler JM. Intraosseous drug administration in children and adults during cardiopulmonary resuscitation. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2012;41(10):1679–1686.
- 121. Shah PM, Junghanns W, Stille W. [Bactericidal dosie-activity relationships with E. coli, K. pneumoniae and Staph. aureus (author's transl)]. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr*. 1976;101(9):325-8. Published in German.
- 122. Gunderson BW, Ross GH, Ibrahim KH, Rotschafer JC. What do we really know about antibiotic pharmacodynamics? *Pharmacotherapy*. 2001;21(11 Pt 2):302S–318S.

- Redington J, Ebert SC, Craig WA. Role of antimicrobial pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in surgical prophylaxis. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1991;13 Suppl 10:S790–S799.
- Roberts JA, Kruger P, Paterson DL, Lipman J. Antibiotic resistance—
 What's dosing got to do with it? *Crit Care Med*. 2008;36(8):2433–2440.
- 125. Leggett JE, Fantin B, Ebert S, et al. Comparative antibiotic dose-effect relations at several dosing intervals in murine pneumonitis and thigh-infection models. *J Infect Dis*. 1989;159(2):281–292.
- Vogelman B, Gudmundsson S, Leggett J, Turnidge J, Ebert S, Craig WA.
 Correlation of antimicrobial pharmacokinetic parameters with therapeutic efficacy in an animal model. *J Infect Dis.* 1988;158(4):831–847.
- Li D, Gromov K, Søballe K, Puzas JE, O'Keefe RJ, Awad H, et al.
 Quantitative mouse model of implant-associated osteomyelitis and the kinetics of microbial growth, osteolysis, and humoral immunity. *J Orthop Res.* 2008;26(1):96–105.
- Fulkerson E, Valle CJ, Wise B, Walsh M, Preston C, Di Cesare PE.
 Antibiotic susceptibility of bacteria infecting total joint arthroplasty sites. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2006;88(6):1231–1237.
- Dastgheyb SS, Hammoud S, Ketonis C, Liu AY, Fitzgerald K, Parvizi J, et al. Staphylococcal persistence due to biofilm formation in synovial fluid containing prophylactic cefazolin. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2015;59(4):2122–2128.
- 130. Peel TN, Cheng AC, Buising KL, Choong PF. Microbiological aetiology, epidemiology, and clinical profile of prosthetic joint infections: are current antibiotic prophylaxis guidelines effective? *Antimicrob Agents*

Chemother. 2012;56(5):2386-2391.

- Yeap JS, Lim JW, Vergis M, Au Yeung PS, Chiu CK, Singh H.
 Prophylactic antibiotics in orthopaedic surgery: guidelines and practice.
 Med J Malaysia. 2006;61(2):181–188.
- Mohanty SS, Kay PR. Infection in total joint replacements. Why we screen MRSA when MRSE is the problem? *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 2004;86(2):266–268.
- 133. Ravi S, Zhu M, Luey C, Young SW. Antibiotic resistance in early periprosthetic joint infection. ANZ J Surg. 2016;86(12):1014–1018.
- Osmon DR, Berbari EF, Berendt AR, Lew D, Zimmerli W, Steckelberg
 JM, et al; Infectious Diseases Society of America. Executive summary:
 diagnosis and management of prosthetic joint infection: clinical practice
 guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. *Clin Infect Dis*.
 2013;56(1):1–10.
- Norton TD, Skeete F, Dubrovskaya Y, Phillips MS, Bosco JD, Mehta
 SA. Orthopedic surgical site infections: analysis of causative bacteria and
 implications for antibiotic stewardship. *Am J Orthop*. 2014;43(5):E89–
 E92.
- Stefánsdóttir A, Johansson D, Knutson K, Lidgren L, Robertsson O.
 Microbiology of the infected knee arthroplasty: report from the Swedish Knee Arthroplasty Register on 426 surgically revised cases. *Scand J Infect Dis.* 2009;41(11-12):831–840.
- Lora-Tamayo J, Murillo O, Iribarren JA, Soriano A, Sánchez-Somolinos
 M, Baraia-Etxaburu JM, et al; REIPI Group for the Study of Prosthetic
 Infection. A large multicenter study of methicillin-susceptible and

methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus prosthetic joint infections managed with implant retention. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2012;56(2):182–194.

- Wymenga AB, Hekster YA, Theeuwes A, Muytjens HL, van Horn JR, Slooff TJ. Antibiotic use after cefuroxime prophylaxis in hip and knee joint replacement. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 1991;50(2):215–220.
- Garza-González E, Lopez D, Pezina C, Muruet W, Bocanegra-García V,
 Muñoz I, et al. Diversity of staphylococcal cassette chromosome mec
 structures in coagulase-negative staphylococci and relationship to drug
 resistance. *J Med Microbiol*. 2010;59 Pt 3:323–329.
- Larsson AJ, Walker KJ, Raddatz JK, Rotschafer JC. The concentrationindependent effect of monoexponential and biexponential decay in vancomycin concentrations on the killing of Staphylococcus aureus under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 1996;38(4):589–597.
- Rybak MJ. The pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of vancomycin. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2006;42 Suppl 1:S35–S39.
- 142. Knudsen JD, Fuursted K, Raber S, Espersen F, Frimodt-Moller N.
 Pharmacodynamics of glycopeptides in the mouse peritonitis model of Streptococcus pneumoniae or Staphylococcus aureus Infection.
 Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2000;44(5):1247–1254.
- 143. Löwdin E, Odenholt I, Cars O. In vitro studies of pharmacodynamic properties of vancomycin against Staphylococcus aureus and Staphylococcus epidermidis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1998;42(10):2739–2744.
- 144. Moise-Broder PA, Forrest A, Birmingham MC, Schentag JJ.

Pharmacodynamics of vancomycin and other antimicrobials in patients with Staphylococcus aureus lower respiratory tract infections. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2004;43(13):925–942.

- 145. Zimmermann AE, Katona BG, Plaisance KI. Association of vancomycin serum concentrations with outcomes in patients with gram-positive bacteremia. *Pharmacotherapy*. 1995;15(1):85–91.
- Courtney PM, Melnic CM, Zimmer Z, Anari J, Lee G-C. Addition of vancomycin to cefazolin prophylaxis is associated with acute kidney injury after primary joint arthroplasty. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2015;473(7):2197–2203.
- Garey KW, Dao T, Chen H, Amrutkar P, Kumar N, Reiter M, et al.
 Timing of vancomycin prophylaxis for cardiac surgery patients and the risk of surgical site infections. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2006;58(3):645–650.
- Hall RG, Payne KD, Bain AM, Rahman AP, Nguyen ST, Eaton SA, et al.
 Multicenter evaluation of vancomycin dosing: emphasis on obesity. *Am J Med.* 2008;121(6):515–518.
- Catanzano A, Phillips M, Dubrovskaya Y, Hutzler L, Bosco J. The standard one gram dose of vancomycin is not adequate prophylaxis for MRSA. *Iowa Orthop J*. 2014;34:111–117.
- 150. Sewick A, Makani A, Wu C, O'Donnell J, Baldwin KD, Lee G-C. Does dual antibiotic prophylaxis better prevent surgical site infections in total joint arthroplasty? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2012;470(10):2702–2707.
- 151. Doyon F, Evrard J, Mazas F, Hill C. Long-term results of prophylactic cefazolin versus placebo in total hip replacement. *Lancet*.

1987;1(8537):860.

- 152. Murphy E, Spencer SJ, Young D, Jones B, Blyth MJ. MRSA colonisation and subsequent risk of infection despite effective eradication in orthopaedic elective surgery. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 2011;93(4):548–551.
- 153. Crawford T, Rodvold KA, Solomkin JS. Vancomycin for surgical prophylaxis? *Clin Infect Dis*. 2012;54(10):1474–1479.
- 154. Ritter MA, Barzilauskas CD, Faris PM, Keating EM. Vancomycin prophylaxis and elective total joint arthroplasty. *Orthopedics*. 1989;12(10):1333–1336.
- Tyllianakis ME, Karageorgos AC, Marangos MN, Saridis AG, Lambiris EE. Antibiotic prophylaxis in primary hip and knee arthroplasty:
 comparison between cefuroxime and two specific antistaphylococcal agents. *J Arthroplasty*. 2010;25(7):1078–1082.
- 156. McNamara DR, Steckelberg JM. Vancomycin. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2005;13(2):89–92.
- Hidayat LK, Hsu DI, Quist R, Shriner KA, Wong-Beringer A. High-dose vancomycin therapy for methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections: efficacy and toxicity. *Arch Intern Med*. 2006;166(19):2138–2144.
- Young SW, Zhang M, Freeman JT, Vince KG, Coleman B. Higher cefazolin concentrations with intraosseous regional prophylaxis in TKA. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2013;471(1):244–249.
- 159. Sivagnanam S, Deleu D. Red man syndrome. *Crit Care*. 2003;7:119–120.
- Polk RE, Healy DP, Schwartz LB, Rock DT, Garson ML, Roller K.Vancomycin and the red-man syndrome: pharmacodynamics of histamine

release. J Infect Dis. 1988;157(3):502-507.

- Healy DP, Sahai JV, Fuller SH, Polk RE. Vancomycin-induced histamine release and "red man syndrome": comparison of 1- and 2-hour infusions. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1990;34(4):550–554.
- 162. Garcia S, Lozano ML, Gatell JM, Soriano E, Ramon R, SanMiguel JG.
 Prophylaxis against infection. Single-dose cefonicid compared with multiple-dose cefamandole. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 1991;73(7):1044–1048.
- 163. Collier PE, Rudolph M, Ruckert D, Osella T, Collier NA, Ferrero M. Are preoperative antibiotics administered preoperatively? *Am J Med Qual*. 1998;13(2):94–97.
- Butt T, Bailey J, Dowling P, Fretz P. Comparison of 2 techniques for
 regional antibiotic delivery to the equine forelimb: intraosseous perfusion
 vs. intravenous perfusion. *Can Vet J*. 2001;42(8):617–380.
- 165. Kentner R, Haas T, Gervais H, Hiller B, Dick W. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of hydroxyethyl starch in hypovolemic pigs; a comparison of peripheral and intraosseous infusion. *Resuscitation*. 1999;40(1):37–44.
- 166. Burgess DS. Pharmacodynamic principles of antimicrobial therapy in the prevention of resistance. *Chest*. 1999;115(3 Suppl):19S–23S.
- 167. Woodward M. Epidemiology: Study Design and Data Analysis. 3rd ed.London, UK: Chapman and Hall; 2013.
- 168. Zalavras CG. CORR Insights(®): Regional intraosseous administration of prophylactic antibiotics is more effective than systemic administration in a mouse model of TKA. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2015;473(11):3585–

3587.

- Haley RW, Hightower AW, Khabbaz RF, Thornsberry C, Martone WJ,
 Allen JR, et al. The emergence of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections in United States hospitals. Possible role of the house staff-patient transfer circuit. *Ann Intern Med.* 1982;97(3):297–308.
- 170. Ponce B, Raines BT, Reed RD, Vick C, Richman J, Hawn M. Surgical site infection after arthroplasty: comparative effectiveness of prophylactic antibiotics: do surgical care improvement project guidelines need to be updated? *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 2014;96(12):970–977.
- 171. Kaplan AH, Gilligan PH, Facklam RR. Recovery of resistant enterococci during vancomycin prophylaxis. *J Clin Microbiol*. 1988;26(6):1216– 1218.
- 172. Johnson DP. Antibiotic prophylaxis with cefuroxime in arthroplasty of the knee. *J Bone Joint Surg Br.* 1987;69(5):787–789.
- 173. Smith EB, Wynne R, Joshi A, Liu H, Good RP. Is it time to include vancomycin for routine perioperative antibiotic prophylaxis in total joint arthroplasty patients? *J Arthroplasty*. 2012;27(8 Suppl):55–60.
- Hawn MT, Richman JS, Vick CC, Deierhoi RJ, Graham LA, Henderson WG, et al. Timing of surgical antibiotic prophylaxis and the risk of surgical site infection. *JAMA Surg.* 2013;148(7):649–657.
- Young SW, Zhang M, Freeman JT, Mutu-Grigg J, Pavlou P, Moore GA.
 The Mark Coventry Award: Higher tissue concentrations of vancomycin with low-dose intraosseous regional versus systemic prophylaxis in TKA: a randomized trial. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2014;472(1):57–65.
- 176. Caliper. LifeSciences. Bioware[™] Microorganism Staphylococcus

aureus Xen36 *in vitro* characteristics. Available from: http://www.perkinelmer.ca/FR-CA/CMSResources/Images/44-136643DTS_Saureus_Xen_36-7506.pdf. Accessed June 16, 2015.

- New Zealand. Animal Welfare Act 1999. Available at: http://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1999/0142/latest/DLM49664.ht
 ml. Accessed June 16, 2015.
- Ichioka N, Inaba M, Kushida T, Esumi T, Takahara K, Inaba K, et al.
 Prevention of senile osteoporosis in SAMP6 mice by intrabone marrow injection of allogeneic bone marrow cells. *Stem Cells*. 2002;20(6):542–551.
- 179. Shi M, <u>Adachi Y, Cui Y, Li M, Lian Z, Zhang Y</u>, et al. Combination of intra-bone marrow-bone marrow transplantation and subcutaneous donor splenocyte injection diminishes risk of graft-versus-host disease and enhances survival rate. *Stem Cells Dev*. 2011;20(5):759–768.
- 180. Kushida T, Inaba M, Hisha H, Ichioka N, Esumi T, Ogawa R, et al. Intrabone marrow injection of allogeneic bone marrow cells: a powerful new strategy for treatment of intractable autoimmune diseases in MRL/lpr mice. *Blood*. 2001;97(10):3292–3299.
- 181. Healy DP, Polk RE, Garson ML, Rock DT, Comstock TJ. Comparison of steady-state pharmacokinetics of two dosage regimens of vancomycin in normal volunteers. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1987;31(3):393–397.
- 182. Reagan-Shaw S, Nihal M, Ahmad N. Dose translation from animal to human studies revisited. FASEB J. 2007;22(3):659–661.
- 183. Kunst MW, Mattie H, van Furth R. Antibacterial efficacy of cefazolin and cephradine in neutropenic mice. *Infection*. 1979;7(1):30–34.

- 184. Woodnutt G, Berry V, Mizen L. Simulation of human serum pharmacokinetics of cefazolin, piperacillin, and BRL 42715 in rats and efficacy against experimental intraperitoneal infections. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1992;36(7):1427–1431.
- 185. Pribaz JR, Bernthal NM, Billi F, Cho JS, Ramos RI, Guo Y, et al. Mouse model of chronic post-arthroplasty infection: noninvasive in vivo bioluminescence imaging to monitor bacterial burden for long-term study. J Orthop Res. 2012;30(3):335–340.
- 186. Fonseca SN, Kunzle SR, Junqueira MJ, Nascimento RT, de Andrade JI, Levin AS. Implementing 1-dose antibiotic prophylaxis for prevention of surgical site infection. *Arch Surg.* 2006;141(11):1109–1113.
- 187. Pasche B, Kalaydjiev S, Franz TJ, Kremmer E, Gailus-Durner V, Fuchs H, et al. Sex-dependent susceptibility to Listeria monocytogenes infection is mediated by differential interleukin-10 production. *Infect Immun.* 2005;73(9):5952–5960.
- 188. Bernthal NM, Stavrakis AI, Billi F, Cho JS, Kremen TJ, Simon SI, et al. A mouse model of post-arthroplasty Staphylococcus aureus joint infection to evaluate in vivo the efficacy of antimicrobial implant coatings. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(9):e12580.
- 189. Rybak MJ, Lomaestro BM, Rotschafer JC, Moellering RC, Craig WA,
 Billeter M, et al. Vancomycin therapeutic guidelines: a summary of
 consensus recommendations from the Infectious Diseases Society of
 America, the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists, and the
 Society of Infectious Diseases Pharmacists. *Clin Infect Dis*.
 2009;49(3):325–327.

- 190. Jiang F-Z, Zhong H-M, Hong Y-C, Zhao G-F. Use of a tourniquet in total knee arthroplasty: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Orthop Sci.* 2015;20(1):110–123.
- 191. Berry DJ, Bozic KJ. Current practice patterns in primary hip and knee arthroplasty among members of the American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons. *J Arthroplasty*. 2010;25(6 Suppl):2–4.
- 192. Munita JM, Bayer AS, Arias CA. Evolving resistance among Grampositive pathogens. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2015;61 Suppl 2:S48–S57.
- 193. Courvalin P. Vancomycin resistance in Gram-positive cocci. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2006;42 Suppl 1:S25–S34.
- McCallum N, Karauzum H, Getzmann R, Bischoff M, Majcherczyk P, Berger-Bächi B, et al. In vivo survival of teicoplanin-resistant
 Staphylococcus aureus and fitness cost of teicoplanin resistance.
 Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2006;50(7):2352–2360.
- 195. Joana S, Pedro P, Elsa G, Filomena M. Is vancomycin MIC creep a worldwide phenomenon? Assessment of S. aureus vancomycin MIC in a tertiary university hospital. *BMC Res Notes*. 2013;6:65.
- Stefánsdóttir A, Johansson Å, Lidgren L, Wagner P, W-Dahl A. Bacterial colonization and resistance patterns in 133 patients undergoing a primary hip- or knee replacement in Southern Sweden. *Acta Orthop*. 2013;84(1):87–91.
- 197. Pfundstein J, Roghmann MC, Schwalbe R, Qaiyumi SQ, McCarter RJ Jr, Keay S, et al. A randomized trial of surgical antimicrobial prophylaxis with and without vancomycin in organ transplant patients. *Clin Transplant*. 1999;13(3):245–252.

- 198. Firsov AA, Smirnova MV, Lubenko IY, Vostrov SN, Portnoy YA, Zinner SH. Testing the mutant selection window hypothesis with Staphylococcus aureus exposed to daptomycin and vancomycin in an in vitro dynamic model. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2006;58(6):1185–1192.
- Siqueira MBP, Klika AK, Higuera CA, Barsoum WK. Modes of failure of total knee arthroplasty: registries and realities. *J Knee Surg*.
 2015;28(2):127–138.
- Zhu M, Ravi S, Frampton C, Luey C, Young S. New Zealand Joint
 Registry data underestimates the rate of prosthetic joint infection. *Acta Orthop.* 2016;87(4):346–350.
- 201. Fehring TK, Odum S, Griffin WL, Mason JB, Nadaud M. Early failures in total knee arthroplasty. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2001;392:315–318.
- Sharkey PF, Hozack WJ, Rothman RH, Shastri S, Jacoby SM. Insall
 Award paper. Why are total knee arthroplasties failing today? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2002;404:7–13.
- Parvizi J, Zmistowski B, Berbari EF, Bauer TW, Springer BD, Della
 Valle CJ, et al. New definition for periprosthetic joint infection: from the
 Workgroup of the Musculoskeletal Infection Society. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2011;469(11):2992–2994.
- Vince KG. The problem total knee replacement: systematic,
 comprehensive and efficient evaluation. *Bone Joint J*. 2014;96-B(11
 Suppl A):105–111.
- 205. Vyskocil P, Gerber C, Bamert P. Radiolucent lines and component stability in knee arthroplasty. Standard versus fluoroscopically-assisted radiographs. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 1999;81(1):24–26.

- 207. Nelson CL, Kim J, Lotke PA. Stiffness after total knee arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2005;87 Suppl 1 Pt 2:264–270.
- 208. Mandalia V, Eyres K, Schranz P, Toms AD. Evaluation of patients with a painful total knee replacement. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 2008;90(3):265–271.
- 209. Vince KG. Diagnosis and management of patients with instability of the knee. *Instr Course Lect*. 2012;61:515–524.
- 210. Fine JP, Gray RJ. A proportional hazards model for the subdistribution of a competing risk. *J Am Stat Assoc*. 1999;94(446):496–509.
- Lacny S, Wilson T, Clement F, Roberts DJ, Faris PD, Ghali WA, et al.
 Kaplan-Meier survival analysis overestimates the risk of revision arthroplasty: a meta-analysis. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*.
 2015;473(11):3431–3442.
- 212. Brock G, Barnes C, Ramirez J, Myers J. R code for calculating the competing risks estimates. *Statistics in practice*. 2011;115.
- Graves SE, Davidson D, Ingerson L, Ryan P, Griffith EC, McDermott
 BF, et al. The Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint
 Replacement Registry. *Med J Aust*. 2004;180(5 Suppl):S31–S34.
- 214. National Joint Registry for England, Wales, Northern Ireland and the Isleof Man. Available from:

http://www.njrcentre.org.uk/njrcentre/default.aspx. Accessed June 30, 2017.

- Schroer WC, Berend KR, Lombardi AV, Barnes CL, Bolognesi MP,
 Berend ME, et al. Why are total knees failing today? Etiology of total
 knee revision in 2010 and 2011. *J Arthroplasty*. 2013;28(8 Suppl):116–119.
- 216. Sharkey PF, Lichstein PM, Shen C, Tokarski AT, Parvizi J. Why are total knee arthroplasties failing today--has anything changed after 10 years? J Arthroplasty. 2014;29(9):1774–1778
- 217. Niinimäki TT. The reasons for knee arthroplasty revisions are incomparable in the different arthroplasty registries. *Knee*.
 2015;22(2):142–144.
- Thiele K, Perka C, Matziolis G, Mayr HO, Sostheim M, Hube R. Current failure mechanisms after knee arthroplasty have changed: polyethylene wear is less common in revision surgery. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 2015;97(9):715–720.
- 219. Dalury DF, Pomeroy DL, Gorab RS, Adams MJ. Why are total knee arthroplasties being revised? *J Arthroplasty*. 2013;28(8 Suppl):120–121.
- Graves SE, Davidson D, de Steiger R, Tomkins A, Vial R, Griffith E, et
 al. Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement
 Registry, Annual Report. Adelaide, Australia: Australian Orthopaedic
 Association; 2013.
- Lindgren JV, Gordon M, Wretenberg P, Kärrholm J, Garellick G.
 Validation of reoperations due to infection in the Swedish Hip
 Arthroplasty Register. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2014;15:384.
- 222. Mortazavi SM, Schwartzenberger J, Austin MS, Purtill JJ, Parvizi J.Revision total knee arthroplasty infection: incidence and predictors. *Clin*

Orthop Relat Res. 2010;468(8):2052-2059.

- Young SW, Roberts T, Johnson S, Dalton JP, Coleman B, Wiles S.
 Regional intraosseous administration of prophylactic antibiotics is more effective than systemic administration in a mouse model of TKA. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2015;473(11):3573–3584.
- Zhang M. Determination of vancomycin in human plasma, bone and fat by liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. *J Anal Bioanal Tech*. 2014;5(3). doi:10.4172/2155-9872.1000196.
- Sierra RJ, Cooney WP, Pagnano MW, Trousdale RT, Rand JA.
 Reoperations after 3200 revision TKAs: rates, etiology, and lessons
 learned. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2004;425:200–206.
- 226. Mortazavi SM, Molligan J, Austin MS, Purtill JJ, Hozack WJ, Parvizi J. Failure following revision total knee arthroplasty: infection is the major cause. *Int Orthop*. 2011;35(8):1157–1164.
- 227. Lairet J, Bebarta V, Lairet K, Kacprowicz R, Lawler C, Pitotti R, et al. A comparison of proximal tibia, distal femur, and proximal humerus infusion rates using the EZ-IO intraosseous device on the adult swine (Sus scrofa) model. *Prehosp Emerg Care*. 2013;17(2):280–284.
- 228. Clem M, Tierney P. Intraosseous infusions via the calcaneus.*Resuscitation*. 2004;62(1):107–112.
- McCarthy G, O'Donnell C, O'Brien M. Successful intraosseous infusion in the critically ill patient does not require a medullary cavity.
 Resuscitation. 2003;56(2):183–186.
- 230. Tenover FC, Moellering RC. The rationale for revising the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute vancomycin minimal inhibitory

concentration interpretive criteria for Staphylococcus aureus. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2007;44(9):1208–1215.

- 231. Antoci V, Adams CS, Hickok NJ, Shapiro IM, Parvizi J. Antibiotics for local delivery systems cause skeletal cell toxicity in vitro. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2007;462:200–206.
- 232. Parvizi J, Ghazavi M, Committee of the Consensus Meeting MOP-OA.
 Optimal timing and antibiotic prophylaxis in periprosthetic joint infection
 (PJI): Literature Review and World Consensus (Part Five). *Shafa Ortho*J. 2016;3(1):e5035.
- 233. Scher KS. Studies on the duration of antibiotic administration for surgical prophylaxis. *Am Surg.* 1997;63(1):59–62.
- 234. Wagner ER, Kamath AF, Fruth K, Harmsen WS, Berry DJ. Effect of body mass index on reoperation and complications after total knee arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 2016;98(24):2052–2060.
- 235. Kunutsor SK, Whitehouse MR, Blom AW, Beswick AD; INFORM
 Team. Patient-related risk factors for periprosthetic joint infection after
 total joint arthroplasty: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One*.
 2016;11(3):e0150866.
- 236. Sharareh B, Sutherland C, Pourmand D, Molina N, Nicolau DP, Schwarzkopf R. Effect of body weight on cefazolin and vancomycin trabecular bone concentrations in patients undergoing total joint arthroplasty. *Surg Infect (Larchmt)*. 2016;17(1):71–77.

Appendix 1 ICD-9 and ICD-10 procedure codes searched in Chapter 2

4930300	Arthrotomy of hip
4931200	Excision arthroplasty of hip
4932400	Revision of total arthroplasty of hip
4934600	Revision of partial arthroplasty of hip
4936000	Arthroscopy of hip
4950001	Arthrotomy of knee
4951500	Removal of knee prosthesis
4952700	Revision of total arthroplasty of knee
4953000	Revision of total arthroplasty of knee with bone graft to femur
4953001	Revision of total arthroplasty of knee with bone graft to tibia
4953300	Revision of total arthroplasty of knee with bone graft to femur and tibia
4955400	Revision of total arthroplasty of knee with anatomic specific allograft
4955700	Arthroscopy of knee
4955800	Arthroscopic debridement of knee
9056200	Patella resurfacing
Appendix 2 Editorial by Charalampos G. Zalavras MD, PhD 'CORR Insights'¹⁶⁸.

Clin Orthop Relat Res (2015) 473:3585-3587 / DOI 10.1007/s11999-015-4521-5

CORR Insights



Published online: 21 August 2015 © The Association of Bone and Joint Surgeons ® 2015

CORR Insights[®]: Regional Intraosseous Administration of Prophylactic Antibiotics is More Effective Than Systemic Administration in a Mouse Model of TKA

Charalampos G. Zalavras MD, PhD

Where Are We Now?

espite the best preoperative and intraoperative practices, contamination of the surgical

This CORR Insights³⁸ is a commentary on the article "Regional Intraosseous Administration of Prophylactic Antibiotics is More Effective Than Systemic Administration in a Mouse Model of TKA" by Young and colleagues available at: DOI:

10.1007/s11999-015-4464-x. The author certifies that he, or a member of his immediate family, has no funding or commercial associations (eg, consultancies, stock ownership, equity interest, patent/ licensing arrangements, etc.) that might pose a conflict of interest in connection with the submitted article.

All ICMJE Conflict of Interest Forms for authors and *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*⁴⁶ editors and board members are on file with the publication and can be viewed on request.

This *CORR* Insights[®] comment refers to the article available at doi:10.1007/s11999-015-4464-x.

site may be unavoidable due to airborne or skin bacteria. Prophylactic antibiotics can help inhibit or kill contaminating bacteria, thereby preventing bacterial adherence to the arthroplasty implants, biofilm formation, and infection [7]. Additionally, systemic antibiotic prophylaxis has been shown to reduce infections in orthopaedic procedures [5, 6] and is part of well-established guidelines [2]. However, optimal antibiotic selection remains unclear. Cefazolin and cefuroxime are the recommended antibiotics, unless the patient has Blactam allergy, in which case clindamvcin or vancomvcin should be used [2]. The increasing prevalence of infections by resistant microorganisms, such as methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), has raised the

C. G. Zalavras MD, PhD (🖂) Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, 1200 N State Street, GNH 3900, Los Angeles, CA 90033, USA

e-mail: zalavras@usc.edu

question whether prophylaxis with vancomycin is necessary. No definite criteria exist, but vancomycin should be considered for patients at high risk for infection, such as patients colonized with MRSA or treated in institutions with recent MRSA outbreaks [7].

The protective effect of antibiotics depends on achieving adequate local tissue levels, but systemic administration of high doses of antibiotics may be limited by associated adverse effects. For this reason, local antibiotic delivery becomes an attractive option that could achieve high local levels while avoiding systemic toxicity. Antibiotic-impregnated cement has been widely employed in arthroplasty procedures and has been shown to reduce revisions due to infection in total hip arthroplasty [4, 5]. On the other hand, the benefit of adding antibiotics to the cement in TKA has not been conclusively demonstrated [1].

Intraosseous regional administration (IORA) of antibiotics was recently

🙆 Springer

The opinions expressed are those of the writers, and do not reflect the opinion or policy of $CORR^{\mathbb{E}}$ or The Association of Bone and Joint Surgeons $^{\textcircled{B}}$.

Event (approximate time)	IORA group	IV group
-90 minutes		1 g systemic IV vancomycin infusion
-10 minutes	1 g systemic IV cefazolin injected	1 g systemic IV cefazolin injected
-1 minute	Routine preparation and draping	Routine preparation and draping
Tourniquet inflation 0 minutes	Exsanguination and tourniquet inflation	Exsanguination and tourniquet inflation
1 minute	500 mg intraosseous vancomycin (injected into tibial cannula)	
Surgery commences 2 minutes	Skin incision	Skin incision
Post incision 2 min	First sample – subcutaneous fat	First sample – subcutaneous fat
Femoral component removed 15–25 min	Second and third samples – fat and bone	Second and third samples – fat and bone
Tibial component removed	Fourth and fifth samples – fat and bone	Fourth and fifth samples – fat and bone
40–60 min		
Trialling of implant 70–100 min	Sixth and seventh samples – fat and bone	Sixth and seventh samples – fat and bone
Cementing of implant 120 min	Eighth and ninth samples – fat and bone	Eighth and ninth samples – fat and bone
Prior to closure 150+ min	Tenth sample - fat	Tenth sample - fat
Surgery complete	Tourniquet deflation	Tourniquet deflation
Next morning	Drain sample	Drain sample

Appendix 3. Revision IORA study outline (Chapter 7)